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WELCOME
It gives us great pleasure to introduce the Annual Report and Accounts for West Essex
Clinical Commissioning Group (CCG) for the year 2020/21. This report is a statutory
document, setting out how we have performed over the past twelve months, our
governance arrangements and how we have managed our finances. It is also our chance to
tell you about some of the achievements of which we are particularly proud and explain
how we have overcome our biggest challenges.
This report covers one of the most extraordinary of years in the history of the National
Health Service and one in which we have seen the NHS at its very best. The continued
commitment and dedication of staff to deliver good care under relentless pressure is a
source of great pride for us and we know just how hard our people have been working since
the pandemic began. Thank you to everyone who works in health and social care for looking
after our patients and keeping our communities safe.
The Hertfordshire and West Essex Integrated Care System in which we work is very
experienced in pulling together in times of challenge. Throughout the COVID-19 response
and recovery, our providers in the acute, community, primary care, mental health and third
sector have worked tirelessly with us as commissioners of health services to deliver safe and
effective care for patients. This joint response to an emergency situation has accelerated
the integration and collaboration of health and social care organisations across our area.
Although the pace of some of the ICS’ transformation work has slowed this year as the
system dealt with the operational challenges of the pandemic, we have seen many positive
changes that will have long lasting benefits. From a revolution in digital access to healthcare
to the extension of virtual wards, giving more people the care and support they need
without requiring a hospital stay, we are pleased to have overseen these improvements.
You can read more about these key projects and the many more taking place in our area to
improve patient care later in this report.
As we write this introduction, the NHS continues to deliver the biggest vaccination
programme ever seen in this country. Our GP practices have been at the forefront of
vaccinating people at the greatest risk of becoming seriously ill from COVID-19 and while
still keeping primary care services running for patients. We would like to publicly express
our thanks to everyone involved in protecting those most vulnerable to COVID-19. This
includes our GP practices, our CCG staff, our providers, our partners in local authorities and
our voluntary sector. This report is a testament to everyone’s collective efforts over the past
year and we hope that you will find it a useful and interesting read.
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PERFORMANCE REPORT:
OVERVIEW OF PERFORMANCE
This section contains a summary of our performance as an organisation
during 2020/21 plus a flavour of the work we do. You can read more about
our work at: www.westessexccg.nhs.uk

OUR STRATEGY
The West Essex CCG Strategic and Operating Plan 2020/21 responds to the continuing
challenges for health and social care services – namely those around COVID, finance,
pressures on capacity, performance and quality – all of which are largely caused by the
rising demand from a growing and ageing population.
These challenges are, of course, not unique to West Essex. They are evidenced nationally
and are the realities that form the starting point of the national NHS Long Term Plan,
published in January 2019, which sets out how services will be redesigned to future-proof
the NHS for the decade ahead.
Our approach is based on the principles of population health management – targeting our
collective resources to where they will have the greatest impact and improve the quality of
care through better, affordable services.
Our key priorities are:
As an integrated system
• Meeting people’s health and social care needs in a joined-up way in their local
neighbourhoods
• Adopting a shared approach to treating people when they are ill – prioritising
those with the highest levels of need and reducing variations in care
• Placing equal value and emphasis on people’s mental and physical health and
wellbeing
• Driving the cultural and behavioural change to achieve the service transformation
and improvements we need
• Ensuring we have the workforce, technology, contract and payment mechanisms
in place to support our strategy and service delivery
• Joining up services where it makes sense to do so, ensuring the patients see no
distinction between the services being provided
As a CCG
• Delivering primary and community service integration through the development
of our neighbourhood model into Primary Care Networks
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•
•
•
•

Managing demand away from our acute hospitals through high-impact pathways
and new models of care
Achieve our financial control totals for 20/21 through our transformational
change programmes
Maintain ED 4-hour constitutional standard (95%)
Support Princess Alexandra Hospital Trust (PAHT) in continuing to improve its
services and build a business case for a new hospital

OUR VALUES AND BEHAVIOURS
The CCG’s Governing Board formally adopted a new set of behaviours in 2019 which continue
to be promoted and referenced within our everyday work.
We have three core values which form the focus of how we behave and work:
1.
2.
3.

Patients come first
Provide the best possible care for all
Honesty and respect

We express our values by:
Being people oriented
•
•
•

Welcoming everyone, and treating them equally and fairly with politeness and
respect.
Listening to and valuing people’s views and opinions.
Putting the public and patients at the centre of everything we do.

Being professional
•
•
•

Doing a good job and generating loyalty and trust by demonstrating high standards of
appearance and behaviour and practising sound judgement, principles and ethics.
Striving for continuous improvement through listening, learning and acting on what’s
needed, and innovating.
Not being afraid to challenge “the norm” and having a “can do” attitude to providing
safe, effective and value-for-money services tailored to the needs to local people.

Being open and honest
•
•
•

Having integrity.
Working transparently.
Accountable for the decisions we make.
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HERTFORDSHIRE AND WEST ESSEX INTEGRATED CARE
SYSTEM (ICS)
What are integrated care systems?
Integrated care is about giving people the support they need, joined up across the NHS,
local councils and other partners. It removes traditional divisions between hospitals and
GPs, between physical and mental health, and between health and social care services. In
the past, these organisational structures have meant that too many people experience
disjointed care.
Integrated care systems (ICSs) are partnerships between the organisations that meet health
and care needs across an area, to plan and deliver services in a way that improves the
health of the wider population and reduces inequalities between different groups.
In May 2020, the Hertfordshire and West Essex Sustainability and Transformation
Partnership (STP) was granted Integrated Care System (ICS) status, ahead of the national
April 2021 expectation.
Progress on implementing the vision outlined in the ICS strategic plan was paused in March
20 to enable health and social care organisations across Hertfordshire and west Essex to
focus on managing the implications of COVID-19.
In the ‘recovery’ phase with planned activity back up to more usual levels, the ICS strategic
plan has guided us in ensuring that we deliver the transformation needed in our services. In
some areas, COVID has enabled some of this transformation to be more rapid – for example,
offering appointments and consultations remotely. There are also some key work streams,
such as cancer and mental health, which are subject to additional scrutiny to ensure we
continue to focus on improving patient outcomes as set out by NHS England and
Improvement.
The three CCGs in Hertfordshire and west Essex have a joint accountable officer and a
shared CCG management team is in place to support this new leadership. The three CCGs
remain as separate entities with responsibility for delivering local services and with their
own governing bodies and constitutions. With most parts of the country now ready to
function as an ICS, NHS England and NHS Improvement has asked the Government and
Parliament to establish ICSs in law and to remove legal barriers to integrated care for
patients and communities. Decisions on legislation will be made by Government and
Parliament during the summer of 2021. The ICS will move forward with developing its
governance structures in line with this process.
During 2020/21, the ICS focused on:
•

Enhanced arrangements for co-ordinating urgent and emergency care. These were
put in place across the ICS at the start of January to support our hospitals in
responding to intense and sustained pressures.
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•

Workforce planning. Supporting health and care staff and looking after their health
and wellbeing during the pandemic has been a cornerstone of this workstream. The
system continues to prioritise and protect those that are most vulnerable within our
workforce. A co-ordinated approach to risk assessments for our BAME workforce
was put in place in the spring based on the effects of COVID on those populations.
Extensive communications work is now being undertaken to encourage BAME staff
to take up the vaccine. The ICS has also put in place processes with local authority
and NHS organisations, to enable the sharing of staff, particularly in support of the
COVID vaccination programme.
The Hertfordshire and West Essex Health and Care People Plan was developed this
year, aligned to the four key pillars of the national NHS People Plan. A detailed
analysis of recruitment and retention of nursing, healthcare support worker and care
support worker roles are being undertaken.

•

Restoring planned care – the Hertfordshire and West Essex system is leading the way
in using shared data to oversee clinical prioritisation of patients waiting for elective
surgery. The ICS is supporting NHS hospitals to work with independent providers to
get through patients as quickly as possible.
The ICS also worked with providers to introduce Patient Initiated Follow Up (PIFU).
This gives patients greater control over their hospital follow-up care and to initiate
their own appointments as and when they need them. This might be when they have
a flare-up of their symptoms or change in their circumstances, rather than having
their appointments at routine intervals as is traditionally offered. This helps avoid
unnecessary routine appointments and makes it easier for patients to book
appointments when they really need them.

•

Community Mental Health Transformation. The ICS submitted a bid to NHS England
and Improvement to transform adult community mental health services over the
next three years. We will build on the work we’ve already done to ensure there is no
‘wrong front door’ to access care, to provide a full range of appropriate services for
those severe mental health needs, develop integrated and personalised care, and
support plans that include health and social care needs.

Integrated Care Partnerships
In west Essex, we continue to progress our plans for integrating health and care services
through The One Healthcare Partnership (OHCP). The partnership formed with the sole
purpose of enabling close working between partner agencies to optimise health outcomes
and use of resources for the people of West Essex CCG and PAH catchment area.
During 2020/21 the partnership established the OHCP Partnership Board including
membership from West Essex CCG, Princess Alexandra Hospital NHS Trust, Essex
Partnership University NHS Foundation Trust (EPUT), Primary Care, Essex County Council
and our District Councils. The board resetting the partnerships strategic objectives including:
7

•
•
•

A continued focus on a collaborative approach to delivery
A shared strategic vision and direction
Strengthening our place based governance

OHCP have committed to deliver a new integrated out-of-hospital model of care that builds
on a strong legacy of neighbourhood models that initiated the early integration of health
and care pathways in west Essex. This new model will see the majority of our system health
and social care provision deployed by providers at a geographical Primary Care Network
(PCN)(read more about PCN on page 27) level with teams that are resourced based on the
specific needs of the local population.
Policy documents including the NHS Long Term Plan (2019)
(https://www.longtermplan.nhs.uk/about/) consistently refer to the need for more care to
be delivered in the community and people’s homes, to reduce lengths of stay in hospital and
avoid unplanned admissions, for more people to experience end of life care at home and for
those with multiple complex long-term conditions to be supported expertly in the
community. The Long Term Plan identifies the need for integrated primary and community
services, integrated care models, population health management approaches, and the rollout of neighbourhood teams. Implementation of our out-of-hospital model of care is how
we will deliver the Long Term plan with implementation taking place in a phased approach
during 2020/21 and into 2021/22.
Building on OHCP’s Five Year Transformation Plan, the partnership has started to develop a
longer term 10 year health and care strategy that will layout our roadmap to deliver our
vision of “A Health and Care system that helps people to stay well, and when people need
health and social care, we meet that need together to provide the most effective care in the
best setting”.
The OHCP is one of three emerging integrated partnerships within the Herts and West Essex
Integrated Care System (ICS) and continues to work with the ICS to develop the appropriate
governance framework that will develop “Place” as part of the implementation of ICS White
Paper setting out legislative proposals for a Health and Care Bill
(https://www.gov.uk/government/publications/working-together-to-improve-health-andsocial-care-for-all)
Health and Wellbeing Boards
As the lead authority on public health, Essex County Council has a statutory requirement to
produce a Joint Strategic Needs Assessment (JSNA) which identifies the key health and
wellbeing issues affecting the local area. The last JSNA
(https://data.essex.gov.uk/dataset/exwyd/essex-jsna-and-district-profile-reports-2019) was
produced in 2019 and is currently being updated with a new suite of documents being
developed which will cover a range of geographies including STP/ICS, neighbourhoods,
District/Borough Council areas and a Countywide summary document.
The JSNA is the output of an on-going process of evidence gathering, analysis and
assessment. The principal aims of the JSNA are to provide a strategic evidence base to
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inform the development and delivery of local Health and Wellbeing strategies, to help local
authorities and NHS partners to meet local health and social care needs, influence the wider
determinants of health and tackle health inequalities. Approval of the JSNA itself remains a
role for the Health and Wellbeing Board.
The data that underpins the JSNA is drawn from routinely published datasets, the majority
of which are in the public domain. To be useful in informing both overall strategy and
specific commissioning decisions, the JSNA must be updated on a regular basis.
The Essex Strategic Co-ordination Group (ESCG) has led the recent development of the JSNA
on behalf of the HWBB, and has established a programme of work to develop a suite of
supporting intelligence products and a pipeline of analytical projects. The current
programme includes:
•

•
•

•

An Essex-wide summary report. The summary report presents data from a range of
topics pertinent to the health and wellbeing of residents. It allows for the
identification of inequalities and issues on which partners may wish to focus
attention as they work to improve the lives of Essex residents.
Twelve district-level reports. These reports mirror the Essex-wide summary
document in form and function, but have been prepared to support the work of
district-level Health and Wellbeing Boards.
The development of interactive, online intelligence resources. This involves
customising and enhancing Public Health England’s existing SHAPE Atlas web
platform for use by partners across Essex. This will include the addition of
geographical and local service data within the platform.
The Platform will allow analysts to access clinical datasets, public health data,
primary care data, social care data, demographic data and data on healthcare
estates and facilities, together in a single platform. It will allow analysts to
interrogate this data at various geographical levels (including neighbourhood,
Primary Care Network, CCG, STP and various local government geographies).

The West Essex System Analytical Community came together and created the ‘One Health &
Care Transformation Plan Story’, describing the challenges and opportunities within our
system. Through developing this Population Health Management (PHM) approach, the
outputs have shaped the key programmes within the OHCP Transformation plan. This has
been created through using local and national intelligence alongside the JSNA and putting
this data to use in a more proactive way. The PHM approach had provided the bridge
between aggregate data and population segments. This enables help design models of care
based on individual needs where appropriate. The CCG continues to embed its approach
based on three segments:
•
•
•

Generally healthy
Those with long term conditions (LTCs)
People with complex needs

Further segmentation, particularly by age, has focused delivery of key programmes, such as
the Frailty and Complex Programme.
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RESPONSE TO THE COVID PANDEMIC
The CCG’s role in the COVID pandemic
As an NHS commissioning organisation, we have a responsibility to establish an Incident
Control Centre (ICC) to co-ordinate our health system’s response to COVID-19. In addition to
the established ‘director on call’ rota, which ensures that issues affecting the performance
of services are resolved or escalated out of hours, an additional rota system was put in place
to specifically manage the demands of running an effective response to COVID out of hours.
Our staff moved primarily to a working at home model, with ICC representatives working in
our COVID-secure office in Epping. Our IT infrastructure and supporting software was
upgraded at pace to enable remote working and the organisation has fully embraced the
new agile working environment which gives individuals more flexibility to carry out their
roles while meeting their other home responsibilities.
Primary care
Our GP practices have risen to the significant challenges presented by COVID-19. Although
they are working differently, we altered and prioritised access arrangements to try and
ensure patients could still be seen. During the first wave of the pandemic, following
guidance issued by NHS England and Improvement, GP practices focused on delivering
priority care, including care of acutely unwell adults and children, supporting people with
long term conditions, cancer care, ensuring those with mental health needs are supported
and keeping childhood immunisations up to date.
Over the course of the year, GP practices, like other frontline health services, were directly
impacted by COVID-19 outbreaks which led to staff unable to work because they had
contracted the virus or were self-isolating. This increased the pressure on primary care at a
time when they were already managing a very heavy workload. However, the co-operation
and close partnerships at the heart of our primary care networks enabled our GP practices
to continue operating throughout the pandemic in spite of workforce challenges. When the
time came to plan how COVID-19 vaccinations would be delivered, those relationships
allowed our GP practices to be innovative in their thinking.
Our GPs adopted new remote ways of working which included an initial assessment through
a telephone or a video call using online consultations. Patients were also encouraged to
register for online bookings. These telephone appointments and online contact were wellreceived by patients who have adapted quickly to the new way of communicating with their
GP. Where virtual consultations were not appropriate, we worked hard with the practices to
ensure the arrangements to allow patients who needed to be seen face-to-face, were safe
for both patients and staff. All GP practices have received a COVID Secure Assessment which
required them to demonstrate how they were meeting infection, prevention and control
standards. This included cleaning regimes, measures to enable social distancing, wearing of
PPE and hand hygiene. The majority of practices have received their COVID Secure
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certification and the remaining practices are being supported with implementation of their
recommendations.
GP practices and Primary Care Networks (read more about these on page 27) worked with
the CCG to consider premises and staffing to support patients with symptoms of COVID-19,
in an environment that was safe for both patients and the healthcare professionals involved
in their care. This was provided either by Primary Care Hubs/ Hot Clinics or by Practices who
were assessed as being able to safely separate their patients who were symptomatic of
COVID-19 from their other patients using designated areas and staff.
You can read more about primary care on page 61.
Urgent and emergency care performance
Our NHS 111 and integrated urgent care provider, Herts Urgent Care (HUC), rapidly adjusted
its service model as a result of the pandemic. Throughout March 2020, the NHS 111 advice
line became the first port of call for the management of the COVID pandemic for the west
Essex population. In December 2020, the NHS introduced a new way for patients to access
urgent care with people being encouraged to contact 111 before coming to an emergency
department.
The aim is to make it easier and safer for patients to get the right treatment when they need
it, without waiting a long time to be seen in A&E. Waiting times in our emergency
departments continue to be higher than we would like. Reducing these is a priority to
ensure timely access to emergency care for our residents.
Since the start of the pandemic, the Princess Alexandra Hospital NHS Trust (PAHT) has
instigated green and red pathways in A&E to ensure that patients attending with COVID-19
and non-COVID-19 issues were kept apart. Where clinically appropriate, patients were
tested for COVID prior to being moved to the red or green areas.
During the first wave of the pandemic (April 2020), A&E numbers fell by 50% and although
numbers increased over the spring and summer, they did not quite reach the activity
recorded the previous year. As you would expect, numbers again fell as the second wave
was felt in the region. However, the numbers did not reduce to the same levels seen in the
spring.
PAH was forced to reconfigure its wards to ensure it had sufficient capacity for the COVID
patients and to ensure that non-COVID and COVID patients were treated in separate wards.
This unfortunately led to the cancellation of planned procedures and this backlog will be
worked through with the assistance of additional capacity from the independent sector
during 2021/22 and beyond.
The pandemic has forced a re-evaluation of how patients are treated, particularly in an
outpatient setting. There has been an increase in virtual reviews of patients, which has
meant that many can be discharged safely without having to attend the Trust, and others
have been seen by video or telephone. The effectiveness of these pathways is being
reviewed and, where appropriate, these will be retained.
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Access to testing
West Essex CCG has played a leading role in the COVID-19 testing programme to help stop
the spread of the virus. We have helped set up a number of testing sites across the area that
have been used by over 160,000 people since the pandemic began. These have been run in
partnership with NHS England, the Department of Health & Social Care and Essex County
Council’s Public Health team. Our thanks go out to the district councils and community
organisations that have hosted them. West Essex itself also continues to be home to a
regional testing site, at Stansted Airport.
Looking after patients who are ‘shielding’
Each of our District Councils (DC’s) and Councils for Voluntary Services (CVS’s) worked
together to form District based Hubs to support those in need as a result of Covid-19. They
had individual phone lines and or email addresses so that anyone in the local community
could contact the hub for whatever support they required (i.e. food parcels, prescription
pick-ups, advice and guidance). All the tasks were then allocated and completed utilising a
mix of staff from within Councils and CVS’s as well as volunteers.
As a CCG, we met weekly with the DC’s and CVS’s to understand any issues that were going
on locally, and these were fed back through the hubs or by general practice; in order to see
how we could support each other. A good example is how we worked with our CVS’s to put
processes in place to support prescription deliveries to people who had to self-isolate.
Alongside this reactive response there was also the expectation that the Hubs would
contact all those patients on the shielded list (this list was supplied to them via Essex County
Council (ECC)). We utilised our social prescribers that sit within our Primary Care Networks
to proactively contact patients that were shielding to see if they required any support. This
was supported by our Live Well Link Well Partners and St Clare Hospice also supported
Harlow North PCN with these phone calls.
Whilst we had this local response there was also an Essex-wide response whereby the Essex
Wellbeing Service (EWS) was set up by ECC to ensure the most vulnerable in society were
supported through self-isolation to stay healthy and well as a result of COVID-19. It was
originally designed for people without the support of family, friends or neighbours and
thousands of volunteers were mobilised to support requests around shopping and
prescriptions.
Support is now also provided through more provision for things such as caring
responsibilities, mental wellbeing, debt, housing and employment queries. The focus is very
much on promoting the wellbeing of people, preventing needs from escalating and reducing
demand on health and social care services. If we contacted any shielded patients that we
couldn’t support directly via our social prescribers, the EWS service was a route they would
look to for support for any needs they had identified for individual patients.
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The Patient at Home service
The Patient at Home service at The Princess Alexandra Hospital NHS Trust has had a pivotal
role in the extraordinary response to the COVID pandemic by supporting patients in their
own homes. Teams of doctors, nurses, pharmacists, healthcare assistants and
administrative staff support patients in the community with a range of illnesses and
conditions, who require hospital level care but are suitable for this to be given at home.
The service has also tested and treated several patients with COVID at home since the
beginning of March 2020. This means that patients are able to safely recover in their homes
under the care of the Patient at Home service clinical team, following all infection
prevention and control guidance to ensure the safety of our patients and our people.
From March 2020 - February 2021, the service has treated 595 patients at home, equating
to 9114 bed days saved (days patients would have otherwise spent in an acute hospital
setting). These figures include the patients we treat for long term IV that is within an
agreement between Patient at Home and Community Nurses for the Prescription,
Administration and Monitoring of Intravenous Antibiotics in the Community.
Patricia Connell, 69, a patient from Broxbourne, Hertfordshire has been cared for on twelve
occasions by the Patient at Home service. She said “It was so wonderful that the team were
able to come and look after me at home during the coronavirus (COVID-19) pandemic. I’m a
shielded patient and I had been inside my house for several weeks before I got the next
infection. I spoke to my consultant and the Patient at Home team came to see me. It was
obviously very worrying having people coming into the house, but they came with masks
and gloves and other protective equipment.
They were so professional, kind and caring, I had full confidence in them. They have been
really good, keeping me from needing to go to hospital and they have enabled me and my
family to have a much more stress-free life. With my conditions, my quality of life would not
be as good were it not for them. They have been a life saver.”
Monitoring people’s oxygen levels at home
In October 2020, our GP practices offered an oximetry at home service, helping older and
more vulnerable people with COVID, track when their breathing is getting worse. Patients
are being monitored at home using a ‘pulse oximeter’, a small monitor which clips to a
finger, to measure their heart rate and their oxygen saturation levels.
They record their results using either an app or a paper diary. Patients have frequent checkins with their GP practice to monitor changes in their oxygen saturation and are also
provided with a patient information guide about what to do outside of these appointments.
This remote monitoring is able to identify those at risk of significant deterioration earlier.
Those patients whose levels are worrying are either supported by primary care, referred for
oxygen therapy or taken to A&E. Pulse oximetry is particularly useful for identifying ‘silent
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hypoxia’ (low oxygen levels when someone doesn’t have the tell-tale signs of shortness of
breath).
COVID Virtual wards
The COVID “virtual wards” commenced during wave two of the COIVD pandemic. This has
access to a community-led service with specific GP clinical governance via the Single Point of
Access. In addition, it has direct access to the hospital consultant team at Princess Alexandra
Hospital. The service is for acute discharge step down and was expanded to include heart
failure and COPD.
The COVID virtual ward was an option for clinicians for adults in hospital with a primary
diagnosis of COVID-19 who have an improving clinical trajectory (symptoms, function,
oxygen saturation) and have no fever for 48 hours consecutively (without medication to
reduce fever). Consideration may also be given to patients who are seen in secondary care
or by ambulance clinicians where emergency admission is not warranted, but urgent
oximetry follow-up is required.
Since December 2021, patients have benefited from shorter admissions whilst being safely
monitored at home by the local clinical team.

COVID vaccination programme
The COVID vaccination programme has been one of the success stories of the past twelve
months. Plans were developed very quickly. They have been responsive to changes brought
about by vaccine supply issues, adjustments to the priority groups for vaccination, and
changes in the guidance for second doses.
The collective effort and goodwill shown by GPs, their practice staff and our colleagues in
community and hospital trusts, as well as the enthusiasm of the general public cannot be
underestimated. It has been a source of great pride that the vaccination programme in
Hertfordshire and west Essex has helped to protect so many of our oldest and most
vulnerable residents and staff. A local decision that all people with learning disabilities and
their carers should be invited to have their vaccination by the end of February was made
ahead of the guidance changing nationally.
By the time this report is published in June, we will have made excellent progress towards
vaccinating all over 18s in line with the priority groups identified by the Joint Committee on
Vaccinations and Immunisations (JCVI).
The latest vaccinations data is published online, including a breakdown of vaccination
numbers at CCG level here. (https://www.england.nhs.uk/statistics/statistical-workareas/covid-19-vaccinations/)
Primary care played a huge role in the mobilisation and delivery of the COVID vaccination
programme in West Essex.
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Following regulatory approval of the Pfizer/BioNTech vaccine for COVID, the priority groups
were confirmed by the JCVI and NHSE published significant guidance and operating
procedures for primary care to operate within. The PCN Clinical Directors in west Essex
worked tirelessly with our local GP practices to identify a designated site and mobilise the
workforce to deliver the largest vaccination programme the UK has ever seen. The
vaccination clinics were provided from the following PCN designated sites, with clinics
running during week days and at weekends as required:
•
•
•
•
•

North Uttlesford PCN - Lord Butler Leisure Centre, Saffron Walden
South Uttlesford PCN – Stansted Surgery
Harlow PCNs – Lister Medical Centre
Epping Forest North PCN – Spencer Close, St Margaret’s Hospital, Epping
Loughton, Buckhurst Hill & Chigwell PCN – Buckhurst Way Community Clinic

We also had large vaccination centres run by Hertfordshire Community NHS Trust (HCT):
•
•

Bishops Stortford - Avanti Meadows Primary School
Harlow - Harlow Leisurecentre

The workforce was a combination of practice staff working additional hours, PCN Additional
Roles staff, short term staff or recently retired staff. The sites have been supported by the
CCG Primary care and Pharmacist team building on the collaborative culture of working.
The PCN vaccination sites went live in mid-December 2020 and by the end of January the
teams had vaccinated over 30,000 patients within the high priority cohorts (over 70 yearolds, care home residents and staff and some health & care workers). The majority of
patients attended one of sites listed above, with others being vaccinated in their own home
or in a care home.
Below are some of the stories from our residents who have been vaccinated during
2020/21.
Raymond Spicer, 75 (pictured below) was among the first to be vaccinated at Harlow’s
Leisurezone. He had travelled just minutes to get his jab, with his daughter Louise who
explained Raymond has been isolating throughout the pandemic due to receiving treatment
for a rare form of blood cancer.
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He said getting the, simple and quick inoculation, would give them peace of mind in coming
weeks and he hoped his daughter, his registered carer, would also receive hers soon.
“I found the experience very quick and easy and I am just very glad I have had the first one.”
Ruth MacKay, 79, of Harlow said: “I am very pleased and feel really encouraged to have had
my vaccine.
“I can’t understand why people don’t want to have it. It’s wonderful here at the
Leisurezone, so well organised.”
Ruth’s husband Brian, 85, had his vaccination at Lister Medical Centre in Harlow several
weeks ago.
Baden Clegg, 77, had come from Epping with his wife, Claire, who was also receiving her
vaccine.
Claire, 77, said: “I can’t explain how important it was for us to get the vaccine.
“Life has been put on hold and we are just so fed up with just seeing the grandchildren on
Zoom all the time. We miss them very much.
“Our younger son lives with us and he had COVID over Christmas. It was very difficult
managing that situation so the vaccinations should make things easier. We are hoping to get
our lives back.”
Baden said he would urge everyone to have the vaccine when invited to.
“We have the flu one every winter and so it was just like having an extra one of those.
“I barely knew they had done it,” said Baden.
He explained the couple’s son had been very unwell after contracting Coronavirus before
Christmas and urged people to get vaccinated when they could.
Volunteers step up to support
We worked with local District Councils (via their Community Hubs), Essex County Council
(via their Essex Wellbeing Service) and the National RVS Volunteer Responder Scheme, to
ensure individuals get the support they need during the pandemic. Volunteers have also
played a key role at that the vaccination sites, ensuring that they ran smoothly on a day-today basis, and that patients attending the clinic were supported. The Local Community
Voluntary Services were instrumental in mobilising these volunteers.
Our Councils for Voluntary Services (CVS’s) have worked with us and the local volunteer
centres since the vaccine roll out to provide volunteers at all of our PCN COVID-19
vaccination sites since the middle of December 2020. They continue to do this and will be
doing so for the foreseeable. They have had at least three clinics every week in the majority
of our PCN vaccination clinic settings that they are supporting (of which there are four) and
have been massively reactive to supporting this. None of our sites have ever been without
volunteers and we have the local CVS’s to thank for this in their coordinating capacity.
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Safeguarding children
The Essex Child and Family Well-being Service have implemented their Phase 5 Business
Continuity Plan which continues to prioritise contacts with vulnerable children, either
virtually or face-to-face, depending on level of risk, during the Coronavirus pandemic. The
service has also maintained face-to-face new birth visits, subject to a COVID-19 risk
assessment. Creative solutions have been developed to offer some universal support groups
via social media.
Much work has also focused on:
• The visibility of children during the pandemic
• Proactive identification and support for hidden vulnerable children and families
• Virtual access for children and young people - how safeguarding can be assessed
• Virtual contacts being used as a blended model rather than the only contact
• Ensuring providers continue to empower children and young people to reach out to
society through helplines, social media and known trusted adults
• The provision of sufficient and accessible mental health services
• Access to domestic abuse support
• Awareness raising in relation to online grooming and Child Exploitation
• Enhanced partnership working
You can read more on safeguarding on page 32.
Children and young people
At the very start of the pandemic, PAH Paediatrics and the Essex Child and Family Wellbeing
Service (ECFWS, Pre-Birth to 19 Service integrated with Children’s Community Healthcare)
quickly established a strong response. Regular communication and partnership working with
West Essex CCG, Essex County Council and other system partners has continued throughout,
providing essential assurance around ongoing care and support for children, young people
and families. A fortnightly COVID-19 Children and Young People’s System Network was
established to enable further communication and joint working between health and care
partners and the voluntary sector across the wider West Essex system.
The Network provided an opportunity for partners to keep abreast of the local position and
catch-up with one another to update, share thoughts and experiences, ask questions,
escalate concerns and seek support where needed. Recognising the impact of the COVID-19
pandemic upon children, young people and families, and the importance of the children’s
workforce in maintaining care and support, Hertfordshire & West Essex ICS developed a set
of principles to safeguard against mass re-deployment of staff during the winter period and
second wave.
You can read more on commissioning for children and young people on page 38.
Continuing Healthcare (CHC)
During the initial phase of the COVID Pandemic, certain aspects of Continuing Healthcare
(CHC) assessments were paused nationally in order to enable the deployment of workforce
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in support of COVID responses, with patients in need of support being placed and funded
centrally. Once business-as-usual CHC assessments were re-commenced later in the year,
there was a caseload of patients requiring completion of the deferred CHC assessment in
order to determine eligibility and longer-term care needs.
During this phase of the pandemic, a number of CHC staff were temporarily re-deployed to
support the Community Services provider for west Essex; EPUT.
The team has worked hard to change and adapt how they work to carry out the deferred
assessment process in addition to existing priorities and other aspects of the local COVID
response.
The CHC Team is dedicated to providing a first-class service, always striving to improve the
patient experience/ journey by analysing feedback received through
complaints/compliments. Feedback is anonymous and is sent to the team via an online
survey portal, by post or via an email.
You can read more on CHC on page 47.

HOW YOUR MONEY WAS SPENT
West Essex CCG’s Annual Accounts are included within this Annual Report. The accounts
have been prepared against the Direction issued by NHE England under the National Health
Service Act 2006 (as amended by the Health and Social Care Act 2012).
The CCG has a statutory duty to manage their finances within the resources available. The
key duties and the performance of the CCG are set out in the table below:
Duty

What this means

Expenditure does not exceed To keep the amount spent on
sums allotted to the CCG plus commissioning and delivering
other income received
services to or below the amount
allocated

Capital resource use does not
exceed the amount specified
in Directions
Revenue Resource use does
not exceed the amount
specified in Directions

To not spend more on buying
property, plant and equipment
than allocated
To not spend more on
commissioning and delivering
services than allocated

Revenue administration
resource use does not

To ensure that CCG efficiently
discharges its responsibilities and

West Essex CCG’s
Achievement
✓ Achieved
Underspend of
£0.005m in 2020/21
with a cumulative
underspend of
£10.005m
Not Applicable

✓ Achieved
Underspend of
£0.005m in 2020/21
with a cumulative
underspend of
£10.005m
✓ Achieved
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exceed the amount specified
in Directions

keeps the spend to or below the
amount allocated

Cash Limits are not exceeded
in any one year

To keep the cash in the bank
within acceptable limits

Running costs
underspent by
£0.110m in 2020/21
✓ Achieved

Funding Allocated to the CCG
The normal financial planning process for the year 2020/21 was suspended at the end of
March 2020, in response to the COVID-19 pandemic. NHS England instigated an emergency
financial regime for all NHS organisations to ensure financial viability for the NHS and to
remove unnecessary administrative burdens to allow organisations to focus resource on the
operational response to the pandemic.
These emergency financial arrangements effectively centralised financial management,
focusing on health system partnership working. The regime was revised halfway through the
financial year, with retrospective top-ups provided to individual organisations in the first
half of the year (H1) and Integrated Care Partnership (ICS) Systems issued with funding
envelopes, incorporating mandated block values to NHS Providers, prospective top-up,
growth and COVID-19 allocations for the second half of the year (H2). A summary of the
framework is shown in the table below:
Month 1 - 6 2020-21

Month 7 - 12 2020-21

Budgets were set based on 2019-20 actual expenditure Financial Envelope for HWE ICS provided by NHSE. The
at Month 11, uplifted for inflation. Allocations were
CCG’s allocation within this has been set against NHSE
Allocations and
adjusted retrospectively to achieve a breakeven
estimations of budget required. ‘Top-ups’ are provided
position against actual expenditure, on each service
through the ICS for growth and COVID expenditure to
Budgets
line, and including expenditure in response to the
achieve a breakeven position. Financial performance will
pandemic.
be measured against a breakeven control total.
Contracting and commissioning stood down. No invoicing for NHS Non-Contract activity.
Block payments above £500k continue. Ability to adjust
Block payments above £250k mandated from
these payments to recognise newly-commissioned
NHS Providers
commissioners to providers, top-ups made by NHSE to services not in the baseline in 2019/20. Requirement to
allow providers to breakeven against shortfall in
top-up Mental Health Providers to achieve Mental health
income and COVID expenditure.
Investment Standard. Providers supported within the
overall ICS financial envelope.
Commissioning to be returned to CCGs, working with main
providers from 1st January 2021, under a national
Independent Sector Nationally commissioned.
framework agreement. No requirement to include this
within the financial plan.
‘Light touch’ contract management to support
Expectation that support to providers is phased out and
Non-NHS Providers
sustainability and recovery.
normal activity resumes.
Additional requirements of Care Home DES and Additional
Protected income at 2019-20 levels. Covid expenditure
Primary Care
Roles Reimbursement Scheme have been included in the
is reimbursed.
CCG’s baseline budgets.

Efficiencies and QIPP

No requirement to deliver efficiencies and QIPP
schemes deferred.

Expectation that a level of efficiency will be delivered,
although no formal efficiency reporting.

The total allocation received by the CCG during the financial year 2020/21 was £632.455m.
This included the CCG’s annual allocation and retrospective top-up and COVID allocations. In
addition, West Essex CCG is the lead CCG for the Hertfordshire and West Essex ICS and
therefore received and distributed both the Service Development Funding (SDF) and the
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prospective system top-up, growth and COVID-19 allocations for the system. This is shown
in the table below:
Allocation received
Programme
Devolved Commissioning
Running Costs
Cumulative Surplus *
Retrospective CCG Top-up and COVID-19 funding **
Service Development Funding (SDF)
Prospective System Top-up, growth and COVID-19
funding
TOTAL

Total
£’000
426,521
43,602
5,916
10,000
11,949
9,245
125,222
632,455

* The CCG is not authorised to spend the cumulative surplus
** The allocation received for the Hospital Discharge Programme (HDP) of £6.003m is
included within the COVID-19 funding allocation
The CCG met the statutory requirement to keep spend within the resources allocated and
maintain the cumulative surplus of £10.000m. Of the total available resource of £632.455m,
the CCG spent and distributed £622.450m, and maintained the cumulative surplus of
£10.000m, which will be carried forward into 2021/22.
Details of how the CCG spent its allocation during 2020/21 is shown in the two charts below.
The first chart shows the CCG spend, excluding the funding the ICS received for Top-ups,
Growth and COVID-19 costs and the second chart shows total spend for the financial year.
The categorisation of spend in both charts are consistent with the categories utilised for
reporting to the Finance and Performance Committee.
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Annual Expenditure 2020/21 excluding Top-ups, Growth &
COVID-19 funded expenditure: Total £497.2m
(values in £millions)

Better Care Fund
£21.3
4.3%

Corporate Non
Running Costs
£29.5
5.9%

Other
Commissioned
Services
(Out of Hours,
NHS 111 & CRS)
£4.9
1.0%

Corporate
Running Costs
£5.9
1.2%

Community
Services Contracts
£25.7
5.2%
Nursing Care
£25.1
5.0%
Mental Health
£41.9
8.4%

Acute
Commissioning
£246.2
49.5%

Prescribing
£45.4
9.1%
Primary Care
£51.3
10.3%

NHS England holds the vast majority of the capital assets on behalf of CCGs and West Essex
CCG did not need to bid for a significant capital resource. The CCG did purchase IT and other
equipment; however, this expenditure did not need to be capitalised. The costs are shown
as part of the revenue spend of the CCG, within the most appropriate expenditure category.
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The CCG is provided with a cash limit and this cash is used to pay for services commissioned
from NHS and non-NHS Providers, for Primary Care contracts and other payments, for
prescribing and other healthcare costs, and for the costs of running the CCG. The CCG draws
down a proportion of the limit each month and the CCG remained within this limit and
therefore met the key requirement.
As well as staying within the cash limit, as a public sector organisation, we are expected to
pay our obligations promptly. This is known as the Better Payment Practice Code and
requires the CCG to pay 95% of valid invoices by the due date or within 30 days of receipt of
a valid invoice, whichever is later.
There has been continued good performance against this measure with 96.36% of NHS
invoices by number paid within target and 98.76% by value. Also, 98.37% of Non-NHS
invoices were paid within the target by number and 98.25% by value. This is shown in Note
4 of the Annual Accounts.

PRIMARY CARE CQC RATINGS AND QUALITY ASSURANCE
The CQC adapted their primary care inspection process during the COVID-19 pandemic to
focus on those practices considered to be most at risk, based on data and information held.
In response, the CQC introduced an Emergency Support Framework (ESF). Assurance was
provided to the CQC that all the West Essex practices that were placed on the ESF were
managing the impact of the COVID-19 pandemic.
In addition, innovative working was identified, such as outstanding support that one
practice was providing to population groups whose circumstances may make them
vulnerable.
In the latter half of the year, in response to the continuation of the pandemic, the CQC
adapted and developed their methods by introducing a Transitional Monitoring Approach
(TMA) for practices. The focus is on safety, how effectively a service is led and how easily
people can access the service.
Collaborative working between the CCG’s Quality and Primary Care Teams has enabled the
provision of bespoke support to practices which addressed issues identified within the CQC
inspection reports.
Primary Care quality assurance and quality improvement have remained integral elements
within the Primary Care Commissioning Committee and Quality Committee agendas over
the last year.
The majority of GP practices (26 out of 30) within West Essex are currently rated overall by
the CQC as ‘Good’. In addition, 1 practice is rated as ‘Outstanding’ and 3 practices are rated
as’ Requires Improvement’ (See Table below).
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CQC Ratings for West Essex GP Practices as at February 2021

Good

Overall Rating

Well Led

Responsive

Caring

Safe

Inadequate

Effective

Requires
Improvement

Date inspection report published

Outstanding

Loughton, Buckhurst
Hill & Chigwell PCN

Chigwell Medical
Centre

27/04/18

Kings Medical
Centre

26/09/16

Loughton Health
Centre

07/01/20

Loughton Surgery

23/12/16

Palmerston Road
Surgery

05/02/15

The Forest
Practice

25/02/16

The River Surgery

19/08/16

Epping Forest North
PCN

Abridge Surgery

05/11/19
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High Street
Surgery

20/03/20

The Limes Medical
Centre

05/02/15

Market Square
Surgery

05/01/21

Maynard Court
Surgery

02/10/17

Ongar Health
Centre

10/05/16

Harlow North PCN

Addison House
Surgery

06/09/19

Church Langley
Medical Practice

11/06/15

Nuffield House
Surgery

18/12/20

Old Harlow Health
Centre

10/03/20

Sydenham House
Surgery

21/12/17

Harlow South PCN

Hamilton Practice

17/02/20

Lister Medical
Centre

23/03/16

The Ross Practice

10/03/16
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South Uttlesford
PCN

Angel Lane
Surgery

19/04/18

Elsenham Surgery

04/08/16

Eden Surgery

11/10/19

John Tasker House
Surgery

13/01/20

Stansted Surgery

05/02/18

North Uttlesford
PCN

Newport Surgery

13/10/16

Crocus Medical
Practice

10/04/18

Thaxted Surgery

27/04/16

The Gold St
Surgery

15/06/16
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PRIMARY CARE NETWORKS (PCNS)
Primary Care Networks (PCNs) are a group of GP practices working together with a range of
other local organisations, including community health services, mental health services,
social care, the voluntary sector and local authorities, to offer more integrated health and
social care to local people. PCNs support a population of around 30-50,000 people.

Primary Care Networks are one of the key building blocks for delivery of The NHS Long Term
Plan published in January 2019. PCNs will play a strong role in:
o Improving access to general practice
o Developing the workforce to ensure sustainable primary care into the future
o Delivering standardised care across a number of national service
specifications from 2020
o Overseeing and influencing the use of resources within their population
o Representing primary care within the Integrated Care System and local
Integrated Care Partnership
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There are six Primary Care Networks in West Essex as follows:
•
•
•
•
•
•

Harlow North
Harlow South
Epping Forest North
Loughton, Buckhurst Hill & Chigwell
South Uttlesford
North Uttlesford
North Uttlesford
39,590

South Uttlesford
53,139
North Harlow
55,368

South Harlow
39,633

Epping, Ongar, Abridge
& Waltham Abbey
68,678

Loughton,
Buckhurst Hill &
Chigwell
55,318

The Primary Care Networks in West Essex have gone from strength to strength in 2020/21
and achievements include:
•

Expanding the primary care workforce using the national PCN Additional Roles
Reimbursement Scheme – the PCNs have recruited additional Clinical Pharmacists,
Social Prescribers, Health & Well-being coaches, Physiotherapists, and Care Coordinators to support the existing general practice teams.
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•
•
•
•
•
•
•
•

Developing supervision/education/training programmes to embed new PCN
roles/individuals into general practice – this is particularly important for the
ongoing support and retention of these new staff
Continued delivery of extended hours in evenings and weekends to provide
additional general practice appointments.
PCN-wide multidisciplinary approach to supporting patients with COPD and
developing a community of practices.
Establishing PCN-wide clinics for the assessment of patients with suspected COVID19.
Commencing a programme of work to improve early cancer diagnosis through
auditing referrals, safety-netting referrals and working together to share best
practice.
Clinical Pharmacists have been working within the general practice teams to provide
Structured Medical Reviews for more patients with ongoing health problems and
improving patient safety, outcomes and value through a person-centered approach.
Continued to provide enhanced support to care homes alongside community nursing
teams and social care ensuring a multidisciplinary and proactive approach to care.
Successful delivery of the COVID vaccination programme.

ENSURING QUALITY
The COVID-19 pandemic has significantly impacted our health services, including how we
commission and monitor services to deliver high quality care to our patients. The Nursing and
Quality Team has maintained all core functions during the pandemic.

Our ambition is to commission high-quality care that is safe, clinically effective and a
positive experience for the residents of West Essex.
In order to achieve this ambition, the Nursing and Quality Team carries out a range of
assurance measures, which include:
•

•

•

The CCG receives and continually reviews data from a wide range of information
sources, in addition to formal contractual performance and quality reports from
commissioned services. Feedback from GPs is also used to understand where there
is variation in performance and to benchmark against other similar organisations.
Setting a range of quality outcome measures within contracts, and monitored
during the course of the contractual year via performance meetings for
commissioned services, and through assurance inspections to settings of care
within those services. This includes an ongoing programme of visits to Care Homes
in West Essex, which are carried out in partnership with the Local authority Quality
and Safeguarding team, and supportive visits to GP Practices.
Participating in the work of the Expert Oversight groups to support system
transformation and development of clinical pathways – ensuring the patient is
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•

•

•
•
•

central to the development process and that at every stage there is clear evidence
of the impact on quality, safety and patient experience.
The team actively engages with system partners to support internal organisational
inspections as an external “critical friend”. For example, The Princess Alexandra
Hospital has an ongoing series of internal peer review inspections as part of its
improvement work following CQC inspection. The CCG Nursing and Quality team
are regular participants in this programme, as well as carrying out additional
focused assurance visits to triangulate findings from serious incidents (SI).
Providing assurance through regular reporting to the Quality Committee of the
CCG, which reports to the CCG Board which both meet bi-monthly, and also
providing assurance to NHS England and Improvement via the regional Quality
Surveillance Group.
In addition to other sources of information and intelligence, the CCG receives direct
feedback from GPs via the “Quality Inbox” to ensure that issues or concerns
relating to services can be identified and addressed with system partners.
Hosting the Emotional Wellbeing and Mental Health Service (EWMHS) on behalf of
Essex CCGs.
As a CCG with fully delegated Primary Care Commissioning responsibility from NHS
England and Improvement, the Nursing and Quality Team works very closely with
the Primary Care Team and system partners to support improvements in primary
care quality and the further development of the primary care workforce.

Serious Incidents
A serious incident (SI) in healthcare is an adverse event, where the consequences to
patients, families, staff or organisations are so significant or the potential for learning is so
great, that a heightened level of response is justified.
Providers of NHS Services are responsible for the safety of their patients, visitors and others
using their services. They must ensure robust systems are in place to enable meaningful
analysis to take place, including review of the human factors involved and that appropriate
changes to practice are embedded where needed, as a result of serious incidents.
The West Essex Serious Incident Assurance Panel, comprised of clinical and non-clinical staff,
meets weekly to quality assure the serious incident reports submitted by provider
organisations. The panel is a subcommittee of the Quality Committee.:
•

2019/20 total SI reported 92, following full investigation 3 were de-escalated

•

2021/2021 total SI reported 130, following full investigation 1 was de-escalated

•

There was one never event – Never events are a sub-set of serious incidents and
are defined as ‘serious, largely preventable patient safety incidents that should
not occur if the available preventative measures have been implemented by
healthcare providers.’
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The number of serious incidents reported is less important than whether there have been
trends or themes in the types of incident and that the learning has resulted in changes
where they are required.
There has been significant disruption to the serious incident process this year due to the
COVID-19 pandemic. All CCGs in Essex have stopped the clock and halted investigations on
two occasions. The first clock stop was in April 2020 the second December 2020 to enable
staff to care for patients and manage the pandemic. This has resulted in delays to
investigations and outcomes.
Patient Experience 20/21
The CCG Patient Experience Team manages complaints, Patient Advice and Liaison Service
(PALS) queries and compliments from service users and members of the community. People
can make their complaints or comments either directly to the organisation who provided
their care or to the CCG. If patients make their complaint/ask a question via their Member
of Parliament, the team will also lead on these responses.
The Patient Experience Team also responds to requests from the Parliamentary Health
Service Ombudsman for information relating to complaints where the CCG has been the
lead.
In 2019/20 the Patient Experience Team managed 516 queries, this year activity has
increased significantly and the team received 1050 queries.
The main spike in queries has occurred since December 2020, since when there have been
178 queries relating to the COVID 19 vaccination programme from a combination of
members of the public, NHS, social care and private health sector staff, MPs and from
individuals offering to help and assist.
The number of MP queries overall has also risen from 37 in 2019/20 to 101 (47 of these
relate to the COVID 19 vaccination programme) in 2020/21
In 2020/21 the CCG received 39 formal complaints.
Some of these related to one organisation, others were multi organisational, the
investigation and response was coordinated by the team.
Half of the complaints received related to decisions taken by the CCG or the local acute
Trust. Formal complaints about the CCG related to; funding decisions, continuing health care
eligibility decisions and COVID 19 vaccinations.
Most of the complaints about primary care services were referred onto NHS England or
were already being managed by the practice involved. A complaint can only be investigated
once, so if an investigation is underway the CCG cannot investigate as well, this is not
permitted by the NHS Complaint regulations.
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In addition to complaints, the Patient Experience Team received 854 PALS contacts from
patients, their families, members of the public and Members of Parliament.
The queries cover all commissioned services, a fair proportion relate to issues or queries
about: primary care services, decisions made by the CCG, the rest are divided amongst other
providers.
The team assists patients, their families, health professionals and members of the public to
provide the information they need and/or assist them to resolve their concerns.

Safeguarding Children and Adults
The CCG is committed to safeguarding and promoting the welfare of children and adults.
The responsibilities for safeguarding are enshrined in legislation.
The Care Act 2014 consolidated good practice for safeguarding adults into statute. The
Mental Capacity Act (MCA) 2005, and as amended in 2019, places responsibilities on
healthcare providers to conduct Mental Capacity Assessments and act in the best interest of
individuals who lack capacity to give consent to their care and treatment, thus ensuring that
appropriate safeguards are in place for this population. The Deprivation of Liberty
Safeguards (DoLS) are an amendment to the Mental Capacity Act 2005, introduced in 2009
to provide a statutory framework for the deprivation of liberty of people in hospitals and
care homes, when required for their own protection. Those at home or in domiciliary care
can also be deprived of their liberty but this currently has to be applied for through the
Court of Protection.
Following a review of the Mental Capacity Act 2005 (and the Deprivation of Liberty
Safeguards) by the Law Commission in 2017, a recommendation was made for the Act to be
amended. As a result, the Mental Capacity (Amendment) Bill was passed into law in May
2019. It replaces the Deprivation of Liberty Safeguards (DoLS) with a scheme known as the
Liberty Protection Safeguards. This Amendment Act has introduced significant changes to
the way the CCG manages and discharges its responsibilities for any patient that is deemed
to lack mental capacity to consent to a deprivation of liberty, enforced through their care
plan. Further guidance and a Code of Practice as to how this will be enacted are awaited. It
is envisaged that Liberty Protection Safeguards (LPS) will be fully operational by April 2022.
The Children Acts 1989 and 2004 place a duty on local authorities to promote and safeguard
the welfare of children in need in their area. The Act makes the child’s welfare paramount.
Section 27 imposes a duty on health bodies to cooperate with a local authority to support
children and families. The duties are further clarified within Safeguarding Children, Young
People and Adults at Risk in the NHS: Safeguarding Accountability and Assurance
Framework 2019, which sets out how all NHS organisations, including those they may
contract, should fulfil their safeguarding responsibilities.
Changes introduced in the Children and Social Work Act 2017, which informed the statutory
guidance Working Together to Safeguard Children 2018, has had significant implications for
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the CCG. The CCG is now an equal partner and shares joint responsibility with the local
authority and Chief Officer of Police to make arrangements to work together to safeguard
and promote the welfare of local children, including identifying and responding to their
needs. The National Child Safeguarding Practice Review Panel oversees learning from
serious safeguarding cases.
The Children and Social Work Act 2017 also introduced Child Death Review Partners,
consisting of the local authority and CCGs to make arrangements to review all child deaths
within their locality. The Director of Nursing and Quality for Hertfordshire and West Essex
Integrated Care System (ICS) holds the health lead for this function.
The CCG is represented on the Essex Safeguarding Children’s Board (ESCB) by the Director of
Nursing and Quality. Work is ongoing to embed the new arrangements to ensure robust
systems are in place between the three partners to share responsibilities and review
funding contributions.
The statutory guidance requires a clear line of accountability within NHS organisations, for
both adult and children’s safeguarding. Leadership and responsibility for safeguarding at a
governing body level is achieved through the Director of Nursing and Quality; this role is
supported by the safeguarding leads for children and adults within the CCG.
Safeguarding Clinical Network (SCN)
The Safeguarding Clinical Network for Southend, Essex and Thurrock continues to provide
oversight of the safeguarding agenda across the county, to promote consistency and
enhance partnership working at both strategic and operational levels.
An Independent Review of the SCN was undertaken in 2019 with participant workshops
facilitated in 2020. The outcomes have been delayed due to the pandemic.
General Practice Safeguarding Audit
The biennial Safeguarding Children and Adult Audit was completed in late 2020 by most GP
Practices in West Essex. Once data is collated and analysed, all practices will be offered an
opportunity to discuss the audit with the Safeguarding Team and to seek any support or
advice required to enhance safeguarding practice.
Stay Safe
Within the new multi-agency safeguarding arrangements, the Stay Safe forums have greater
purpose for coordinating and leading the local safeguarding agenda. Focusing on improving
local outcomes and highlighting emerging issues and risks so that they can be appropriately
addressed at an operational level.
Meeting Attendances
Both Designated Nurses for Safeguarding Children and the Designated Professional for
Safeguarding Adults have continued to attend the Safeguarding Performance Quality
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Reviews (SPQRs) with the main providers that the CCG has contracts with, where required.
Attendances to different forums, networks, meetings from a local to a regional and
sometimes national level have also been taken up by the West Essex CCG (WECCG)
designated nurses for safeguarding. For nearly the whole financial year, the safeguarding
team has worked remotely from home due to the national lockdown and subsequently due
to the offices being repurposed to make way for COVID-19 Operations and Logistics. The
safeguarding team members have subsequently adapted, moving their activities to the
virtual platform.
Safeguarding Adult Reviews (SARs), Domestic Homicide Reviews (DHRs) and Independent
Reviews
A number of Safeguarding Adults Reviews and Domestic Homicide Reviews and sometimes
Independent Reviews (Independent Reviews: are commissioned by NHS England &
Improvement when there is a victim or perpetrator who has mental health illness), have
taken place. Sometimes there have been delays in these reviews with publication occurring
three to five years down the line – thus rendering the recommendations inapplicable at
times due to changes in systems, services etc… The stipulated statutory timeframe of DHRs
is six months from start to finish. Sometimes WECCG’s input and engagement is required as
there can be recommendations not only for the provider agencies in the locality but for the
CCG. The CCG usually has oversight and will seek assurance of actions needed emanating
from the recommendations or other commissioning related issues which may have been
identified in some of these DHRs/SARs. Sometimes, other investigations/reviews run parallel
to these or as follow-up to other reviews such as Coroner case, Serious Incidents, LeDer
Learning Disability Mortality Reviews, the latter conducted for those who have a diagnosis
of Learning Disability at the point of death. The Quality Committee has been kept informed
of these associated recommendations and so has the WECCG Board. Please note the forms
of abuse for the cases for West referred to ESAB and dealt by them have included two
familial domestic abuse related DHR/or SARs with females being the victims. In one case
both perpetrator and victim survived. It was a pact poisoning. A learning module for this
particular case has been devised by Essex Safeguarding Adults Board. There have been two
cases by external Safeguarding Adults Boards with recommendations for West Essex
agencies/organisations.
Training
A safeguarding update was delivered to the Board members during this financial year.
Joint (Adults and Children) safeguarding update training was delivered by the safeguarding
team and so has standalone specific training. There was a review of the safeguarding
training to ensure it was aligned to the intercollegiate documents for Adults & Children 2018
and 2019 respectively.
Safeguarding Adults has also been kept abreast of safeguarding activity with Mental
Capacity training taking place within provider agencies. Mental Capacity understanding,
application and assessment remains variable with a lack of understanding cited in a number
of Domestic Homicide Reviews and Safeguarding Adults Reviews. This coming financial year,
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there is going to be a greater focus on MCA together with learning from SARs and Domestic
Homicide Reviews. More time will be afforded to this via the bi-monthly Safeguarding
Adults Local System Approach (SALSA) Group which was commenced in December 2020 by
WECCG Safeguarding Adults Team for representatives of provider agencies to attend.

Prevent
A Prevent Delivery Group has been formulated with a change in chairmanship. This group
met once in the year and this had a WECCG Safeguarding Designated Professional in
attendance. There has been an increase in people being referred more-so around Quarter
four. A regional meeting also took place in the third Quarter attended by one of the
safeguarding designated nurses for children.
Care Home HUB
Since the onset of COVID-19, the West Essex Care home hub comprising of different
agencies have been meeting on a daily basis, Monday to Friday, to co-ordinate the
responses to care home needs around COVID-19. Weekend and bank holiday arrangements
to support care homes are also in place. There has also been support offered to the care
homes around Personal Protective Equipment and training on Infection Prevention and
Control. A sub-group of this, during the autumn and winter, triangulated the Flu and
subsequently COVID-19 vaccination programme.
Unaccompanied Asylum-Seeking Children (UASC)
West Essex continues to have a higher number of UASC placed within the locality,
particularly Harlow, due to the greater availability of Semi-Independent Accommodation.
Although overall numbers of looked-after children and young people in West Essex are
lower than other quadrants, this does not reflect the transient nature of the population, as
young people reach 18 years and become care leavers. Interestingly, West Essex has a
significantly higher proportion of care leavers compared to other Essex localities.
The transient looked-after children population places greater pressure on providers to meet
their health needs, as children move in and out of local authority care. Capacity of the
paediatricians within the Essex Child and Family Well-being Service to complete the Initial
Health Assessment (IHA) has improved to meet statutory timeframes. This has been
supported by a blended approach to appointments using virtual technology during the
COVID-19 pandemic.
Asylum Seekers placed at the Bell Hotel, Epping
A hotel within west Essex was assigned as a contingency Initial Accommodation Centre for
asylum seeking individuals. Although the Home Office holds the overarching accountability
for the arrangements, work by the Primary Care and Safeguarding teams identified a
number of risks in the arrangements. This was escalated to the Essex Safeguarding Children
and Adults Boards, NHS England/ Improvement East of England and via the National
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Network of Designated Safeguarding Professionals to the Home Office. This accommodation
Centre closed on 4 March 2021 and individuals were re-housed by the Home Office outside
of west Essex.

Sustainability and Transformational Partnership (STP)
The Safeguarding Teams for both west Essex and Hertfordshire are working collaboratively
to deliver a programme of learning and development to meet on-going and emerging
safeguarding themes and learning. A non-recurrent grant from NHS England and
Improvement supports this work-stream.
Infection Prevention and Control
This last year, in addition to maintaining the core functions, the Nursing and Quality Team
has focused on supporting the system response to COVID-19, and working to support
providers to deliver safe care to our patients which has included a significant volume of
work carried out by or in conjunction with the Infection Prevention and Control team which
works jointly across the Hertfordshire and West Essex CCG’s
•

•

•
•

•
•
•
•

•

Developing a range of guidance, observational tools, and training material, and
supporting a range of health and social care providers to interpret national guidance
relating to infection prevention and control.
Undertaking face to face and virtual quality visits to primary care providers to
provide support and seek assurance that they are able to see patients safely. This
includes primary care, care homes, and a number of community providers.
Delivering training sessions and webinars to support providers in relation to infection
prevention and control.
Providing management and support regarding COVID-19 outbreaks; this includes
supporting outbreaks in primary care and care homes as well as those occurring
within the main providers.
Providing advice and input for mass vaccination sites, and in conjunction with locality
quality leads, undertaking quality assurance visits.
Provided input into the establishment of the PCN vaccination sites, and undertaken
quality assurance visits, again in conjunction with locality quality leads, to those
sites, identifying good practice and areas for improvement.
Responding to a significant number of ad-hoc infection control queries relating to
both COVID-19 and non-COVID-19 related issues.
Supporting practices with IPC measures, developing guidance and checklists, and
undertaking support visits to offer advice and support to help practices become
‘COVID-secure’.
Developing a template to undertake ‘virtual’ quality visits to practices.
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•

Supported the development and implementation of ‘hot’ sites as well as processes
to see shielding patients safely.

Care Homes
The Nursing and Quality team work closely with our Infection prevention and control team
and Partners in our Community Service Provider EPUT and prepare for and deliver IPC
training to all care homes in line with the national timescales, and have continued a rolling
programme of refresh training.
A multi-agency care homes hub was established by the CCG in April 2020, with membership
from the following organisations:
•
•
•
•
•
•

West Essex Clinical Commissioning Group
o Quality, Infection Prevention and control team, safeguarding adults team
Essex County Council
o Local Public Health Consultant, Adults Social care, Quality Improvement and
Safeguarding teams
EPUT as the local provider of community health services
Care Quality Commission
Local Contact tracing team
GP practices have joined the hub meeting over the year, and provide information to
the hub.

The purpose of the Care Homes Hub is to oversee, monitor and map outbreaks of COVID-19
across the CCG area, capture expertise and information across the system to support care
homes to mitigate the impacts of outbreaks, provide support to homes, maintain patient
flow and ensure wrap around support was maintained for homes to care for their residents
and staff.
Quite crucially, another purpose of the hub is to reduce the reporting burden on homes
from multiple agencies making contact to offer support and gather information, so contacts
are streamed, where possible, through designated leads from the partner organisations.
Processes are in place to ensure learning is identified from any outbreaks and identify
themes and trends. Action has then been taken to make any required improvements to
processes and guidance. And the hub also focusses on other risk factors including
safeguarding concerns as necessary.
Monitoring calls are being undertaken to support care homes and seek assurance regarding
the care being provided to residents; this is being undertaken jointly by the CCG, EPUT and
Essex County Council. A risk based RAG rating model was developed in partnership with ECC
to determine the frequency of the contacts.
Due to restricted visiting in care homes due to COVID-19, the CCG has worked with the
Multi agency partnership of the hub and Primary care colleagues to ensure safe care is
maintained, and strengthened processes to ensure virtual consultations were put in place,
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in addition to the support from professionals visiting the homes in a clinical capacity (e.g.
Community Nurses and GPs) and seeking feedback from these staff regarding the quality of
care being provided and observations of infection prevention and control procedures in the
homes.
The CCG also worked partners to ensure pastoral care and support is available to staff and
managers of the homes to improve their wellbeing and ability to continue to deliver care
during the pandemic.
A multi-agency Vaccination Cell has been established to support the vaccination process for
care home residents and staff.

COMMISSIONING FOR CHILDREN & YOUNG PEOPLE
The Essex Child & Family Wellbeing Service retained 90+% of the community healthcare and
pre-birth to 19 workforces within West Essex which enabled near business-as-usual to
continue across all services on a mostly virtual basis (where safe to do so). Face-to-face
contacts were maintained for vulnerable families and safeguarding concerns, as well as
universally for the Health Visitor new birth assessments and the majority of Children’s
Community Nursing contacts. Virtual groups and support were put in place of activities
previously delivered within Family Hubs, for both Pre-Birth to 19 services and children’s
community healthcare. Families were therefore able to continue to access and receive care
and support from healthcare professionals working in partnership with the wider Healthy
Family Teams.
The Family Hub buildings were closed to families however opened up to appointment only
essential contacts and for system partners to provide a safe space for antenatal
appointments, childhood immunisations and voluntary sector provision etc… The
community service most affected by the pandemic has been specialist paediatric
assessments for Autism Spectrum Disorder, which had also been seen nationally due to the
nature of the assessment which could not be easily replicated virtually. An alternative
approach was identified and implemented in West Essex and across many other parts of the
country to enable assessments to re-start later in the year. However, the impact on waiting
times has been significant and an area of focus as the CCG moves into recovery.
Princess Alexandra Hospital paediatrics also implemented a virtual approach to maintaining
care and support for children and young people (where safe to do so) which proved to be
successful and well received by families, and helped to reduce the impact on waiting times.
The previously established GP Hotline to a paediatric consultant and Rapid Access Clinics
were also maintained and extended, which were essential for ensuring Primary Care
professionals had timely access to specialist advice and care for children and young people.
Oncology and children with long term conditions continued to receive support through
virtual clinics and 24hr telephone support.
The DigiBete app was rolled out to support children and young people in managing their
diabetes and communicating with the children’s diabetes service. Low footfall in paediatric
A&E continued to be closely monitored and remained low throughout 20/21. Partners
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collectively promoted access to A&E to encourage families to access urgent support when
they needed it as well as continuing a wide range of public health messaging and health and
wellbeing promotion.
Towards the end of the year, the paediatric outpatient department moved to a safe space in
a building on the edge of the hospital site and a Paediatric Hospital At Home programme
was launched to improve flow within the Trust and ensure children and young people
continue to receive care in the most appropriate and safest environment.

Special Educational Needs & Disability (SEND)
Following the Essex local area inspection by CQC and Ofsted during October 2019, a Written
Statement of Action and delivery plan was developed by the Local Authority, the five Essex
CCGs and family representatives from the Essex Family Forum. The plan was approved for
implementation at the start of 2020/21. Following an initial pause during the early stages of
the pandemic, work re-started during the summer months across three overarching areas:
1) improving quality of Education, Health & Care Plans, 2) understanding and addressing the
over-identification of moderate learning difficulties, 3) reducing variation by improving joint
commissioning arrangements across Essex.
A SEND Joint Commissioning Group was established to carry out tasks outlined in the
delivery plan, with executive lead ownership from each commissioning organisation.
Workstreams were initiated on establishing joint commissioning and development
arrangements across therapy services, equipment, neurodevelopmental pathways, SEND
Information & Advice Service, Essex Local Offer and supporting the Essex Family Forum.
Throughout the pandemic, the CCG and West Essex Children’s Community Healthcare
services have worked in partnership with the Local Authority and schools to support
children and young people with SEND to safely attend education settings, and have
facilitated continued delivery of Education Health & Care Plans in line with national and
local guidance.

Emotional Wellbeing and Mental Health
In addition to the Emotional Wellbeing & Mental Health Service (EWMHS) update provided
later within this report, some additional local services continued and/or were implemented
by the children and young people’s commissioning team during 20/21 as follows:
Mental Health Support Teams continued to offer support to schools in Harlow and special
schools across west Essex, throughout the pandemic. The service was maintained virtually
by West Essex Mind, with increasing engagement with schools and the college in Harlow as
children and young people returned. The CCG intends to extend the reach of Mental Health
Support Teams to schools in Uttlesford and Epping Forest as part of the ongoing national
roll-out of the programme.
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The YCT youth counselling service was commissioned just prior to the start of the pandemic
having identified the need to enable greater and faster access to support children and
young people with low to moderate emotional wellbeing needs. YCT were able to quickly
adjust their offer to continue to provide virtual counselling support for children and young
people aged 5-19 and their parents during the pandemic. As well as providing much-needed
therapeutic support, the service was also commissioned to provide a holistic approach to
therapy in supporting children receiving a diagnosis of ASD and their parents, as well as
step-down support for those transitioning from the Emotional Wellbeing & Mental Health
Service. With need significantly increasing and schools becoming overwhelmed, Essex
County Council supported an extension to the service to scale up provision, with a particular
focus on managing and understanding anxiety for both the child/young person and their
parents. The service was also supported to provide a Covid safe environment in which to
deliver face-to-face play therapy.
West Essex CCG in partnership with Mid Essex CCG carried out a re-procurement of nonstatutory advocacy support for children and young people under the care of specialist
mental health services. The contract was awarded to Open Door for a period of 18 months
and provides representation to children and young people who do not feel able, or who are
unable, to express themselves, thereby helping them to understand and be involved in the
decisions that are made about their care. Open Door is working with the CCGs and local
mental health providers to raise awareness and enhance accessibility of the service.
Partnership Developments across the ICS and Integrated Care Partnership (ICP)
The children’s workstream has further strengthened across the Hertfordshire and West
Essex ICS. Work has taken pace around establishing a set of shared priorities and planning
an ICS wide strategy for children, young people and families, initially focusing on reducing
inequalities. One of the main achievements during 20/21 was the adoption and
development of the Healthier Together website for Hertfordshire and West Essex. The
initiative enables quick and easy access to accurate, reliable and consistent guidance and
information regarding common illness and wellbeing concerns for pregnant women,
children, young people, families and healthcare professionals. The resource was originally
developed in partnership between parents and healthcare professionals across Dorset,
Hampshire and the Isle of Wight, and is being encouraged by NHS England for local adoption
across the country.
As part of the ICP/One Health & Care Partnership development, it has been recognised that
the partnership needed greater inclusion of children and families. The OHCP five-year plan
for children, young people and families was refreshed and re-aligned with key partners and
work was initiated around establishing an OHCP Children & Families Transformation Board.
This Board will provide a forum for partner agencies to specifically focus on partnership
working and system transformation to improve outcomes for children, young people and
families across the local area.
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COMMISSIONING MATERNITY SERVICES
Maternity Quality Oversight
Generally, the delivery of maternity services operating at/from PAH continued throughout
the pandemic, although having to adapt to ensure public safety in line with national
guidance. This includes care for all women booked with the Trust as well as community care
for West Essex women booked with Trusts outside of West Essex. The significant impact on
staffing capacity was effectively managed and protocols quickly put in place for COVIDpositive women. Although restrictions on accompanying partners and visitors were
understood and well received at the start of the pandemic, as time went on, women and
their partners expressed their concerns around limitations imposed by the Trust.
Working with the local Maternity Voices Partnership and with support from national
guidance, the Trust were able to extend visiting within acceptable limits whilst maintaining
the safety of patients and staff. Working with Trusts across the Hertfordshire & West Essex
Local Maternity & Neonatal System, the Trust carried out a review of changes to practice,
innovation and impact during COVID, with an adopt/amend/abandon analysis. Much of the
new ways of working were adopted and developed further, including virtual antenatal
classes, transition of the early pregnancy unit to appointment only, development of the
virtual midwife service, and more joined up working with the Essex Child & Family Wellbeing
Service.
In July 2019 PAH maternity was inspected by the Care Quality Commission. The resulting
rating at this inspection was ‘requires improvement’ in ‘safe, effective, responsive’ and ‘well
led’. Following this decline in grading to ‘requires improvement’, the trust became part of
the national Maternity Patient Safety Programme and were allocated an NHSI
representative to support them to improve their service and implement actions identified
during the inspection. West Essex CCG has continued to maintain oversight of the services
delivered and also offers ongoing support whilst seeking assurance that the needs of service
users are being met.
The quality of services are continuously monitored by West Essex CCG through quality
assurance visits, monthly maternity quality group meetings, and close working relationships
with the PAH Maternity staff. Incidents within the department are shared and
implementation of any learning identified is monitored through action plans. The trust
continues to demonstrate engagement and transparency with regulators and
commissioners.
Following the publication of the Ockenden Report outlining initial findings from the review
of maternity services in Shrewsbury and Telford, a number of national immediate actions
were identified. West Essex CCG supported PAH in a response to the Regional Chief Midwife
outlining their achievement and progress against the required actions, as well as supporting
completion of an assurance assessment tool. The immediate and essential actions outlined
in the report link to many wider work streams including maternity incentive scheme,
strengthening midwifery leadership, better births and the perinatal surveillance model.
Wider discussion is being held across the Local Maternity & Neonatal System and work will
remain on going to complete any identified actions within expected timescales.
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Local Maternity & Neonatal System (LMNS)
The maternity transformation programme across the LMNS was mostly put on hold during
the early stages of the pandemic. However, developments continued in some areas
including the implementation of a Mum and Baby App to support personalisation and choice
in an accessible digital format. Other achievements during 20/21 have included (among
many others): developing an action plan and establishing an operational group to take
forward work around improving care for women from black, Asian and minority ethnic
backgrounds, rolling out further Continuity of Carer training and establishing new teams
covering the West Essex area, establishing an LMNS wide serious incident assurance and
scrutiny group, implementation of the offer for continuous glucose monitoring for women
with type 1 diabetes, appointment of a Maternity Voices Partnership Representative across
the LMNS geography and extending engagement with women and their partners, and
securing continued funding for the Petals Counselling Service.
Emotional Wellbeing and Mental Health Service (EWMHS)
The EWMH Service provided by NELFT (North East London Foundation Trust) has continued
to deliver services to children and young people (CYP) experiencing mental health
difficulties. In light of the current pandemic there is recognition that there is likely to be a
continued increase in the number of children referred in to the service as the numbers of
CYP experiencing mental health difficulties is increasing nationally. Some key enhancements
to support the service for 2020/21 are outlined as follows.
Crisis Service
NELFT had reported a recent rise in the number of CYP attending A&E who had not
previously been in receipt of care from the EWMHS service and, though the numbers (when
looking at year to date (YTD) figures) were only slightly higher in 2019/2020, the number of
first and follow-up appointments required had significantly risen.
There have been some similarities in presentations and the increase in numbers is reported
to be fairly evenly spread across Essex. In 2020/21 the Provider will continue to deliver an
effective specialist crisis services for children and young people (CYP) in Essex providing a
response within 4 hours for those experiencing a mental health crisis alongside a specialist
intensive support pathway to support service users for a period of time post crisis.
Access Targets
In 2017/18, the NHS committed to widen access so that 70,000 more children and young
people would be able to access appropriate mental health services. “Implementing the Five
Year Forward View” set out an indicative national annual trajectory and CCGs set out plans
to deliver this. The intention was that at least 35% of CYP with a diagnosable MH condition
receive treatment from NHS-funded community MH service by 2020/21 and additional
funds were allocated to widen access as part of the CYP mental health service
transformation.
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Emotional Wellbeing Mental Health Service Learning Disabilities Team (EWMHS LD)
The service supports CYP with both a mental health problem and a range of related complex
developmental disorders and helps establish behavioural management strategies which can
be used effectively with each child within a neutral and therapeutic environment, before
supporting families/schools to replicate this within the home/school environment. Where
this is not possible by EWMHS/LD staff, liaison with Social Services and/or Educational
Services will take place to ensure consistency across all environments and to encourage
long-term success. For 2020/21 additional investment has been agreed for the Emotional
Wellbeing and Mental Health Service Learning Disability (EWMHS/LD) team to support their
service which has seen the caseload continue to grow in number as the acceptance of cases
outweighs the discharges. The service will continue to offer assessment, treatment and
support, assessment for referrals to Tier 4 (inpatient) services, and advice, consultation and
training to parents, carers and other professionals, working in an integrated way across
Health, Social Care and Education.
Eating Disorder Service (EWMHS ED)
The EWMHS Eating Disorder service has seen an increase in the number of children and
young people requiring support from the service. In order to enhance service delivery and to
continue to achieve the national Access and Waiting Time Standard for Children and Young
People with an Eating Disorder additional funding has been agreed for 2020/21 to Improve
the experience of young people admitted to acute hospitals whilst undergoing treatment
due to physical health complications relating to their Eating Disorder, extend the physical
health clinics to offer more patient choice and to extend the provision of consultation to
generic EWMHS teams and hospitals.
Care Education Treatment Reviews (CETR)
The CETR team continues to successfully provide care education treatment reviews for all
children and young people who require this. These have been provided predominantly
through telephone meetings and where families have expressed a preference for a virtual
meeting this has been accommodated. Some children and young people have been happy to
share their views virtually.
Additional Support for CYP Mental Health
As a collaborative, we have continued to make progress with much needed improvements
being achieved and have demonstrated a commitment to easier access to care, shorter
waiting times and measureable improvements in the emotional wellbeing and mental
health of our children and young people through the development of services such as
primary school workshops, Kooth, Triple P – an on line parenting programme and
counselling offers that are not available under EWMHS. The additional services that have
been commissioned across the independent and voluntary community sector will continue
to support EWMHS in meeting the mental health needs of CYP in Essex throughout 2020/21.
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ADULTS MENTAL HEALTH
The CCG continued to work with all system partners in managing demand and capacity
across mental health, learning disabilities and autism services, including IAPT provision and
specialist services, during 20/21 and the coronavirus emergency.
Healthy Minds, the West Essex IAPT (Improving Access to Psychological Therapies) Service
(provided by Hertfordshire Partnership NHS Foundation Trust (HPFT)) continued to provide
the full range of IAPT interventions, although in line with social distancing. Face-to-face
work with service users ceased during the pandemic; digital, virtual or telephone support
was being offered in place of this. Individuals were accessing the service via their GP or their
PCN Mental Health Worker (under the community mental health transformation pilot noted
earlier). Alternatively, where patients are motivated and engaged they were directed to
self-refer via the Healthy Minds website which is regularly updated with additional self-help
materials to provide people with important information about COVID-19 and how they can
look after their health and wellbeing while they are at home. The primary care mental
health offer was expanded to include webinars for the general population locally, on living
with coronavirus and managing uncertainty, sleep difficulties, problem solving, keeping
active and maintaining routines, seeking support and reducing impact of isolation for
example, using guided self-help packages. As well as working with system partners to
develop a package of support for key workers and frontline staff who will almost certainly
experience heightened levels of stress, anxiety and on occasion trauma in the course of
their work at this challenging time.
A procurement process was launched in November 2020 following extensive stakeholder
engagement (both internal & external) to secure a capable provider to deliver a new high
quality talking therapies service, also known as Improving Access to Psychological Therapies
(IAPT). The service will be in line with the IAPT Manual, but also meets the requirements set
out within the local needs pertinent to the population of west Essex and takes into account
the need to create a partnership approach with the west Essex system, particularly with
Primary Care Networks and secondary care mental health services. The procurement
process concluded in January 2021 with an anticipated start for the new service being 1 st
August 2021.
Specialist secondary mental health services (provided by EPUT) also remained fully
operational. The most notable change to service delivery (for community services) is
remote triage to assess whether a face-to-face appointment is clinically necessary, or
whether follow up care and advice can be given using remote consultation, to minimise risk
of COVID-19 transmission. Patients were, and continue to be RAG rated according to clinical
risk, and where patients require face-to-face consultation, infection prevention and control
measures are being applied.
Memory Assessment/Dementia Services: where assessment is indicated, these have been
undertaken virtually; where dementia is indicative, a diagnosis has been provided to ensure
individuals have access to other services. EPUT have continued to work with The Alzheimer’s
Society to provide support to carers of those living with dementia and those who have a
loved one in a care home where they are not able to visit.
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Inpatient facilities remain operational in line with NHSE/I guidance; nursing in isolation is
being undertaken where possible to reduce the risk of contagion among specific, vulnerable
patients. Enhanced physical monitoring and measures to support infection control were put
in place on wards. Furthermore, robust review of community alternatives was undertaken
for all referrals for admission; where admission is clinically indicated, patients are screened
for COVID-19 symptoms to ensure appropriate bed allocation.
Restoration and recovery planning continued throughout the year within the Trust since
early May, with referral rates into services seeing a return to pre-COVID levels through June.
On declaration of the CoVID-19 national major incident, EPUT undertook a series of actions
in response to nationally mandated guidance to enable a reduction in occupancy in
psychiatric inpatient units (to approx. 50%), thereby creating sufficient space on units to
cohort patients who may show symptoms of COVID-19. Throughout the year inpatient
occupancy rose to an average of 85%.
At the start of lockdown, the mental health liaison service saw a significant reduction in
mental health crisis presentations at the Emergency Department however activity began to
increase through May/June (although not to pre-COVID levels). Whilst this mirrored the
national picture of ED attendances, a reduction in throughput was also likely in-part to be
due to the mobilisation of the new 24/7 Community Crisis Service, which is now well
established across Essex (through NHS 111) and has seen an average of 500 calls for West
Essex residents per month since April. A mental health diversion pathway was also
established within the Emergency Department at PAHT; diverting patients who have
presented in mental health crisis (without medical/physical healthcare needs) away from
the ED and into the Derwent Centre for assessment/care. This reduced the number of
patients physically within the ED space (reducing risk of Covid-19 transmission) and is
proving a more suitable environment for MH assessment; discussions are on-going
regarding retaining this pathway moving forward.
As part of our Winter Funding programme additional resources were provided to:
Adult/Older Adult Enhanced Mental Health/Wellbeing Peer Support Offer: face-to-face
assertive outreach offer; increasing access to peer support during the winter period and
in context of on-going restrictions relating to COVID-19 (to focus on local inequalities
whether this be age / gender / BAME groups etc.).
Additional Capacity for Essex Health Based Place of Safety: proportion of Essex-wide
contribution to two additional HBPoS rooms in Basildon Hospital, for utilisation by Essex
Police across all CCG populations in Essex (HBPoS – Health Based Place of Safety)
Temporary B&B Provision (up to 5 days) to support discharge
Home First additional Staff resource to ensure patients are able to be supported after
discharge

45

Budget to support individuals (and their families) returning home or at home:
miscellaneous i.e. transport / deep cleaning / home adaptations
Purchase of additional support into older adult Intensive Support Team (IST) to in-reach
into care homes & stop placement breakdowns
Trusted Assessor post across Essex to work as part of discharge teams / pathways
These additional service and support were also provided by Voluntary Organisations via subcontracting arrangement(s) through EPUT.
Learning Disabilities
The Essex Learning Disabilities Partnership (ELDP) service ensured that individuals continue
to be supported during the COVID-19 pandemic, an EDLP risk stratification remains in place;
ensuring all people referred and, based on the level of risk and need, the services are
stratifying people as either high, medium or low risk ( RAG rated as Red, Amber and Green
respectively).
During this period an “outreach” model of working was developed to maintaining regular
contact with those people they would normally have been seen as outpatients.
•

Red Rating

Those people whose needs are rated as red receive a direct service, tailored around
individual need and will, in most cases receive daily contact.
• Amber Rating
Those people whose needs are rated as amber are contacted and receive a confirmation
letter. The letter includes a contact number for the service for use if there is a significant
change or crisis. Otherwise people rated as amber are contacted generally each week to
ensure they are ok and not at risk of crisis.
• Green Rating
Those people whose needs are rated as green are contacted and receive a confirmation
letter. The letter includes a contact number for the service for use if there is a significant
change or crisis. Otherwise people rated as green are contacted generally each month.
The service also continued to be available to provide advice and support to health and social
care services during CoVID and 2020/21. This included but was not limited to:
•
•

Working with the learning disability liaison nurses within the acute hospitals to
provide support and advice for people who need an admission;
Advice and support for health professionals in other settings (GP’s, Community
Hospitals, mental health services, community health services etc.) who are working
with people with learning disabilities;
46

•
•

Advice and support to social care providers who are working with people who may
need additional support to access mainstream health services;
Advice and support to social care providers who are supporting people with learning
disabilities whose behaviours may be becoming more challenging or risky during this
time.

ELDP provided additional support (and continues to do so) to vaccination centres to make
reasonable adjustments so they are accessible to people with a learning disability, this is
achieved by working with both local health and social care systems. Targeted support to
individuals who are needle phobic and/or have a fear of mainstream health services,
including those who live in care homes or supported living schemes.
During this financial year EQUIP were commissioned by the partnership to work with Essex
County Council and GP practices to check the accuracy of LD registers and improve
identification of people living with learning disabilities; identifying individuals that may been
known to LD services (health or social care) but not registered as having a LD on GP
registers. This has helped in improving the accuracy of LD registers.
West Essex continues to work with system partners across Essex to assist people to attend
their Annual Health Check (AHC) and to ensure people with LD received their vaccinations in
line with national guidance.

CONTINUING HEALTHCARE (CHC)
NHS Continuing Healthcare means a package of on-going care that is arranged and funded
solely by the NHS where the individual has been found to have a ‘primary health need’ as
set out in the NHS National Framework for Continuing Healthcare and Funded Nursing Care
(2018). Such care is provided to an individual aged 18 or over to meet needs that have
arisen as a result of disability, accident or illness.
The actual services provided as part of the package should be seen in the wider context of
best practice and service development for each client group. Eligibility for NHS continuing
healthcare places no limits on the settings in which the package of support can be offered or
on the type of service delivery.
NHS-funded nursing care is the funding provided by the NHS to homes providing nursing to
support the provision of nursing care by a registered nurse. Since 2007 NHS-funded nursing
care has been based on a single band rate. In all cases, individuals should be considered for
eligibility for NHS continuing healthcare before a decision is reached about the need for
NHS-funded nursing care. The CCG is committed to on-going improvement of the CHC
service in a challenging financial climate and ensuring that patients are individually assessed
and reviewed.
Since 2015 all patients in receipt of Continuing Healthcare funding to manage their care
needs are able to request a Personal Health Budget (PHB) and within the West Essex CCG,
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the CHC team has focused on the care and support planning to give patients more
autonomy as to how they wish to receive their care either receiving the monies and
arranging the care they wish to receive in the way they wish this to be carried out. If a
patient chooses not to receive this, the CCG continues to manage the care and this is called
a notional budget

UPCOMING CHANGES TO KEY PERFORMANCE STANDARDS
Cancer 28 Day Faster Diagnosis Standard (FDS)
A new ‘Faster Diagnosis Standard’ will ensure that all patients who are referred for the
investigation of suspected cancer find out, within 28 days, if they do or do not have a cancer
diagnosis. This should help to reduce anxiety for patients and speed up diagnosis times.
This standard was due to come into effect from April 2020, however was delayed due to
COVID-19. Hospitals have started to record this data in in shadow form and systems will be
expected to meet the new standard, initially to be introduced at a level of 75%, from
Quarter 3 of 2021/22.
Access Standards
Following a national review, changes to standards in mental health services, cancer care,
elective care and urgent and emergency care are being field tested at a selection of sites
across England. Revised standards were originally expected to come in during spring 2020,
but the programme of work has been delayed due to COVID-19. NHS England and
Improvement is currently seeking views on new urgent and emergency care standards
which will inform final guidance in 2021/22.
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FINANCIAL OVERVIEW 2020-21
Capital Expenditure
The CCG did not receive any capital resource from NHS England during 2020-21
The CCG managed within its maximum cash drawdown limit during 2020-21
Performance Process
The CCG has a robust performance management regime for its internal performance against
national and local targets as well as key clinical and financial indicators. These targets and
indicators are monitored on a monthly basis by the Executive Team and the Finance and
Performance Committee, with each target having an identified senior lead. This is reported
to each Board meeting in public, to provide an open and transparent view of performance in
all areas of the business.
The Board receives a summary finance report at every public meeting. A full finance report
is reviewed in detail by the Finance and Performance Committee.
Commissioning Activities
A key priority for the CCG is to ensure that maximum value for money is being achieved
through effective commissioning arrangements, as the majority of the CCG’s expenditure is
spent on commissioning healthcare services. Whilst healthcare providers are required to
deliver a continuous programme of efficiency and productivity improvements, the CCG also
must demonstrate that it is properly considering the health needs of the local population
and commissioning those services that address those needs.
An analysis of the key NHS Provider contracts by value is as follows:
Outturn 2020-21
Provider
£'000
Princess Alexandra NHS Trust
160,259
West Herts Hospitals NHS Trust
42,662
East & North Herts NHS Trust
28,199
Cambridge University Hospital NHS FT
28,863
Barts Health NHS Trust
25,698
EPUT Mental Health Contract
23,793
EPUT Community Contract
18,270
Mid & South Essex FT
17,029
EOE Ambulance Trust
14,119
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The CCG continues to ensure it achieves value for money in all its contracting activities
through the performance management framework, including the monitoring of a range of
key indicators and performance reviews with all key service providers.
Looking Forward 2021-22
In recognition of the impact of the COVID-19 pandemic, NHS England has maintained the
same financial framework that was introduced in the second half of 2020/21 (H2). This will
continue for at least the first six months of 2021/22.
The financial envelope for Hertfordshire and West Essex (HWE) ICS has been provided by
NHS England and comprises of the adjusted CCG allocation, based on agreed spend,
including costs incurred as a response to managing the pandemic, and the system’s
prospective top-up and COVID-19 allocations, based on the allocations provided in the
second half of 2020/21,with allowances for inflation and policy priorities.
The commissioning of services from the Independent Sector Providers has now returned to
the CCGs and the health system will need to work together to ensure that the total capacity
available to the NHS is fully utilised in a way that will enable significant reductions in waiting
times for patients and ensure that services are prioritised for those with the greatest need.
The requirement for the CCG to continue to increase funding within Mental Health in line
with their allocation growth continues and West Essex CCG is planning to meet the Mental
Health Investment Standard (MHIS) in 2021/22.
Details of the financial planning arrangements for the second half of 2021/22 are expected
to be published by NHS England during the summer.
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PROGRESS AGAINST AGREED TARGETS

The NHS response to the COVID-19 pandemic throughout the whole of 2020/21 has had an unprecedented impact on performance against the
key outcomes and obligations set out as part of the NHS Constitution. Non-urgent elective activity was nationally suspended in year, and COVID19 has had a major impact on Trust A&E, Intensive Care, Staffing and Bed Capacity.
The West Essex healthcare system, across all sectors, quickly established new ways of working and processes to ensure that patients were
prioritised in terms of clinical need. Patients requiring urgent care, surgery or cancer treatment continued to receive their care by maximising
internal and Independent Sector capacity and staffing. Despite the unique challenges this year West Essex performance has remained
comparatively strong when benchmarked alongside the overall national and regional positions.
Contractual standards are set in line with national guidelines which can be found at: http://www.england.nhs.uk/statistics/statistical-workareas/
The sections below outline the key performance areas and highlights for the CCG’s main service providers. Performance of other providers (and
against the full range of commissioned standards) is monitored via reports received at the CCG’s Quality and Finance & Performance Committees.
Acute Trust Metrics

Item

Descriptor

A&E

Percentage of A&E attendances
where the patient spends four
hours or less in A&E from arrival to
transfer, admission or discharge

Standard

95%

Performance

Performance

Performance

Princess
Alexandra
Hospital (PAH)
81.5%

Addenbrookes

Barts Health

Period

*

87.2%

2020/21
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12 Hour Trolley Waits

Number of patients waiting 12
hours or more following the
decision to admit by a clinician

Zero tolerance

175

561

745

2020/21

Referral to Treatment (RTT)

Percentage of patients on an
elective waiting list who have
waited less than 18 weeks from
referral

92%

72.9%

60.4%

*

2020/21

52 Week Breaches

Number of patients on an elective
waiting list who have waited more
than 52 weeks from referral
Percentage of patients whose
diagnostic test is undertaken less
than 6 weeks from request

Zero tolerance

1,286

4,785

15,864

March
21

99%

60.4%

42.7%

29.7%

2020/21

2 Week Wait
2 Week Wait (Breast)
31 Day Standard
62 Day Standard

Percentage of patients who receive
a first appointment within 2 weeks
of referral, commence treatment
within 31 days of diagnosis, and
commence treatment within 62
days of referral

93%
93%
96%
85%

82.7%
87.9%
90.5%
64.1%

94.8%
93.4%
90.1%
78.5%

95.1%
94.0%
99.3%
86.8%

2020/21

MRSA

Number of preventable MRSA
infections recorded

Zero tolerance

Zero

5

9

2020/21

Diagnostics

Cancer

54

C Diff

Number of C Diff infections
recorded

Annual Ceilings:

54

71

88

2020/21

PAH – 27
Addenbrookes – 95
Barts – 92

* Addenbrookes and Barts Health continued to participate in national pilots of revised access measures as part of the National Clinical Review
of NHS Access Standards. Reporting against the current national standards was suspended in 19/20.
Other Key Metrics
Item

Descriptor

Provider

Dementia

Percentage of estimated population
prevalence with dementia who are
recorded on Primary Care Dementia
Registers

GP Practices

Improving Access to
Percentage of estimated population Hertfordshire
Psychological Therapies (IAPT) prevalence with depression / anxiety Partnership FT
– Access
disorders who access the IAPT
(HPFT)
service
Improving Access to
Percentage of people completing
Psychological Therapies (IAPT) their IAPT course who have met
– Recovery
agreed improvement / recovery
measures

Hertfordshire
Partnership FT
(HPFT)

Standard

Performance

Period

66.7%

67.9%

2020/21

5.5% per quarter
(Q1-3)

13.1%

2020/21

50.2%

2020/21

6.25% in Q4
50%
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Early Intervention in Psychosis Percentage of patients with a care
(EIP)
package in place within 2 weeks of a
first episode of psychosis

Essex Partnership
University NHS FT
(EPUT)

60%

84.5%

2020/21

Responsive Mental Health
Percentage of assessments
Liaison (Core 24) Emergency
undertaken < 1 hour
Department (ED) Assessments

Essex Partnership
University NHS FT
(EPUT)

95%

91.9%

2020/21

Children & Young People
Mental Health Crisis
Assessments

Percentage of assessments
undertaken < 4 hours

North East London
NHS FT (NELFT)

100%

99.4%

2020/21

Ambulance Response Times

Percentage of ambulances that
reach the patient within the
required standards of:

East of England
Ambulance Service
Trust (EEAST)

Cat 1 90th centile
Cat 1 mean time
Cat 2 90th centile
Cat 2 mean time
Cat 3 90th centile
Cat 4 90th centile

14 mins, 31 secs
7 mins, 45 secs
55 mins, 39 secs
27 mins, 0 secs
144 mins, 56 secs
192 mins, 8 secs

2020/21

< 15 min
< 7 min
< 40 min
< 18 min
< 120 min
< 180 min

CCG Improvement & Assessment Framework (IAF) / Annual Assurance Rating
The headline assurance rating for West Essex CCG in 2019/20 was “Good”, maintaining the previous year’s rating.
CCGs are assessed against a range of wide metrics (60 indicators) under the headline categories of:
•

New Service Models
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•
•
•
•

Preventing Ill Health and Reducing Inequalities
Quality of Care and Outcomes
Leadership and Workforce
Finance and Use of Resources

CCGs receive an overall assessment that places their performance in one of four categories:
•
•
•
•

Outstanding
Good
Requires Improvement, or
Inadequate

Despite the COVID-19 challenges detailed throughout this report, West Essex CCG has adapted and responded well to meet the needs of the
local population and expects to be assessed as “Good” or higher in 2020/21.
Final assessments 2020/21 will not be published until the summer of 2021.
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ENGAGING PEOPLE AND COMMUNITY – SOME EXAMPLES
OF OUR WORK
This year, more than ever before, the CCG recognised the importance of engaging with
patients and members of the public. Without productive and trusted relationships between
the CCG, partners, providers, elected representatives and the wider public, it would not
have been possible to understand what was required of the CCG to address the health and
wellbeing needs of the population.
Working with the voluntary sector
The pandemic opened up the opportunity to work even more closely with colleagues from
the voluntary sector and Healthwatch Essex. The CCG has proactively sought insights from
voluntary sector colleagues via regular virtual meetings throughout the pandemic. This has
informed CCG activity going forward and led to collaboration with wider partners on work
around health inequalities, to increase the uptake of the flu jab and promoting key
messaging around COVID-19 vaccinations and staying safe.
Health inequalities
The CCG is working as part of a multi-agency group to identify health inequalities within our
population and move to address these.
This long-term piece of work includes collaboration with organisations including Essex
County Council and its Lived Experience project, Healthwatch Essex, colleagues from across
local authority and healthcare in Essex and Hertfordshire, among others. This work seeks to
not only identify and address health inequalities in direct relation to the COVID-19 pandemic
and vaccination programme, but also wider issues around digital inequalities and access to
healthcare.
This work is vital to ensure targeted efforts are made to reach those who may not
traditionally engage with health and social care services, so they are offered the same
opportunities for vaccination and care as others in the population.
Events
In September 2020 the CCG organised and led a workshop of key partners and voluntary
sector colleagues to support communication around the flu vaccinations and COVID-19. The
event was well attended and productive, leading to new ways to share messaging with
people who may not normally engage with health services.
As part of the COVID-19 vaccination programme, the CCG is planning a vaccination
workshop to similarly engage with harder to reach groups within the west Essex population.
Led by the CCG in collaboration with local authority, public health, Healthwatch Essex and
voluntary sector colleagues, the event will offer a chance to ask questions and provide
insight and ways forward to best encourage specific groups to have their vaccines.
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Citizens’ Panel
Building on last year’s efforts to establish a Citizen’s Panel, work has continued to encourage
a wider cross-section of the community to join in and play a part. A key achievement of this
was engagement with the Epping Forest District Youth Council, which showed active interest
in learning about the health service, how they can engage and the issues important to their
members. An outcome of this engagement was a request for the CCG to open a One Health
and Care Partnership Twitter account, in addition to the Facebook page, to engage younger
audiences like themselves. This has now been established and work to populate it ongoing.
Further work is continuing to grow the membership through collaboration with Essex
County Council.
Keeping people informed
The CCG uses various methods of communication to inform and engage with patients, the
public, staff and stakeholders.
The One Health and Care Partnership newsletter is a monthly digital publication circulated
to Citizens Panel members who have requested to receive it, including wider stakeholders
and elected members. The newsletter focuses on the joint working relationship between
the CCG, Princess Alexandra Hospital and the local authorities. Over the last year this has
focused on the pandemic response, but also encouraged residents to feed back to the CCG
with their observations and ideas on how the CCG can improve.
The One Health and Care Partnership itself now has an established Board which meets bimonthly and works to a set of agreed actions for the benefit of wider services and patient
care.
Stakeholders are also kept fully briefed via a regular briefing. This has led to a closer working
relationship between key organisations, individuals and the CCG to ensure the public and
patients are kept fully informed and have a route through which to send their enquiries.
Social Media
The CCG has used its LinkedIn, Facebook and Twitter accounts as a key channel to broadcast
messages and receive comments. In addition to these platforms, the CCG has established
and updates a LinkedIn account to capture staff, other health and care colleagues and other
professionals.
The social media accounts have supported communications around awareness days, the
CCG’s work, key messages around flu and COVID and importantly, encouraging people to
continue contacting their GP if they require support.
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Everyone is welcome in primary care
The vast majority of our residents are registered with a GP, but we are aware that some may
not be. This could be for many reasons, including not knowing how to register, feeling
anxious about using health services, being homeless or not feeling like they don’t have the
correct form of identification.
A national campaign began in February 2021 to encourage everyone to register with a GP –
not only to make sure they can access care for their medical needs, but also so that they can
be called for a COVID vaccination when they are eligible. People do not need to provide
proof of address or their immigration status in order to register with a GP practice.
Engaging with primary care colleagues
Primary care colleagues, including GPs, practice nurses, practice managers and support
staff, are a key CCG audience. Keeping primary care colleagues informed and hearing their
feedback in return is key to ensuring the CCG provides the best possible care to the local
population.
The CCG has increased its two-way communication with GPs in several ways:
•

COVID-19 briefing

The daily COVID-19 briefing for GPs was launched in March 2020 following outbreak pf
the pandemic. This replaced the fortnightly GP Connect newsletter and focused on the
fast-developing guidance to support primary care’s response to the pandemic. The daily
briefing was reduced to three times a week and by December 2020, once a week to
reflect the volume of information. The briefing also includes relevant webinars, training
and updates from partners
•

GP Hub

The GP Hub website is a password-protected site that contains all past copies of the
COVID-19 briefing. It went live in April 2020 and has continued evolving. It now has an
active news section, resources including podcasts and webinars, toolkits and guidance.
•

Practice Manager Meetings

The CCG introduced weekly calls with practice managers at the start of the pandemic to
support practices with implementation of national guidance, provide a forum to respond
to queries and share best practice. Practice managers are invited to submit agenda
items in advance or raise matters on the day. Following consultation with managers,
meetings are now held on a fortnightly basis to reflect the current level of pandemic
response.
All four mediums are regularly reviewed and refreshed based on feedback from primary
care colleagues.
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PRIMARY CARE
Primary medical care services provide the first point of contact in the healthcare system,
acting as the ‘front door’ of the NHS and include general practice, community pharmacy,
dental, and optometry (eye health) services. Primary care for West Essex CCG as a fully
delegated group means responsibility for commissioning the 30 general practices in our
area. The total number of patients registered with a GP in West Essex as at 1 st January 2021
is 320,867 which is an increase of 2,269 on the previous year.
Achievements:
•

•

•

•

The CCG has supported practices to continue to deliver and restore primary medical
care service to the patient population of West Essex throughout the pandemic. The
focus continues on maintaining service provision, restoration recovery planning and
assurance of service delivery in primary care including the prioritisation of services to
those most at risk of COVID-19 and in line with Quality Outcomes Framework,
ensuring patient confidence in accessing GP services, tackling health inequalities
with a particular focus on learning disability patients and their carers and
preparation for winter demands.
As a result of the support provided by the CCG, tco date, no practices have needed
to close due to the impact of the pandemic. This has been achieved via the following
initiatives:
• Specialist support provided to practices to assist with business continuity
planning and preparation including ensuring adequate arrangements are in
place to cover if a practice is unable to open such as buddy practice
arrangements being secured with neighbouring practices.
• Practices encouraged and enabled to work in Primary Care Networks to
support each other and share resources.
• Practices supported with specialist advice and guidance around infection
prevention and control compliance including COVID-secure assessments being
offered to all practices to identify potential risks and mitigations for those
risks. To date all practices have undertaken the COVID-secure assessment.
• Practices have also been supported through the development of COVID-19
outbreak and cluster action cards detailing what steps to take to ensure
consistency of response when a staff member has tested positive for COVID19.
• The CCG has held weekly meetings with practice managers to provide
regular updates and give practices the opportunity to raise questions and
concerns.
Following notification that a Hotel in West Essex was to be utilised as contingency
accommodation for Asylum Seekers, an enhanced primary medical care service was
developed and implemented rapidly to ensure this patient cohort had access to the
services they require.
Working with the Local Medical Committee which are locally elected committees of
general practitioners to ensure consistency and collaborative working across the CCG.
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•

•
•

•
•
•
•
•
•
•

•
•
•
•

•
•

•

•

•
•

•
•

Agreeing schemes worth around £80,000 that aimed to help practices who need more
intensive and immediate support to stabilise, build their resilience and become
sustainable. This support ranged from practice management and project management
capacity support to more specialist advice, guidance and intervention.
Supporting the process of practice mergers and closures for practices as required.
Supported practices with recovery and improvement planning following CQC ratings
of inadequate and requires improvement to ensure the required improvements have
been implemented and embedded to ensure the best outcomes for patients.
Supported practices with preparation for CQC inspections by way of mock visits, action
planning and review.
Worked closely with the CQC to share learning and improve quality of services
Two West Essex practices were within the top 10% nationally for patient satisfaction
Worked with NHS England to support delivery of screening and immunisation
programmes.
Developed a local People Plan across Herts and W Essex ICS and providing training
and retention initiatives to support Primary care
West Essex CCG Training Hub website launched and West Essex New to Practice
Booklet, newly launched in 2020/21.
Anglia Ruskin Medical School (ARU) links and recruitment fairs: medical school
interviewing and examining. Increased W Essex practices taking ARU students.
School Recruitment fairs.
Work with GP vocational training scheme links. Balint educational group for ST3s.
International GP Recruitment: including two West Essex GPs.
Active recruitment and support for practices. Working with partner organisations :
Essex Primary Care careers (EPCC) and Essex EQUIP
National GP Retention Scheme to support eligible GPs, Allied Health Practitioners
(AHPs) and General Practice Nurses (GPNs), requiring support to remain in the
workforce.
Locum GPs; support for Locum GPs, access to workforce bureau. A West Essex
Locum group.
Targeted action to retain as many GPNs as possible in the workforce reflecting the
specific needs of this staff group. Nurse forums across all areas of the CCG and
WhatsApp support.
Supported delivery of the 10 Point Nursing Plan initiatives, including up skilling the
nursing workforce, increasing pre-registration nurse placements, developing HCAs
and educational networks for GPN leaders.
Workforce Bureau, to support GPs, including recently retired GPs, Emergency
Registered Practitioners (up to 3 years post retirement from the performer list) and
Medical Support workers (3-5 years since retirement) during COVID-19
Peer networks to support the additional roles within Primary Care Networks (PCNs)
Promoted and recruited GPs and nurses to train as coaches in the area. Actively
promoted and recruited west Essex GPs and GPNs for the ICS led mentoring
programme.
Business Fundamentals courses. Three cohorts have been recruited for the GP
course. Practice Manager course launched 2020
Eight Enhanced GP Fellowships in West Essex: Princess Alexandra Hospital
(cardiology and dermatology), hospice setting (St Clare Hospice), community setting,
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•
•
•
▪
▪
▪

▪

▪
▪
▪

▪

EPUT (elderly care and mental health) WECCG/ Herts and W Essex ICS 2 digital health
fellowships.
Promoting the New to Practice scheme and mentorship and coaching for new GPs
and nurses. New to Partnership Payment promoted.
First 5 GPs education events. Peer support group.
Mid-career GPs in W Essex to incentivise retention: Portfolio GPs: A paid session/
week in a speciality. Mid- career grants heavily promoted and accessed.
GP returner schemes: GP welcome back to work scheme live.
Events for GPs on career breaks: PlusBaby West Essex. Wise5 GPs: group and
meetings.
5 bespoke wellbeing training sessions for West Essex Primary Care. The session was
titled ‘Well Being during the Pandemic’. Relaxation and breathing training developed
and delivered to support wellbeing of all primary care colleagues.
Virtual training events developed paramedic bespoke, COVID lecture series Essex
EQUIP, mental health training nurses & AHPs, domestic violence training, CCG GPVTS
event.
WECCG Vaccination Site learning and update event
Delivering bespoke training for practice managers: succession planning, leadership,
influencing skills and finance.
During 19/20 CCG funded eight protected learning time events to enable practice
staff and Primary Care Networks. During 2020/21 a virtual Time to Learn (TTL) was
delivered in July 2020.
Care Navigation training to non-clinical staff and document management solution for
practices was completed 2019-2020.

Medicines Optimisation
There has been good collaboration across the system – a local pharmacy leadership “cell”
has been established since the start of the pandemic (Membership Chief Pharmacist for
CCG, PAH, Lead Pharmacist for HUC and LPC) which has successfully provided co-ordination
of the local response to COVID-19 issues related to medicine and pharmacy.
Leadership locality pharmacy cells set up; integrated as part of the EPPR structure. The core
functions are:
•
•
•
•

Professional and clinical leadership on pharmacy and medicines across the identified
locality.
Professional advice and medicines governance – pragmatic, prompt decision-making
and problem solving through system support.
Co-ordination of local response to COVID-19 issues related to medicines and
pharmacy.
Key communications link to the NHSE/I regional team and across the locality
covered.
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•

Staff deployment plan development – across and between organisations if
necessary, including community and potential Nightingale sites, the staff
deployment plans– across and between organisations if necessary, including
community pharmacy has been appreciated by all sectors.

The CCG team has supported with advice and guidance on clinical issues, such as end of life
prescribing and non-clinical issues, such as stock queries, queries relating to pharmacy and
logistics of access to medicines. Again, there has been excellent collaboration with the local
voluntary sector support people in isolation getting access to their medicines. The CCG had
already commissioned certain pharmacies to stock to end-of-life medicines. During this
incident, the drug list has been regularly reviewed, quantities stocked increased, and more
pharmacies commissioned to stock these essential medicines. End-of-life medicines
available in each pharmacy, as well as opening times, are checked regularly and the results
shared with EPUT, PAHT and HUC. A WhatsApp group has been set up with willing
community pharmacies to resolve stock/ supply and other issues quickly
The field-based CCG medicines team started in March supporting the majority of practices
with putting patients on electronic repeat dispensing as per the COVID-19 Preparedness
Letter on March 19th which states in Annex A: “Practices must use the Electronic
Prescription Service (EPS) and should aim to move patients to electronic repeat dispensing
unless there is a clinical reason not to do so. There should be no move to increase the
duration of prescriptions.”
West Essex System Medicines and Pharmacy Teams also responded to the Call to Action to
Support Care Homes providing care homes with a single point of access for all medicines
and pharmacy related queries (with monitored response times) i.e. timely access to advice
for care home staff and residents. All queries are logged and learning shared / resources
developed. A named clinical pharmacist was assigned to support every care home who is
also supporting practices with weekly check ins/ MDTS with homes and undertaking
medication reviews. The team also support care homes with medication ordering process
and with stock / supply issues. A protocol has been put in place for access to medicines in an
emergency.
Weekly learning/ peer review sessions have been established for clinical pharmacists
bringing together PCN employed pharmacists and CCG pharmacists and monthly virtual
pharmacist network meetings to bring pharmaceutical professionals from across the system
together to discuss topical themes and identify ways of working better together to support
people with optimising medicines use for better health outcomes.
More recently, the field-based team have been supporting the Primary Care COVID-19
vaccination sites. Lead Pharmacists have been allocated to each GP led vaccination site
providing pharmaceutical expertise and oversight with regard to the governance and
handling of the vaccines. The team have been extremely flexible – working weekend to
support the vaccination clinics as required.
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Winter Planning for west Essex
Every year, west Essex health and care partners work together to prepare for the additional
pressures of the winter period. Our system-wide Winter Plan focuses on the winter period
including the festive period. The plan is backed-up by a series of contingency plans for
unexpected events which have been tested with partner organisations. The plan has also
been produced in line with the West Essex Operational Pressure Escalation Framework, a
document that details how each partner organisation will act to mitigate periods of surge
and demand, as well as how they will mutually support one another. The plan included what
services are doing differently to strengthen capacity within acute, primary, community and
social care providers, including the extra staffing in place to support these services.
However, this year the initial focus for West Essex system was to respond to the COVID-19
pandemic, this then shifted to identifying priorities to support system recovery and winter
pressures. This is against the continued challenges of and the need to continue the system
wide response to the pandemic.
The West Essex system supported by the evolving Care Co-ordination centre worked to
deliver patient centred care, thinking “home first” and maximising available resources and
capacity. Below are key partner initiatives, some of which were developed and have been
adopted following the initial COVID-19 response:
Capacity
•

Think NHS111 First
o Direct booking from 111 and others into agreed SDEC pathways by 1 st
December.
o Direct booking from 111 into ED slots, Primary care and UTC.
o Streaming at front door of ED to reduce by 20% unheralded attendances.
o Increased 111 capacity to accommodate 20% additional capacity.

•

Direct booking available from 111 into primary care in hours for appropriate
symptom groups and dispositions.

•

Direct booking available from 111 into UTC for appropriate symptom groups and
dispositions.

•

Practices and PCNs to utilise Hot Hubs to support primary care demand during
winter to manage of adult and childhood acute respiratory illnesses alongside
COVID-19 to avoid potential ED attendances.

•

Commission additional primary capacity at practice or PCN level using hot hub
model. Need based on trend analysis and analysis of previous year’s activity/data,
including ED attendances and pharmacy winter utilisation. Modelling for COVID
cases and rising demand on 111/primary care to support demand/capacity plans.
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•

Primary Care Extended Access services – needs based on trend analysis and previous
year activity.

•

Further development of the PAH Patient@Home service through integration with
EPUT Community Services and Primary Care.

•

Fully flexible criteria for EPUT community beds supporting D2A and current Phase 3
and discharge guidance.

•

19 Intermediate care beds - accessed via MDT approach with a broad criteria
supporting patients that no longer need to be in an acute setting and medical needs
that can be met by primary care.

•

Identifying and commissioning ECC care home capacity (via system capacity cell).

•

Exploring option of sub-acute ward managed by community services - potential ward
identified, further exploration and development of model needed at pace.

•

24 Hour community nursing support.

•

Core 24 service (Mental Health Liaison) within PAH, which is staffed to fidelity and
providing assessment in line with the recommended response times following
referral (1 hour for emergency department referrals, 24 hours for inpatient ward
referrals).

•

Resumption and expansion of IAPT services.

Process Improvement
•
•
•

•
•
•
•
•
•

CAS within IUC is supporting the reduction of low acuity ambulance/ED dispositions
through re-validation and is also supporting palliative and complex patients.
111 online and text options available.
111 service has additional capacity built into model to cover unplanned and planned
contingencies including the re-purposing of services to support in times of extreme
pressure.
Review of paramedic pathways (999, EIV & Primary Care).
Hospital Ambulance Liaison Officer in Emergency Department 7 days per week.
Implementation of REACT (Frailty) team in ED, Short Stay and inpatient wards.
Operational oversight including daily patient flow calls and LoS calls.
Review of home first models across system.
Continue to develop the Care Co-ordination Centre model and ethos. Monitoring and
interrogation of system patient tracker to expedite patient flow and support horizon
scanning.
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•
•
•
•

Continue West Essex Care Home hub; meeting daily to review all care homes and have
representation from all partners, CQC and PHE.
Care home virtual MDT ward rounds – at least weekly and remote monitoring of
patients in care homes.
Trusted Assessor role within reablement service.
Proactively review all patients on community mental health teams’ caseloads and
increase therapeutic activity and supportive interventions to prevent relapse or
escalation of mental health needs for people with SMI in the community.

•

Continuing the recently established 24/7 Community Crisis Service accessible via
NHS 111 (option 2) and via direct clinician lines. Providing tele-coaching and urgent
crisis assessment in the community within 4hrs (emergency) and 24hrs (crisis) of the
call.

•

The Mental Health diversion pathway established within the ED during COVID-19;
diverting patients who have presented in mental health crisis (without
medical/physical healthcare needs) away from the ED and into the Derwent Centre
for assessment/care. This continues to reduce the number of patients physically
within the ED space (reducing risk of COVID-19 transmission and also providing
capacity) and is proving a more suitable environment for MH assessment COVID
Rehab pathway established from October - referrals funnelled via SPA, full MDT
approach ensuring access to appropriate wrap around services. Patient centred care
delivered holistically and addressing all needs post MDT rather than primary need
only.
Equipment stores for ED and IHDT to access. Frequently used items of equipment
stored to support timely discharge from the front and back door.

•
•

Review of patient transport provision and use of supplementary framework of patient
transport providers to support timely discharge from A&E and wards.

INFORMATION TECHNOLOGY AND ESTATES
Our Information Technology Service Management (ITSM) contract with Arden & GEM CSU is
in the third year, with programmes of work ongoing to support general practice, placing us
on a more secure platform with the ability to meet the demands of an increasing IT and Digital
landscape. A project to implement the Local Full Fibre Network (LFFN) has commenced,
enabling greater speeds and capacity for our practices.
My Care Record and Interoperability: The ICS wide shared care record programme is
underway and aims to deliver an ICS wide shared care record by September 2021 in line with
national requirements.
Digital First Primary Care: The ICS has secured funding to set up a digital first primary care
programme. This will support a number of initiatives including digital inclusion; improving
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remote access to primary care via online consultations and video consultations; sharing
information between community care settings; improved digital transfer of information via
primary and secondary care pathways; Office 365 role out and the Population health
management programme.
Online Consultation: Doctorlink has been adopted in a large number of GP practices in the
west Essex region, with over 30,000 patients registered and 29,000 symptom assessments
started. Some delays occurred with the product functionality which resulted in a temporary
slow-down of uptake. The pandemic has shifted requirements and subsequently, our suite
of online consultation products will be reprocured this year and it remains a key objective to
offer digital channels within all practices.
WECCG continue to host the local estates forum, making progress in utilising existing space
and supporting further schemes, along with key system partners. The CCG Primary Care
Estate Strategy focuses on providing capacity at a practice level where needed, including:
•

•
•

Crocus Medical Practice – work is already underway to relocate the practice from its
existing site in Castle Street Saffron Walden, to Saffron Walden Community Hospital.
Expected date of completion is June 2021.
Maynard Court – working with the local council, a new development is planned for
the practice close to the existing site.
Felsted – working with John Tasker House Practice and the patient participation
group to develop a new branch site for the local population.

The CCG Estates Strategy also focuses on the development of Primary Care Network (PCN)
capacity and each PCN is developing their own individual strategy which will identify and
provide additional sites which will enable the delivery of services at scale for their local
population. These planned PCN sites include:
•
•
•

Buckhurst Way Clinic – shortly to be used by Loughton, Buckhurst Hill, and Chigwell
PCN.
Lister House Harlow – Harlow South PCN will be using empty capacity at this site for
the delivery of urgent care for their registered patients.
Florence Nightingale House, Church Langley – Harlow North PCN will be utilising
available space.

West Essex CCG has also identified and mobilised several sites within the CCG for the
delivery of the national COVID-19 vaccination programme, working in partnership with NHS
Property Services and other local healthcare stakeholders.

REDUCING HEALTH INEQUALITY
People in West Essex typically experience better care than the average for Britain, although
some areas and groups do experience poorer than average health. This is often due to their
social and economic environment – in which people are born, grow, live, work and age –
and requires close work with local authorities, the voluntary sector, and communities
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themselves, which has been a principle in the development of the One Health and Care
Partnership. We have the opportunity with the population health management approach to
segment our population according to risk and offer tailored interventions accordingly.
The CCG is a partner to the Joint Health and Wellbeing Strategy and has a local plan to
deliver against the four priority areas of improving mental health and wellbeing, addressing
obesity diet and physical activity, behaviours linked in inequalities, and supporting people
with long-term conditions and disabilities. Reducing inequalities highlighted through COVID
in particular is a key priority for west Essex.

The West Essex Health Inequalities group, which is part of the wider Hertfordshire & West
Essex Inequalities programme, recognises wider determinants in mitigating health
inequalities. In recognition of this the four different work streams mainly led by non-health
partners have been established with data and evidence underpinning the whole
programme.
Our Immediate priority are vaccinations for hard to reach groups, teams from the Harlow PCN
have held outreach clinics at Permitted Development sites. The learning from this will be
applied to the shorter term priorities which are cancer screening, mental health, alcohol and
obesity. In March 2021, Hertfordshire and west Essex will begin the NHSE Population Health
Management Programme which will act as a catalyst for tackling health inequalities.

COVID-19 Vaccination Equity Programme
We are working with Essex County Council and our system partners across Essex to ensure
we deliver the ‘No one is left behind’ vaccination equity strategy. The strategy aims to
ensure everyone in our population is offered a COVID-19 vaccine regardless of their
circumstance. We are learning from the early stages of the pandemic and the adverse
effects it had on communities specifically Black and Ethnic Minority groups, older people,
men, those living with obesity and underlying conditions and economically deprived
community groups. Our plan is to listen to groups and communities to understand their
needs and make sure we achieve better services than before.
We plan to co-produce services that meet people’s needs in design, delivery and monitoring
of services. In relation to the mass vaccination programme, we plan to provide key sources
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of support to everyone who requires it, provide information to address reticence, ensure we
access vulnerable marginalised groups, work with our Voluntary Care organisations to
influence communities and continue to monitor uptake of the vaccination.
Digital inclusion in relation to health inequalities
West Essex and system partners have worked collaboratively to develop and implement the
digital inclusion programme as part of the plan to bridge the health inequalities gap. The
Essex Digital Inclusion strategy is fully established and aims to support residents who are
digitally excluded, to enable self-care and enable PCNs and other health and care
professionals to deliver care in the most digitally effective way.
Whilst the pandemic has been terrible in many different ways, it has brought us together and
put us in a better position to tackle health inequalities in the longer term.

EU TRANSITION
National Position
The UK left the EU on 31 January 2020 with a deal called the withdrawal agreement. An 11
month transition period followed, ending on the 31st December 2020, with a trade
agreement also being reached on 24 December 2020.
Locally NHS West Essex CCG’s withdrawal agreement “default outcome” preparations had
been stepped up in December 2020 in line with the NHS National timeline as follows:
•
•
•
•

Transition to incident response
Daily sit rep from 23/12/2020
Strategic Recovery Groups (SRGs) in place across the region
Subject matter areas on-call arrangements over Christmas and New Year

The EU Exit national team anticipated that, with a National deal confirmed, there was an
expectation that there would still be some outstanding issues requiring resolution. Key
National risks (pre-Trade Agreement) and mitigations for these were identified.
CCG EU Response Arrangements
The CCG’s response to EU Transition is integrated into the existing command and control
structures for COVID-19 response. The overall framework is detailed in the West Essex SOP
for Incident Control Centre (ICC) Management for COVID-19 and Winter 2020/21. All EU
issues are escalated via the Essex CCGs Operational EU Exit Group, the WECCG IMT, the
Essex Resilience Forum’s Transition Group and the Regional EU Exit CCG SRO Engagement
Group. The CCG’s EU SRO is also made aware of any related issues via the CCG’s Operational
EU Exit lead.
Top EU Exit Risks for the Essex Health and Social Care System were identified that could
impact on the delivery of health and social care services in Essex through the Essex CCGs EU
operational working group and the Essex Resilience Forum EU transition group. All the risks
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have appropriate mitigation measures in place and all forums maintain a watching brief of
the situation.
Situation Reporting
Until April 2021 the CCG was required to submit daily returns to NHS England and
Improvement advising of any impacts to health services as a result of EU Exit, together with
daily calls with the Essex Resilience Forum to advise of any impacts to health services as a
result of EU Exit.
Assurance Processes
The CCG has participated in an NHS England and NHS Improvement EU Assurance Process
and undertook an assurance process on the providers Business Continuity Plans (BCPs). No
issues were identified, with all providers having robust BCPs in place. All providers also
confirmed that EU Exit is featured on their risk registers and have EU Senior Responsible
Officers in place with established response structures to deal with any related impacts on
the health services they deliver.
Summary
The CCGs EU operational working group continues to meet as frequently as required,
providing a platform for information sharing and issues to be escalated locally or regionally.
At this time there are no significant issues or impacts reported as a result of EU Exit. The ERF
and all health care providers in Essex have robust plans in place to deal with any impacts
from EU Exit. The CCGs EU SRO, EPRR lead and IMT continue to monitor the situation daily
and provide updates as appropriate.

EMERGENCY PREPAREDNESS, RESILIENCE AND RESPONSE
The team has worked with the CCG(s) to support the completion of core training for on call
staff and Loggists, enabling the CCG to fulfill their role as a category two responder under
the Civil Contingencies Act (2004). This training has been undertaken virtually which has
proved successful with staff and enabled high numbers of staff to receive their training.
Working with the Clinical Commissioning Groups the Annual Core Standards Assessment
process has been completed and the CCGs have been assessed as compliant.
Much of the year’s focus has been on supporting the COVID-19 pandemic response and
ensuring support for the Central Incident Management Team for West Essex CCG.
2019/20 saw the European Transition being completed on the 31 December 2020. Nationally
the team has provided oversight for the mid and south Essex population, ensuring that plans
to mitigate health risks were in place. The required national reporting continues with no
issues or incidents related to the EU Transition for the CCGs.
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SUSTAINABLE DEVELOPMENT
In a year where the NHS had to deal with one of the biggest health challenges ever seen, a
national commitment to taking on the challenge of tackling climate change and reaching net
zero carbon has been maintained, as outlined in the ‘Delivering a ‘Net Zero’ National Health
Service’.
Our Successes
Locally for NHS West Essex CCG and, in line with government legislation, during 2020/21 the
organisation successfully moved largely to remote working as a result of the Covid-19
pandemic. Our health and safety arrangements were reviewed and the risks assessed, which
continue to be monitored. A number of Covid-19 protection arrangements have led directly
to a number of sustainable positives, which support lowering the organisation’s carbon
footprint including:
•

The use of Microsoft Teams video and telephone conferencing, reducing the need
for face-to-face contact leading to reduced business travel and commuting: cutting
carbon emissions and improving air quality.

•

Video and telephone conferencing for patients: reducing the need for face-to-face
contact leading to reduced patient travel: cutting carbon emissions and improving air
quality.

•

Previously occasional cycling and walking for business and commuting purposes:
maintaining social-distancing. Sustainable/active travel option: reducing carbon
emissions and improving air quality; promoting better health and wellbeing.

•

Reducing occupation levels in office areas by encouraging working from home:
maintaining social distancing parameters. Reduced business travel and commuting:
cutting carbon emissions and improving air quality. Reducing impact of seasonal hot
and / or cold weather / heat waves: lowering need for supplemental mechanical
heating, ventilation and cooling – cutting carbon from power consumption.

•

Major reduction in circulation of printed matter – papers, reports and so on:
minimises virus transfer risk. Reduction in use of natural resources and associated
carbon emissions.

CCG staff members continue to enjoy the benefits of the government’s ‘cycle to work’
scheme, although of course the bicycles can be used outside of work activities too. This
allows staff to purchase a bike and cycle safety equipment as a tax-free benefit and as a
salary sacrifice scheme. The scheme contributes supports the organisation’s reduction in
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carbon emissions whilst promoting physical activity as part of a health and wellbeing
strategy.
Plans
The CCG also continues to maintain a number of policies and plans in place to ensure that the
organisation is able to react to changing circumstances, including those related to climate
change. These include:
•
•
•
•

Business Continuity Plan
Emergency Planning, Resilience and Response Policy
Incident Response Plan
Risk Management Policy

Nationally, the Greener NHS Team, previously known as the Sustainable Development Unit
(SDU), decommissioned the Sustainable Development Assessment Tool (SDAT) on 28th
February 2021. The CCG had regularly used this tool to assess our position with regard to
both local and wider system sustainability ambitions. The Greener NHS Team is now
working on scoping a replacement tool for Green Plan support, which will align with the
priorities set out in the ‘Delivering a Net Zero National Health Service’ report and the
updated Green Plan guidance which is also currently in development. The CCG developed
its first Board-approved Sustainable Development Management Plan in 2014 and the
corresponding action plan has been reported on regularly annually to the Board. The CCG
now awaits the Greener NHS Team’s Green Plan replacement tool to continue assessing our
sustainable actions.
As an organisation continually adapting to the changes brought about by Covid-19 we will
want to focus, as part of our recovery, on what we might like to preserve going forward that
is more environmentally sustainable.
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REPORT
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CORPORATE GOVERNANCE REPORT
MEMBERS’ REPORT
The Governing Body is made up of a group of individuals, who are appointed to the CCG
with the main function of ensuring that the organisation has made appropriate governance
arrangements, and for formulating policy and directing its affairs.
THE CCG GOVERNING BODY AS AT 31 MARCH 2021
Information about our Governing Body (board), including key responsibilities, membership
and attendance records can be found on our website: https://westessexccg.nhs.uk/ourwork/meet-the-board
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MEMBER PRACTICES
All 30 GP practices in West Essex are the members of NHS West Essex Clinical Commissioning
Group.

Locality

Practice Name

North Uttlesford

Crocus Medical Practice
Gold Street Surgery
Newport Surgery
Thaxted Surgery

South Uttlesford

Elsenham Surgery
Stansted Surgery
Angel Lane Surgery
John Tasker House Surgery
Eden Surgery

Harlow North

Old Harlow Health Centre
Church Langley Medical Practice
Nuffield House Surgery
Sydenham Surgery
Addison House Surgery

Harlow South

Lister Medical Practice
The Hamilton Practice
Ross Practice

Epping Forest North

Ongar Health Centre
The Limes Medical Centre
High Street Surgery Epping
Abridge Surgery
Maynard Court Surgery
Market Square Surgery

Loughton, Buckhurst Hill
and Chigwell

Loughton Health Centre
The Loughton Surgery
The Forest Practice
Palmerston Road Surgery
Kings Medical Centre
The River Surgery
Chigwell Medical Centre
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Composition of Governing Body
The CCG Board Members during 2020-21 were:
Name

Designation as at 1 April 2020

Year End Position

Dr Rob Gerlis
Andrew Geldard

Chair and Harlow Locality Representative
Interim Chief Officer (Accountable Officer)

Chair and Harlow Locality Representative
Terminated 30th June 2020

Dean Westcott

Terminated 31st July 2020 – took up role of Director
of Estates and Capital Planning wef 1st August 2020

Dr Angus Henderson

Director of Finance, Contracting and
Performance – on secondment to ICS from
January 2019
Interim Director of Finance, Contracting and
Performance
GP Board Member for Uttlesford

Dr Jen West
Dr Shawarna Lasker
Dr Ian Perry
Dr Amik Aneja
Dr Christine Moss

GP Board Member for Uttlesford
GP Board Member for Epping Forest
GP Board Member for Epping Forest
GP Board Member for Harlow
Chief Medical Officer

Toni Coles

Director of Transformation

Jane Kinniburgh

Director of Nursing and Quality

Duncan Forsyth
Stephen King
Bobbie Graham

Secondary Care Consultant
Deputy Chair and Lay Member – Governance
Lay Member – Patient and Public
Involvement (PPI)
Lay Member – Primary Care
Lay Member (non-voting) – Quality
Director of Corporate Services
Head of Legal and Governance (Company
Secretary)

John Leslie

David McConnell
Peter Boylan
Ian Tompkins
Simone Surgenor

Terminated 31st July 2020
Clinical Vice Chair and GP Board Member for
Uttlesford
GP Board Member for Uttlesford
GP Board Member for Epping Forest
GP Board Member for Epping Forest
GP Board Member for Harlow
Commenced 1st October 2020 - Clinical Director for
the One Health Care Partnership (OHCP)
Commenced 1st August 2020 - Director of Integrated
Care Partnership Development for the west Essex
area (One Health and Care partnership)
Commenced 1st August 2020 - Director of Nursing
and Quality, Herts & West Essex ICS and CCGs
Secondary Care Consultant
Audit Chair and Lay Member – Governance
Lay Member – Patient and Public Involvement (PPI)

James Roach

Programme Director, Integrated Care

Deputy Chair and Lay Member – Primary Care
Special Advisor to the Board for Clinical Quality
Director of Corporate Services
Commenced 1st December 2020 - Associate Director
of Integrated Governance and Organisational
Alignment
Herts & West Essex ICS & CCGs
Terminated 30th September 2020

Peter Wightman

Director of Primary Care and Localities

Commenced 1st July 2020 – Managing Director

Councillor John Moran
Dr Jane Halpin

Commenced 1st July 2020 – Essex County Council
Representative
Commenced 1st June 2020 - Joint Chief Executive
Officer, Herts & West Essex ICS & CCGs

Alan Pond

Commenced 1st August 2020 - Chief Finance Officer,
Herts & West Essex ICS and CCGs

Dr Rachel Joyce

Commenced 1st October 2020 - Director of Clinical
and Professional Services, Herts & West Essex ICS
and CCGs
Commenced 1st December 2020 - Director of Primary
Care Transformation, Herts & West Essex ICS and
CCGs

Avni Shah
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Committee(s), including Audit Committee
Membership of the sub-committees of the CCG Board, including for the Audit Committee,
are detailed within the Annual Governance Statement on page 83.
Register of Interests
A Register of Interests for the CCG’s decision-makers is available on the CCG website via this
link: https://westessexccg.nhs.uk/news-and-publications/publications/registers-anddeclarations/board-and-subcommittee-registers-of-interest/2018-19/2750-nhs-west-essexclinical-commissioning-group-decision-maker-register-of-interests-2018-19/file
Personal Data Related Incidents
There were no serious incidents requiring investigation and involving personal data reported
to the Information Commissioner’s Office (ICO) in 2020-2021.
Statement of Disclosure to Auditors
Each individual who is a member of the CCG at the time the Members’ Report is approved
confirms:
•
•

so far as the member is aware, there is no relevant audit information of which the
CCG’s auditor is unaware that would be relevant for the purposes of their audit
report;
the member has taken all the steps that they ought to have taken in order to make
him or herself aware of any relevant audit information and to establish that the
CCG’s auditor is aware of it.

Modern Slavery Act
NHS West Essex Clinical Commissioning Group fully supports the Government’s objectives to
eradicate modern slavery and human trafficking, but does not meet the requirements for
producing an annual Slavery and Human Trafficking Statement as set out in the Modern
Slavery Act 2015.
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STATEMENT OF ACCOUNTABLE OFFICER’S RESPONSIBILITIES
The National Health Service Act 2006 (as amended) states that each Clinical Commissioning
Group shall have an Accountable Officer and that Officer shall be appointed by the NHS
Commissioning Board (NHS England). NHS England has appointed Dr Jane Halpin to be the
Accountable Officer of NHS West Essex CCG.
The responsibilities of an Accountable Officer are set out under the National Health Service
Act 2006 (as amended), Managing Public Money and in the Clinical Commissioning Group
Accountable Officer Appointment Letter. They include responsibilities for:
•
•

•
•
•

•

The propriety and regularity of the public finances for which the Accountable Officer
is answerable.
For keeping proper accounting records (which disclose with reasonable accuracy at
any time the financial position of the Clinical Commissioning Group and enable them
to ensure that the accounts comply with the requirements of the Accounts
Direction).
For safeguarding the Clinical Commissioning Group’s assets (and hence for taking
reasonable steps for the prevention and detection of fraud and other irregularities).
The relevant responsibilities of accounting officers under Managing Public Money.
Ensuring the CCG exercises its functions effectively, efficiently and economically (in
accordance with Section 14Q of the National Health Service Act 2006 (as amended))
and with a view to securing continuous improvement in the quality of services (in
accordance with Section14R of the National Health Service Act 2006 (as amended)).
Ensuring that the CCG complies with its financial duties under Sections 223H to 223J
of the National Health Service Act 2006 (as amended).

Under the National Health Service Act 2006 (as amended), NHS England has directed each
Clinical Commissioning Group to prepare for each financial year a statement of accounts in
the form and on the basis set out in the Accounts Direction. The accounts are prepared on
an accruals basis and must give a true and fair view of the state of affairs of the Clinical
Commissioning Group and of its income and expenditure, Statement of Financial Position
and cash flows for the financial year.
In preparing the accounts, the Accountable Officer is required to comply with the
requirements of the Government Financial Reporting Manual and in particular to:
•

•
•

•
•

Observe the Accounts Direction issued by NHS England, including the relevant
accounting and disclosure requirements, and apply suitable accounting policies on a
consistent basis.
Make judgements and estimates on a reasonable basis.
State whether applicable accounting standards as set out in the Government
Financial Reporting Manual have been followed, and disclose and explain any
material departures in the accounts.
Prepare the accounts on a going concern basis.
Confirm that the Annual Report and Accounts as a whole is fair, balanced and
understandable and take personal responsibility for the Annual Report and Accounts
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and the judgements required for determining that it is fair, balanced and
understandable.

Accountable Officer’s Declaration
As the Accountable Officer, I have taken all the steps that I ought to have taken to make
myself aware of any relevant audit information and to establish that West Essex Clinical
Commissioning Group’s auditors are aware of that information. So far as I am aware, there
is no relevant audit information of which the auditors are unaware.

……………………………………………….
Dr Jane Halpin
Accountable Officer
1 June 2020 – 31 March 2021
Date signed: 11th June 2021
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GOVERNANCE STATEMENT
Introduction and context
NHS West Essex CCG is a body corporate established by NHS England on 1 April 2013 under
the National Health Service Act 2006 (as amended).
The clinical commissioning group’s statutory functions are set out under the National Health
Service Act 2006 (as amended). The CCG’s general function is arranging the provision of
services for persons for the purposes of the health service in west Essex. The CCG is, in
particular, required to arrange for the provision of certain health services to such extent as
it considers necessary to meet the reasonable requirements of its local population.
As at 1 April 2020, the clinical commissioning group is not subject to any directions from
NHS England issued under Section 14Z21 of the National Health Service Act 2006
Scope of responsibility
As Accountable Officer, I have responsibility for maintaining a sound system of internal
control that supports the achievement of the clinical commissioning group’s policies, aims
and objectives, whilst safeguarding the public funds and assets for which I am personally
responsible, in accordance with the responsibilities assigned to me in Managing Public
Money. I also acknowledge my responsibilities as set out under the National Health Service
Act 2006 (as amended) and in my Clinical Commissioning Group Accountable Officer
Appointment Letter.
I am responsible for ensuring that the clinical commissioning group is administered
prudently and economically and that resources are applied efficiently and effectively,
safeguarding financial propriety and regularity. I also have responsibility for reviewing the
effectiveness of the system of internal control within the clinical commissioning group as set
out in this governance statement.
Governance arrangements and effectiveness
The main function of the governing body is to ensure that the group has made appropriate
arrangements for ensuring that it exercises its functions effectively, efficiently and
economically and complies with such generally accepted principles of good governance as
are relevant to it.
The CCG’s Constitution sets out the arrangements made for the group to meet its
responsibilities for commissioning care for the people for whom it is responsible. It
describes the governing principles, rules and procedures that the group has established to
ensure probity and accountability in the day to day running of the CCG; to ensure that
decisions are taken in an open and transparent way and that the interests of patients and
the public remain central to its goals.
The Constitution has been supported by the CCG’s Standing Orders, Standing Financial
Instructions and Scheme of Reservation and Delegation and policies including managing
conflicts of interest. The Corporate Governance Manual sets out those decisions that are
reserved for the membership as a whole and decisions that are the responsibility of its
governing body.
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The group has observed generally accepted principles of good governance in the way that it
has conducted its business, in line with it’s Business Code of Conduct which brings together
existing standards and guidance from the NHS and other CCG adopted standards and
guidance.
The generally accepted principles of good governance applied by the CCG in conducting its
business include:•

•
•
•
•

The highest standards of propriety involving impartiality, integrity and objectivity
in relation to the stewardship of public funds, the management of the organisation
and the conduct of it’s business;
The Good Governance Standard for Public Services;
The standards of behaviour published by the Committee on Standards in Public Life
(1995) known as the ‘Nolan Principles’;
The seven key principles of the NHS Constitution;
The Equality Act 2010.

The group has demonstrated its accountability to its members, localities, local people,
stakeholders and to NHS England in a number of ways, including by:
•
•
•
•
•
•
•
•
•
•
•

Publishing its Constitution;
Appointing independent lay members and a non-GP clinician to its governing body;
Holding meetings of its governing body in public (except where the Board
considers that it would not be in the public interest in relation to all or part of a
meeting);
Publishing an annual operating plan;
Complying with local authority, health overview and scrutiny requirements;
Producing annual accounts for this financial year which have been externally
audited;
Holding a virtual planned Annual General Meeting on 30th July 2020 in order to
publish and present the annual report and audited accounts for the year ending
2019-20;
Having a published and clear complaints process;
Complying with the Freedom of Information Act 2000;
Providing information to NHS England & Improvement as required;
Working closely with Internal Audit and Counter Fraud Services to ensure
assurance and risk processes within work programmes are aligned to the statutory
responsibilities of the CCG.

In addition to these statutory requirements the group has demonstrated its accountability by:
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•

Publishing its principle commissioning and operational policies;

•

Held monthly or every other month - member practice, membership meetings
and regular GP shutdown meetings; Harlow, Epping and Uttlesford Membership
meetings continue to take place but are now held virtually. They were held
monthly but are now bi-monthly to enable PCNs to meet in between.

•

Delivered an extensive programme of bespoke training, development and
wellbeing initiatives for our whole primary care workforce including GPs, nurses,
AHPs, additional roles working within primary care networks and primary care
colleagues on career breaks to improve primary care retention and recruitment.
•

Whilst it has not been possible to hold public engagement events due to
Covid-19 the CCG has published regular updates throughout the year to
stakeholders and partners, including patient group representatives. We have
also participated in health and wellbeing boards and held a number of virtual
briefings with local council leaders/cabinet members.

The Board
The Board is responsible for setting the strategic priorities of the CCG. This includes ensuring
the optimal use of resources to improve health and health services. This remit includes
commissioning of elective hospital care, rehabilitation, urgent and emergency care
(including out of hours services), community health services, services for children and
younger persons, maternity services, mental health and learning disability services.
The Board, acting on behalf of the CCG membership, is responsible for ensuring that the
CCG has appropriate governance frameworks, resources, capability and capacity in place to
enable the CCG to exercise its functions effectively, efficiently and economically to meet its
delegated responsibilities and in accordance with accepted good governance principles.
The Board is responsible for holding the executive to account for the delivery of the CCG
strategy. The Board was advised on all service and commissioning decisions by the
Executive Health and Care Commissioning Committee.
The membership of the Board can be found within the Corporate Governance Report on
page 75. Attendance of the Board meetings is detailed below:
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Role

Attendance
Voting

CCG Chair (CV)

7/9

CCG Vice Chair (CV)

7/9

Chief Officer (V)

1/1

(terminated 30th June 2020)
Interim Director of Finance, Contracting and
Performance (V)

3/3

(terminated 31st July 2020)
Director of Primary Care and Localities (V)

2/2

(terminated 30th June 2020)
Director of Nursing and Quality (CV)

7/9

Director of Corporate Services

8/9

Chief Medical Officer (CV)

4/4

(terminated 30th September 2020)
Director of Transformation (V)

3/3

(terminated 31st July 2020)
Lay Member – Governance (V)

9/9

Lay Member – PPE *(V)

9/9

Lay Member – Primary Care – (V)

9/9

Consultant in Public Health (A)

8/9

GP Board Member – Uttlesford (CV)

8/9

GP Board Member – Harlow (CV)

8/9

GP Board Member – Epping (CV)

8/9
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Secondary Care Consultant

4/9

Joint Chief Executive Officer, Herts & West Essex
ICS & CCGs

6/8

(commenced 1st June 2020)
Chief Finance Officer, Herts & West Essex ICS and
CCGs

6/6

(commenced 1st August 2020)
Director of Clinical and Professional Services,
Herts & West Essex ICS and CCGs

3/5

(commenced 1st October 2020)
Director of Primary Care Transformation, Herts &
West Essex ICS and CCGs

3/4

(commenced 1st December 2020)

Attendees
Lay Member – Specialist Advisor to the Board on
Clinical Quality (A)

8/9

Essex County Council Representative (A)

7/7

Local Council Representative (A)
Head of Legal and Governance (Company
Secretary)

6/6

(terminated 30th November 2020)
Associate Director of Integrated Governance and
Organisational Alignment

4/4

Herts & West Essex ICS & CCGs
(commenced 1st December 2020)
Director of Integrated Care Partnership
Development for the west Essex area (One
Health and Care partnership)

5/6
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(commenced 1st August 2020)
Clinical Director for the One Health Care
Partnership (OHCP)

5/5

(commenced 1st October 2020)
Director of Performance and Delivery | Herts &
West Essex ICS

1/1

(commenced 1st March 2021)
*PPE – Public and Patient Engagement

V – Voting; CV – Clinical Voting; A – Attendee.
2020-21 - key highlights of the Board’s work for this year have been:
Commissioning Functions and Duties Relating to CCG
•

Listening to our population through reports at every board meeting on patient
experience of the services we commission. The Board received updates on the PAH
Redevelopment Programme. The Board reviewed the Covid-19 outbreak plan and
recovery cell recommendations. The Board also agreed the process for the
procurement of the Emotional Wellbeing and Mental Health Service (EWMHS)
contract and Access to Psychological Therapies (IAPT) Services, as well as an
extension to the EPUT mental health block contract. Recommendations to PCNs for
extended access commissioning were discussed.
Finance and Performance:

•

Receiving detailed Finance, Activity, Contracting and Transformation (FACT) reports
presented at each Board meeting for discussion and approval. The Board also note
the work of the Finance and Performance committee in relation to the FACT
reporting programme. The Board was also updated on the financial arrangements
for 2020/21. In addition the Board receives regular reports on finance,
performance, quality, safeguarding, information governance, risk management and
board assurance, emergency planning, resilience and response and associated
management arrangements.

Governance:
•

The Board approved the recommendations of the Remuneration & Terms of Service
Committee for the Joint Executive Team remuneration and the Proposed Salary and
Contractual Extension for the Hertfordshire and West Essex Independent
Chair. Extension of Lay Member tenure was also approved. The Board also agreed
the recommendations proposed for the VSM pay review as well as pay and pension
contributions for GP members.
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•

The Constitution, Corporate Governance Manual and Terms of Reference updates
were approved.

•

Receiving regular reports from the Board’s sub-committees.

Cooperation
•

Regular reports are received by the Board on our Integrated Care Partnership. The
Board also received an update on STP/ICS plans. The Board also agreed the out of
hospital strategy to inform the community contract. Regular updates are received
from the Joint Accountable Office on the Hertfordshire & West Essex ICS. The Three
CCG Boards held a meeting in common to discuss services provided across the ICS.

Executive Committee
•

The Executive Committee is a decision making committee responsible for providing
effective leadership that oversees all aspects of operational activities of the CCG,
which will ensure that the CCG has adequate organisational capacity and capability
to meet statutory requirements and CCG strategic development.

•

The membership and attendance records of the Executive Committee are detailed
below:
Executive Committee attendance for 20-21 Annual Report

Role

Attendance**

Member
Chief Officer (Committee Chair) (V)
11/11
(terminated

30th

June 2020)

Joint Accountable Officer*
6/32
(commenced 1st June 2020)
Interim Director of Finance, Contracting and
Performance (Deputy Chair and Chief Finance
Officer) (V)

15/15

(terminated 31st July 2020)
Director of Primary Care and Localities (V)
10/11
(terminated 30th June 2020)
Managing Director (*in attendance on behalf of the
Joint Accountable Officer when not present)

27/30
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(commenced 1st July 2020)
Director of Transformation (V)
15/15
(terminated 31st July 2020)
Director of ICP Development - OHCP
21/26
(commenced

1st

August 2020)

Director of Nursing and Quality (CV)

30/41

ICP Programme Director
19/21
(terminated 30th September 2020)
Chief Medical Officer (CV)
17/21
(terminated 30th September 2020)
Clinical Director for the One Health Care
Partnership (OHCP)

19/20

(commenced 1st October 2020)
Director of Corporate Services

39/41

Chief Finance Officer
19/26
(commenced 1st August 2020)
Director of Clinical & Professional Services
9/20
(commenced 1st October 2020)
Director of Primary Care Transformation
7/13
(commenced

1st

December 2020)

Director of Performance and Delivery | Herts &
West Essex ICS
(commenced 1st March 2021)

3/4
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V – Voting; CV – Clinical Voting
** Attendance correlated to meetings held whilst in post.
2020-21 - key highlights of the Executive Committee’s work for this year have been:
•
•
•
•
•

Delivering the West Essex response to Covid-19, managing the associated risks and
taking remedial action where necessary;
Continued work on developing an Integrated Care Partnership for West Essex
Discussion regarding future community services contract and out of hospital model
of care strategy
Ratifying refreshed HR policies
Receiving Covid-19 vaccination programme updates

Executive Health and Care Commissioning Committee
The Executive Health and Care Commissioning Committee is a decision making Committee
responsible for making decisions that affect west Essex people on behalf of the Board and / or
making recommendations to the Board on matters relating to:
•
•

The development and implementation of commissioning and contracting strategies,
plans, policies and decisions to deliver the CCGs strategic aims and objectives.
The development and implementation of change programmes to deliver integrated
health and care services to meet the needs of our people within resources to deliver
improved outcomes.
(Note: this excludes decisions relating to the procurement of and investment in
services in primary care).

The membership and attendance records of the Executive Health and Care Commissioning
Committee are detailed below:

Role

Attendance
Voting

CCG Chair – Chair of the Committee

8/10

CCG Clinical Vice Chair

7/10

Chief Officer

1/10
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Managing Director

6/10

Clinical Lead – Older People

5/10

Clinical Lead – Children, Young People and
Maternity

7/10

Clinical Lead -Primary Care

6/10

Clinical Lead – Urgent Care

7/10

Clinical Lead – MH and LD

10/10

Director of Finance and Performance

6/10

Director of Nursing and Quality

5/10

Chief Finance Officer

2/10

Director of Transformation

7/10

Chief Medical Officer

8/10

Acting Primary Care Lead and Chief Pharmacist

7/10

Consultant in Public Health

8/10

2020-21 - key highlights of the Executive Health & Care Commissioning Committee’s work
for this year have been:
•
•
•
•
•

ICS update/ ICP Update
OOH Strategy – Primary care emerging strategy
ICP Update/Phase 3 Recovery/Clinical Priorities and Risk
Phase 3 Recovery Plan
Mental Health Investment Plan
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•
•
•
•
•
•

IAPT service Specification
Pilot for Post-Operative Cataract
Pilot for Glaucoma Repeat Reading and Glaucoma Monitoring Service
ADHD Business Case
Perinatal Business Case
Tele-dermatology evaluation

Finance and Performance Committee
The Finance and Performance Committee has responsibility for providing an assurance and
scrutiny role on behalf of the Board of all aspects of the CCGs financial performance and
strategy, commissioning and contracting activities including transformation delivery and
performance with the exception of quality indicators.
The membership and attendance records of the Finance and Performance Committee are
detailed below:

Role

Attendance
Member

CCG Chair

7/7

Director of Finance, Performance and 4/7
Contracting
Managing Director

2/7

Chief Medical Officer

7/7

Lay Member

7/7

Lay Member

6/7

Acting Director of Primary Care and 6/7
Chief Pharmacist
Deputy Director of Transformation

6/7

Director of ICP Development - OHCP

5/7

Director of Nursing and Quality

2/7

Deputy
Director
of
Finance, 7/7
Performance and Contracting
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Attendees
Public Health Representative (as and 0/7
when required)
Assistant Director of Performance (as 0/7
and when required)
Assistant Director of Contracting (as 3/7
and when required)

2020-21 - key highlights of the Finance & Performance Committee’s work for this year have
been:
•
•
•

•
•
•

Overseeing the development and monitored reporting of the West Essex Integrated
Health and Social Care Scorecard
Overseeing the arrangements for and monitoring the reporting of the West Essex
Better Care Fund and the Improved Better Care Fund
Overseeing the monitoring of all key aspects of the organisation’s performance against
key constitutional targets for all providers together with important recovery actions
as required and in particular local urgent care performance
Monitoring and oversight of the organisation’s transformation and efficiency schemes
Receiving regular reports in respect of Primary Care and Estates Developments
including risks to delivery and primary care delegated commissioning
Receiving and reviewing regular updates against the ICP delivery plan

Quality Committee
The Quality Committee has an assurance and scrutiny role on the performance of all
commissioned services in relation to all aspects of quality and quality improvement, including
patient safety, patient experience and effectiveness of outcomes. This includes a range of
statutory duties such as Infection Prevention and Control, management of serious incidents
and never events, complaints and Safeguarding Children and Adults.
The key highlights of the Quality Committee’s work for this year have been:
•

Increased oversight of the impacts of COVID-19 pandemic on provision of services to
the population of West Essex, with regular updates regarding
o The impact of COVID on settings of care in West Essex.
o Oversight of the status of COVID within care homes, and the work of the
West Essex Care home Hub.
o Progression of vaccinations within settings of Care including Acute,
Community, Care homes, and Primary Care.
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•
•
•
•

Ongoing oversight of quality measures and risk as they relate to provision of primary
care services in West Essex, which are reported in common across both the Quality
and Primary Care Commissioning Committees.
Working with the local authority and wider Essex CCGs to understand the challenges
in place to improve delivery of mental health services, and the work of the pan-Essex
mental health task and finish group
Raising the profile of new and emerging challenges to the provision of Healthcare in
West Essex including the wrap around support for Asylum seekers placed into
Intermediate Accommodation Centres located temporarily within West Essex.
Gaining assurance about the impact of work implemented by Princess Alexandra
Hospital NHS Trust following the release of the Ockenden Report in Maternity
services, and CQC inspections to the Emergency Department.

The membership and attendance records of the Quality Committee are detailed below:

Role

Attendance
Member

Special Advisor to the Board for Clinical
Quality) (Chair)

6/6

Secondary Care Consultant (current Vice
Chair)

5/6

Chief Medical Officer OHCP

3/6

Director of Nursing & Quality

5/6

GP Board Member

4/6

GP Board Member

4/6

GP Board Member

2/6

Primary Care Lead

6/6

Performance Lead

5/6
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Remuneration and Terms of Service Committee
The Remuneration and Terms of Service Committee has delegated responsibility for making
decisions on behalf of the Board, on all aspects of the remuneration and terms of service of
the Executive leadership team of the CCG, GP Board members, Clinical Directors and other
clinical representatives (and any assessment of their performance). The Committee ensures
that fairness, equity and consistency is applied in this process.
The membership and attendance records of the Remuneration and Terms of Service
Committee are detailed below:

Role

Attendance
Member

CCG Chairman

4/4

Lay Member – PPE* (Committee
Chair)

4/4

Lay member – Primary Care

4/4

Lay Member
–
Governance
(Committee Vice Chair)

4/4

Special Advisor to the Board for
Clinical Quality

4/4

Clinical Vice Chair of CCG

4/4

Attendees
Chief Officer
2/2
(terminated 30th June 2020)
Managing Director**
1/1
(commenced

1st

July 2020)

Director of Corporate Services**
*Public and Patient Engagement

3/3

** Attendance restricted for one meeting due to conflict
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2020-21 - key highlights of the Remuneration & Terms of Service Committee’s work for this
year have been:
•
•
•
•
•
•

Agreeing extensions to the contracts for the Accountable Officer and Programme
Director, Accountable Care;
Agreeing extension of contract for the Interim Director of Finance, Contracting &
Performance to align with the extension of the contract for the Interim STP Finance
Director;
Overseeing the process for the appointment of a single Accountable Officer for Herts
Valleys CCG, East & North Herts CCG, West Essex CCG and the Herts & West Essex
ICS;
Holding the first Remuneration Committee meeting in Common with Herts Valleys
CCG and East & North Herts CCG to recommend remuneration for the Joint
Executive Team to the Board;
Agreeing the salary and contractual extension for the Hertfordshire and West Essex
Independent Chair;
A further Remuneration Committee meeting in Common with Herts Valleys CCG and
East & North Herts CCG was held to recommend remuneration of very senior
managers to the Board.

Primary Care Commissioning Committee
The Primary Care Commissioning Committee has responsibility to enable members of the
collective decisions on the review, planning and procurement of primary care services in west
Essex, under delegated authority from NHS England. The functions of the Primary Care
Commissioning Committee are undertaken in the context of a desire to promote increased
co-commissioning to increase quality, efficiency, productivity and value for money and to
remove administrative barriers.
The key highlights of the Committee’s work this year have been:
•
•
•
•
•
•

•
•
•

Oversight of the response to the COVID-19 pandemic and vaccination programme
within primary care.
Supported the on-going development of six Primary Care Networks;
Ensured sustainability and resilience of general practices through roll-out of the GP
Resilience Fund;
Progressed modern digital solutions to enable efficient Primary Care delivery;
Oversight of the performance of general practice and the CCG support provided.
The Committee has ensured that all of our practices are information governance
compliant, have addressed any actions required by the Care Quality Commission and
are taking steps to improve their results in the GP Patient Survey and Quality
Outcomes Framework;
Ensured that local enhanced services that have delivered improved patient care and
provided value for taxpayers’ money continue;
Oversight of the workforce initiatives including recruitment, retention and training
and the establishment of Nurse and GP tutors to support practices;
Monitored continued delivery of the Extended Access appointments across eight
hubs at evenings and weekends for all registered patients in West Essex and
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•
•
•

ensuring additional capacity has been available during the winter period and on bank
holidays;
Planning and support for many Estates projects to ensure GP surgery premises are fit
for purpose now and can meet planned population growth in the future;
Oversight of budgets and an increased expenditure on primary care of 8.7% above
inflation compared to the previous financial year;
Commissioning services from GP Practices to meet local need;

The membership and attendance records of the Primary Care Commissioning Committee are
detailed below:

Role

Attendance
Voting

Lay Member - Primary Care (Chair)

10/10

Lay Member (Vice Chair)

8/10

Chief Officer

1/10

Joint Chief Executive Officer H&WE ICS & CCGs

2/10

Managing Director

7/10

Interim Director of Finance, Contracting & Performance

1/10

Chief Finance Officer

6/10

Director of Primary Care & Localities

1/10

Acting Primary Care Lead & Chief Pharmacist

8/10

Director of Primary Care Transformation H&WE ICS &
CCGs

4/10
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Director of Nursing & Quality

10/10

Independent GP Member

10/10

Independent GP Member

9/10
Non-voting

Director of Transformation

0/10

WECCG Lead GPs

2/10

NHSE Contract Manager

10/10

LMC

3/10

Assistant Director of Primary Care Contracting &
Development

7/10

Head of Primary Care Development

9/10

Quality Lead

8/10

Lay Member - Governance

9/10

The performance of the Membership Body and Governing Body, including their own
assessment of their effectiveness.
Due to the CCG’s response to the Covid-19 pandemic assessments relating to effectiveness
of committees were not carried out (other than by Audit Committee), however board
development sessions and membership meetings were held where possible.
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Audit Committee
The Audit Committee supports the Board and Chief Officer by reviewing, scrutinising and
making recommendations on the comprehensiveness and reliability of assurances on
governance, risk management, the control environment and the integrity of financial
statements and the annual report.
The committee critically reviews and makes recommendations on the CCG’s financial
reporting and internal control principles and ensures an appropriate relationship with both
internal and external auditors is maintained
The membership and attendance records of the Audit Committee are detailed below:

Role

Attendance

Member
Lay Member – Governance (Committee Chair)

5/5

Lay Member - Public and Patient Engagement (PPE) – only
required for quoracy -

0/0

Specialist Advisor to the Board on Quality – only required for
quoracy

0/0

Lay Member for Primary Care

5/5

Attendees
GP Board Member
Deputy Chief Medical Officer

4/5

Chief Officer

4/5

Director of Finance, Contracting and Performance

5/5

Governance and Risk Manager

2/5

Internal Audit Representative

5/5

Local Counter Fraud Specialist

4/5

External Auditor Representative

4/5

Head of Legal and Governance (Company Secretary)

5/5
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Director of Corporate Services

3/5

Deputy Director of Finance, Contracting and Performance –
Deputising for Director of Finance, Contracting and
Performance

4/5

2020-21 - key highlights of the Audit Committee’s work for this year have been:
•

The opportunity to review and refresh our audit plans and reporting arrangements
was taken; agreeing some joint audits with partner CCGs in Essex.

•

Continuing to develop framework for STP/ICS governance

•

Monitoring maturing of approaches to information governance.

•

Conversations continued with our STP/ICS colleagues across Hertfordshire about
how we should work together in future in line with other parts of the CCG.

Discharge of Statutory Functions
In light of recommendations of the 1983 Harris Review, the clinical commissioning group has
reviewed all of the statutory duties and powers conferred on it by the National Health
Service Act 2006 (as amended) and other associated legislative and regulations. As a result,
I can confirm that the clinical commissioning group is clear about the legislative
requirements associated with each of the statutory functions for which it is responsible,
including any restrictions on delegation of those functions.
Responsibility for each duty and power has been clearly allocated to a lead Director.
Directorates have confirmed that their structures provide the necessary capability and
capacity to undertake all of the clinical commissioning group’s statutory duties].
The CCG Risk Management Framework
Risk management arrangements and effectiveness
Deterrents for Risks Arising
The deterrents for risks arising are referenced within the Audit Committee section of this
statement. They include Counter Fraud activity which plays a key part in deterring risks to
the organisation’s financial viability and probity. An annual Counter Fraud Plan is agreed by
the Audit Committee which focuses on the deterrence, prevention, detection and
investigation of fraud. The CCG’s Standing Orders, Standing Financial Instructions and
policies and procedures place an obligation on all employees and lay members to act in
accordance with best practice in order to prevent fraud, bribery and corruption.
If there is evidence of fraud, it is referred to our Local Counter Fraud Specialist (LCFS) and
following the conclusion of an investigation, available sanctions will be considered in
accordance with previous NHS Counter Fraud Authority Guidance. This may include criminal
prosecution, civil proceedings and disciplinary action, as well as referral to a professional or
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regulatory body. Awareness of the need to detect and deter risks is available to all
employees through posters on display, leaflets and surveys together with educational
related information sessions.
Our information risk policies provide all staff with information regarding compliance with
legal requirements and how to avoid breaches of any law, statutory, regulatory or
contractual obligations and security requirements in relation to the prevention of misuse of
information.
The management of our current risks is in accordance with our risk management framework
– page 99 and as applied under the Risk Assessment in Relation to Governance, Risk
Management and Internal Control – page 102.
The CCG has in place:•
•
•
•
•
•
•
•
•

•

•

a risk register on which the latest updates are reported
clear ownership of risks with escalation arrangements in place to the Board
a recording process for all risks and incidents
appropriate and consistent validation of risks through use of the risk
methodology and review by the committees and Board
learning from incidents through root cause analysis and shared learning
triangulation of complaints and incidents
the accurate reflection of known strategic risks to the organisation through
the Board Assurance Framework
mandatory training on risk management.
The CCG has developed an “open, just and non-punitive” culture where all
staff are encouraged to report adverse incidents, near misses and hazards in
the knowledge that incidents or errors are not normally investigated through
the disciplinary procedure.
A number of policies and procedures are in place to enable managers and
staff to resolve concerns or issues that may arise. The Raising Concerns
(Whistleblowing) Policy also provided a framework for employees to raise
concerns in line with the Public Interest Disclosure Act 1998, without the
perception of being disloyal to colleagues, managers or the organisation.
Our disciplinary procedure promotes an approach where action will only be
taken when it is felt that staff deliberately attempt to disguise errors and / or
dangerous practice, or when the incident involves significant negligence or
significant poor standards of care.
The CCG is committed to identifying the underlying or root causes of
incidents, claims and complaints and the principal objective is to identify
“system failures”, rather than focusing on individual malfunctions.

The CCG is committed to ensuring that risk management forms an integral part of its
philosophy, practices and business plans, rather than be viewed or practised as a separate
programme and that responsibility for implementation is accepted at all levels of the CCG.
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The Risk Management Policy, previously approved and adopted by the Board, provides a risk
management framework for a streamlined, systematic and proactive approach to all clinical
and non-clinical operational and strategic risks.

The aim of the risk management framework is to:•
•
•
•
•
•

Ensure that all individuals, committees and the Board are aware of their roles and
responsibilities.
Support all staff and the Board through provision of risk management training.
Create a learning culture that encourages the sharing of knowledge to risk
assessment and risk management.
Enable a positive attitude to risk management.
Develop and promote policies and procedures that support all in identifying and
managing risk.
Encompass the management of risks inherent in activities that seek to deliver project
and business objectives.

Our Board Assurance Framework provides the risks that are identified as overarching, or
provide a high level of risk that could adversely impact on the CCG reaching its planned
goals or strategic objectives. The more detailed business or operational risk elements
are recorded on the Operational Risk Register.
The Executive Committee review the Board Assurance Framework and Risk Register
regularly, to ensure progress is made on mitigating actions and recommends or
approves where risks are to be closed.
The Audit Committee reviews both the Board Assurance Framework and Risk Register
for the effectiveness of the process at each meeting.
The Board is routinely presented with the Board Assurance Framework on the risks to
the strategic objectives together with the red risks on the business or operational risks
for scrutiny, challenge and assurance.
The application of the risk management framework enables the prevention of risk through:•

Commitment to identifying the underlying or root causes of incidents, claims and
complaints

•

Promoting an open, just and non-punitive culture

•

Driving an ongoing information and education programme which empowers and
supports staff in the risk management process

•

Updating and maintaining the knowledge of Board members
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•

All staff being familiar with the terms of the Anti-fraud, Bribery and Corruption Policy
through promotion with the help of Counter Fraud services.

Capacity to Handle Risk
The risk management framework has previously been set out in this statement. Within the
risk management accountability and reporting structure, the Accountable Officer has overall
responsibility for risk management and assurance processes including their implementation.
The Accountable Officer holds Executive Directors to account in their role as risk owners.
The Board is responsible for reviewing the effectiveness of internal controls and receives a
red risk report at each Board meeting. Risk management issues are channelled to the Board
from the Executive Committee, with the Audit Committee providing assurance to the Board
on the risk management system and controls in place, as it is the Audit Committee that is
responsible for ensuring that the CCG establishes and maintains effective systems of
integrated governance, risk management and internal controls across the whole of the
organisation’s activities.
The Accountable Officer is the Executive Director with overall responsibility for corporate
governance and risk management and is also responsible for all facets of financial risks. The
Director of Nursing and Quality is responsible for clinical governance and clinical risk
management, to provide expert professional advice throughout the organisation and be the
focal point for clinical risk issues within the Quality Committee.
The Executive Directors have been assigned responsibility for operational management of
the CCG on a day to day basis and, as such, the Board has been assured that risk
management issues are integral to the decision making process.
Risk Assessment
Risk Assessment in Relation to Governance, Risk Management and Internal Control
At the end of the year our risk profile showed the following:
Strategic Risks
Our profile of the risks to achieving our strategic objectives at the end of March is:-

Red

Amber

Yellow or Green

(High)

(Significant)

(Low)

0

5

1
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Corporate Operational Risks
At the end of the year our profile of risks was as follows*:-

Number of
red risks
(high)
3

Number of
amber risks
(significant)
15

Number of
yellow risks
(moderate)
3

Number of
green risks
(low)
0

*One Quality & Nursing risk relating to personal health budgets awaits a risk
rating.
The remaining red assessed corporate operational risks are identified as:-

Risk description

Risk level
with arrows
indicating
progress
trend (out
of a
potential
score of 25
at year end)

Risk description: Asylum seekers placed in temporary accommodation at
the Bell Hotel in Epping are vulnerable and may be exposed to a number of
safeguarding and health risks if system partners do not work cooperatively to implement appropriate measures.

15

Risk description: CCG Performance Failure: Improving Access to
Psychological Therapies (IAPT). Risk of not meeting National IAPT Access,
recovery and Waiting times targets:

25

Core Access - 15%
18/19 Access Target - 19%
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19/20 Access Target - 20%
20/21 Access Target - 25%

Current contract only commissioned to deliver a Core Access of 15% which
does not reflect national increase against Long Term Plan ambitions
Risk description: NHS Constitutional Standards – PAHT.

20

Standards:

A&E 4 Hours
RTT

95%
92%

62 Day Cancer

85%

Diagnostics

99%

December 20:

A&E:

73.2%

RTT:

73.8%

62d Cancer:

68.4%

Diagnostics:

62.2%

These risks will be carried forward into 2021 - 22. Working within the risk management
framework, the respective committees of Quality, Finance and Performance, Executive
Health and Care Commissioning and Executive will lead the controls and mitigating actions
required with the responsible Executive Director lead. The Audit Committee will provide
scrutiny and challenge to the risk management of these risks and provide an assurance
opinion to the Board. The Board will ensure that any additional measures are fully explored
in order to manage or reduce the identified risks.
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Other sources of assurance
Internal Control Framework
A system of internal control is the set of processes and procedures in place in the clinical
commissioning group to ensure it delivers its policies, aims and objectives. It is designed to
identify and prioritise the risks, to evaluate the likelihood of those risks being realised and
the impact should they be realised, and to manage them efficiently, effectively and
economically.
The system of internal control allows risk to be managed to a reasonable level rather than
eliminating all risk; it can therefore only provide reasonable and not absolute assurance of
effectiveness.
The control mechanisms are described within the Risk Management Framework, page 99.
Annual audit of conflicts of interest management
The revised statutory guidance on managing conflicts of interest for CCGs (published June
2016) requires CCGs to undertake an annual internal audit of conflicts of interest
management. To support CCGs to undertake this task, NHS England has published a
template audit framework.
In March 2021 West Midlands Ambulance Services University NHS Foundation Trust
undertook an annual independent internal audit of NHS West Essex CCG’s conflicts of
interest as part of the Governance, Assurance Framework and Conflicts of Interest Audit,
and provided the following findings – the audit as a whole received reasonable assurance
from NHS West Essex CCG of the controls in place and the level of compliance with those
controls.
The audit focused on the following conflict of interest areas:
•
•
•
•

Registers of Interests, Gifts & Hospitality and Procurement Decisions are in place,
updated regularly and available for the public to view;
Declarations of interests cover all employees and GP members at the CCG;
The CCG’s Managing Conflicts of Interest Policy covers all requirements outlined
within the Statutory Guidance; and
Declarations are made by bidders/potential contractors during tender processes.

With respect to Conflicts of Interest, the CCG’s processes remained aligned to the Statutory
Guidance issued by NHSE in June 2017, but further work is required to ensure that all
members of staff are identified and captured in the CCG’s declaration of interest collation
process and that all staff respond promptly to requests for declarations of interest.
Data Quality
The CCG uses regular validation checks on all data that is received, published and distributed
and is confident about the quality of information used in decision making by our membership
and board. During 2020-21 the CCG, in partnership with partners, has implemented a variety
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of methods and tools for improving the consistency across how the data is stored, managed
and analysed. For 2021-22 the CCG will continue to build on this work and will work closely
with the ICS and other ICPs to learn and share best practice models.

Information Governance
The NHS Information Governance Framework sets the processes and procedures by which
the NHS handles information about patients and employees, in particular personal
identifiable information. The NHS IG Framework is supported by a Data Security &
Protection Toolkit and the annual submission process provides assurances to the CCG, other
organisations and to individuals that personal information is dealt with legally, securely,
efficiently and effectively. We place high importance on ensuring there are robust IG
systems and processes in place to help protect patient and corporate information. We have
established an IG management framework and have developed information governance
processes and procedures in line with the Data Security & Protection Toolkit (DSPT). We
have ensured all staff undertake annual IG training and have implemented a staff IG
resource guide to ensure members of staff are aware of their information governance roles
and responsibilities, and how to access information or assistance.
There are processes in place for incident reporting and investigation of serious incidents. No
serious incidents requiring investigation involving personal data were reported to the
Information Commissioner in 2020/21.
The CCG has nominated information asset owners who have completed the new data flow
mapping and information asset registers to ensure compliance with the General Data
Protection Regulations. This was done with support from the IG Team to ensure consistency
of approach.
Due to the pandemic response, the deadline for submission of the 2020/21 DSPT has been
extended until 30th June, the CCG is on course to meet all mandatory assertions.
The CCG’s Senior Information Risk Owner (SIRO) and Caldicott Guardian attended role
specific training during 2020/21.
Business Critical Models
In line with best practice recommendations of the 2013 MacPherson review into the quality
assurance of analytical models, this CCG confirms that a framework and environment is in
place to provide quality assurance of business critical models, this model is reviewed and
forms part of the Audit Committees annual cycle of assurance checks. Given the
developments in algorithmic or similar platforms, assurance models such as this remain
under constant review.
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Third party assurances
Where third parties are assigned through services commissioned by West Essex CCG, provider
compliance is regulated through clauses such as General Condition 12 (Assignment and SubContracting) of the NHS Standard Terms and regular performance monitoring.
Control Issues
No significant control issues have been identified that are currently facing the CCG.
Review of economy, efficiency & effectiveness of the use of resources
Ensuring the effective and efficient use of resources is a key duty of the CCG.
The CCG’s Finance and Performance Committee reviews and agrees the organisation’s
financial plans and budgets at the beginning of the year and is responsible for receiving and
reviewing the detailed monthly finance and performance reports in respect of the CCG’s
operational performance together with its performance against transformation and efficiency
targets.
The Board is required to approve the annual financial plan and the WECCG System Financial
Plan 2020-21 went to the Board in March 2020.
At each meeting the Board receives a report on key financial and performance issues
including related risks, with the FACT sheets being presented as an appendix to the Chief
Officer / Managing Directors Report. Additionally, more recently, the Deputy Director of
Finance, Contracts and Performance has included a finance update.
The continuous requirement to deliver year on year efficiency within available resources is
developed in line with best practice and benchmarking of key performance metrics whilst
demonstrating that the health needs of the local population are being considered and
appropriately commissioned. From a corporate running cost originally allocated at £19.44
per head of population, the CCG has achieved an actual figure of £19.10 per head.
Key financial risks are incorporated with the organisation’s risk register which is subject to
review by the Executive and Audit Committees, with risks rated significant being reported to
the Board.
Internal audit plans are approved by the Executive Committee and endorsed by the Audit
Committee and will provide a focus on areas relating key controls required to ensure the
effective use of resources.
The External Auditor provides assurance through their opinion on whether the CCG’s
financial statements give a true and fair view of the financial position at the end of each
year and of the regularity of expenditure and income. The External Auditor also reports on
an exception basis where they are not satisfied that the CCG has made proper arrangements
for securing economy, efficiency and effectiveness in its use of resources for the year ended
31 March 2021. The External Auditor had no matters to report in relation to these matters
for the year ended 31 March 2021.
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The CCG has in place appropriate procurement procedures to ensure that value for money is
achieved when tendering for goods and services.
Delegation of functions
The CCG has no delegated functions, however we do hold NHSE&I delegated functions.
Counter fraud arrangements
Oversight is exercised by commissioning internal audit review via a risk based audit plan and
the receipt of reports at the Audit Committee from external and internal auditors and the
Local Counter Fraud Service (LCFS). These reports detail areas of concern. The Committee
reviews the draft and final Annual Accounts prior to recommending their approval, receives
and reviews the annual audit letters, audit recommendations and Annual Report and
reviews progress made to clear audit recommendations throughout the year. In addition the
assurance processes for both the Operational Risk Register and Board Assurance Framework
are regularly reviewed, together with the receipt of reports on losses, bad debts, hospitality
and gifts and tender waivers which are provided at each Audit Committee.
Internal Audit and LCFS risk assessments and plans are reviewed and approved at the Audit
Committee following consultation with the Director of Finance, Contracting and
Performance who is the Executive lead responsible for tackling fraud bribery and corruption.
The Committee receives reports from Internal Audit and from the LCFS at each meeting and
requests updates and follow up actions as appropriate. In addition there is discussion with
NHS England and Improvement regarding how counter fraud risk is managed across
Commissioning Support Unit boundaries. The counter fraud service is provided by an
accredited LCFS.
The LCFS provides regular updates to the Director of Finance, Contracting and Performance
on all aspects of the proactive and reactive work undertaken at the CCG and progression
against the agreed work plan.
The LCFS has a standing item on the Audit Committee agenda and presents a report
detailing the work being undertaken against the NHS Counter Fraud Authority (NHSCFA) 4
key domains relating to counter fraud standards. These are:
•
•
•
•

Strategic Governance
Inform and Involve
Prevent and Deter
Hold to Account

An update on the progression of investigations and the implementation of
recommendations is also provided at these meetings. The CCG undertakes briefings on
fraud to the Audit Committee.
An assessment of compliance with the NHS Counter Fraud Authority standards is conducted
annually and is used to inform the workplan.
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Head of Internal Audit Opinion
Following completion of the planned audit work for the financial year for the clinical
commissioning group, the Head of Internal Audit issued an independent and objective
opinion on the adequacy and effectiveness of the clinical commissioning group’s system of
risk management, governance and internal control. The Head of Internal Audit concluded
that:
Following completion of the planned audit work for the financial year for the clinical
commissioning group, the Head of Internal Audit issued an independent and objective
opinion on the adequacy and effectiveness of the clinical commissioning group’s system of
risk management, governance and internal control. The Head of Internal Audit concluded
that:

Insufficient

Requires
Improvement

Reasonable

Substantial

Reasonable assurance can be given that there is a generally sound system of internal
control, designed to meet the organisation’s objectives, and that controls are generally
being applied consistently. However, some weakness in the design and/or inconsistent
application of controls, put the achievement of particular objectives at risk.
During the year, Internal Audit issued the following audit reports:
Area of Audit

Level of Assurance Given

Procurement Governance

Reasonable

Primary Care Networks

Substantial

Risk Management, Assurance Framework,
Conflicts of Interest and Gifts and
Hospitality

Reasonable

Emergency Governance Arrangements

Substantial

Key Financial Systems – Creditors, Debtors
and Asset Management

Substantial

Payroll

Requires improvement*
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Cyber Security

Cyber Security audit postponed until Q1 of
2021/22

Information Governance

DSPT audit currently underway in Q1 202122.

*An internal audit in relation to its payroll processing identified a number of areas that
require improvement.
The CCG outsources the provision of payroll services to NHS Shared Business Service, with
the Human Resources (HR) function being provided as part of a HR and ODL Shared Service
between Hertfordshire and West Essex CCGs. This audit, however, primarily focused on the
adequacy and effectiveness of the controls operated by the CCG.
While the auditors acknowledged the exceptional circumstances in which the CCG has had
to operate throughout the year, because of COVID-19, with staff working remotely, their
findings made eight recommendations for improvement, largely in relation to the
completion and processing of forms. The CCG is now acting on these.
Factors and findings which have informed opinion
•

Inherent risk in the area being audited;

•

Limitations in the individual audit assignments;

•

The adequacy and effectiveness of the risk management and/ or governance
control framework;

•

The impact of weaknesses identified;

•

The level of risk exposure; and

•

The response to management actions raised and timeliness of actions taken.

Our opinion is based upon the following:
•

An assessment of the design and operation of the underpinning Board Assurance
Framework and supporting processes (reasonable assurance)

•

An assessment of the processes for the recording and management of Conflicts
of Interest (reasonable assurance)

•

An assessment of the design and application of the key financial controls
(substantial assurance);

•

An assessment of the processes for the collation of evidence of compliance with
the Data Security and Protection Toolkit (Reasonable Assurance) and

•

An assessment of the range of individual opinions, arising from risk-based audit
assignments contained within the internal audit plan (as illustrated below) that
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have been reported throughout the year. This assessment had taken account of
the relative materiality of these areas and management’s progress in respect of
addressing control weaknesses. Of the five assignments completed (to at least
draft report stage) two received opinions of substantial assurance, three received
“Reasonable Assurance” and one Requires Improvement.
Review of the effectiveness of governance, risk management and internal control
My review of the effectiveness of the system of internal control is informed by the work of
the internal auditors, executive managers and clinical leads within the clinical
commissioning group who have responsibility for the development and maintenance of the
internal control framework. I have drawn on performance information available to me. My
review is also informed by comments made by the external auditors in their annual audit
letter and other reports.
Our assurance framework provides me with evidence that the effectiveness of controls that
manage risks to the clinical commissioning group achieving its principles objectives have
been reviewed.
I have been advised on the implications of the result of this review by the Board, Audit
Committee, Quality Committee and Internal Audit.

Conclusion
Emergency governance during COVID-19
The emergency governance arrangements put in place by the CCG as part of its response to
Covid-19, provided ‘substantial assurance’ the organisation’s control and risk management
framework is effective. That was the finding of an internal audit to ensure key controls were
being maintained in six key areas – strategic, clinical, finance, HR and information
governance, as well as communications.
The CCG did not need to evoke any emergency powers as a result of the pandemic. Its board
and committees continued to meet virtually throughout the year and decision making
processes were amended accordingly. From a day-to-day point of view, the CCG established
four ‘cells’ to manage its operations, enabling it to respond effectively to the emergency
reporting and financial arrangements put in place.
An earlier investment in laptops across the CCG, and in GP practices, enabled the majority of
staff to work productively from home as soon as the lockdown began. Technology also
helped maintain good communications with staff. People were able to still feel part of a
team and regular discussions were held about wellbeing.
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……………………………………………….
Dr Jane Halpin
Accountable Officer
1 June 2020 – 31 March 2021
Signed: 11th June 2021
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REMUNERATION REPORT
REMUNERATION COMMITTEE
Information on the Remuneration and Terms of Service Committee, including membership
and attendance for 2020-21, are detailed on page 94, within the Governance Statement.

POLICY ON REMUNERATION OF SENIOR MANAGERS
The CCG uses the NHS England published remuneration guidance for CCG Chief Officers and
Chief Finance Officers in determining the remuneration for these roles. For other Very
Senior Manager (VSM) roles, the previous NHS VSM framework is used as a guide. The CCG
benchmarks with local CCGs to ensure that remuneration is in line with the local Economy.
Remuneration for all senior roles is agreed via the Remuneration and Terms of Service
Committee. For all other staff, the Agenda for Change framework is applied. Remuneration
of Very Senior Managers (subject to audit)

SENIOR MANAGER REMUNERATION (INCLUDING SALARY AND PENSION
ENTITLEMENTS)
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Integrated Care System (ICS) Joint Executive Team: The following table shows the senior
managers total Remuneration where there has been a sharing arrangement between
CCG's and the ICS.

PENSIONS BENEFITS 2020/21
Salary and pension entitlements of directors and senior managers

Hertfordshire & West Essex Integrated Care system (ICS): The following table discloses the Total
pension entitlements of directors and senior managers where there is a sharing arrangement
between CCGs
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Cash Equivalent Transfer Values
A cash equivalent transfer value (CETV) is the actuarially assessed capital value of the
pension scheme benefits accrued by a member at a particular point in time. The benefits
valued are the member’s accrued benefits and any contingent spouse’s (or other allowable
beneficiary’s) pension payable from the scheme.
Real Increase in CETV
A CETV is a payment made by a pension scheme or arrangement to secure pension benefits
in another pension scheme or arrangement when the member leaves a scheme and chooses
to transfer the benefits accrued in their former scheme. The pension figures shown relate to
the benefits that the individual has accrued as a consequence of their total membership of
the pension scheme, not just their service in a senior capacity to which disclosure applies.
The CETV figures and the other pension details include the value of any pension benefits in
another scheme or arrangement which the individual has transferred to the NHS pension
scheme. They also include any additional pension benefit accrued to the member as a result
of their purchasing additional years of pension service in the scheme at their own cost.
CETVs are calculated within the guidelines and framework prescribed by the Institute and
Faculty of Actuaries.
Compensation on Early Retirement or For Loss of Office
This reflects the increase in CETV that is funded by the employer. It does not include the
increase in accrued pension due to inflation or contributions paid by the employee
(including the value of any benefits transferred from another scheme or arrangement).
Payments to Past Members
No payments of money or other assets have been made to any individual who was not a
Senior Manager during the financial year, but has previously been a Senior Manager at any
time.
Pay Multiples
Reporting bodies are required to disclose the relationship between the remuneration of the
highest paid director/Member in their organisation and the median remuneration of the
organisation’s workforce.
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STAFF REPORT
HR SHARED SERVICE MODEL
CCG managers have access to the HRXtra service – a telephone and online resource
providing advice and guidance on people and employee relations issues. In 2020/21, the
HRXtra service has held monthly face-to-face clinics at the CCG to increase accessibility and
build rapport with managers.
The HR team moved to virtual interviews at the start of the pandemic and the HR put
together guidance to support those interviewing and applicants to ensure the process was
seamless.
The CCG has supported with the call to support the national mass vaccination programme
and the HR team have liaised with the counterparts across the system to produce a
memorandum of understanding for mutual aid requests. This has continued to be used
throughout the pandemic for redeployment requests. A minimal amount of CCG staff were
deployed.
The HR team has supported with the co-ordination of the staff vaccination programme to
ensure that staff who wish to receive the COVID vaccination have the availability to do so,
working with organisations across the local system that are providing the vaccinations.

EQUALITY AND DIVERSITY REPORT
Introduction
Equality is relevant to everyone, not just certain groups of people. Everybody is protected
under the Equality Act 2010 from discrimination or harassment, if this treatment is because
of a protected characteristic.
The purpose of this document is to publish information to demonstrate how West Essex
Clinical Commissioning Group (CCG) is meeting our Public Sector Equality Duties in relation
to the Equality Act 2010.
The CCG is required to publish this information as specified in the Equality Act 2010
(Statutory Duties) Regulations 2011, Section 2 – Publishing information. As well as the WRES
report, the CCG published its annual workforce equality data report.
Section 149 of the Equality Act outlines the general duties to have due regard to in the
exercising of our functions:
• Eliminate discrimination, harassment, victimisation and any other conduct that is
prohibited by, or under, the Equality Act.
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• Advance equality of opportunity between persons who share a relevant protected
characteristic and persons who do not share it.
• Foster good relations between persons who share a relevant protected characteristic
and persons who do not share it. These duties are relevant to the protected
characteristics of:
•
•
•
•
•
•
•
•
•

Age
Disability
Gender reassignment
Pregnancy and maternity
Race
Religion or belief
Sex
Sexual orientation
Marital status (in employment only)

In addition, consideration is also given to other disadvantaged groups who experience
health inequalities, such as:
•
•
•
•
•
•
•

People who are carers
People who are homeless
People who live in poverty
People in stigmatised occupations (e.g. Prostitution)
People who misuse drugs
People with limited family or social networks
People who are geographically isolated

Due Regard to the Public Sector Equality Duty (PSED)
Showing due regard to the PSED means that the CCG should consider the aims of the Duty in
a way that is proportionate to the issue at hand.
When making decisions the CCG should look to remove or minimise disadvantages suffered
by persons who share a relevant protected characteristic that are connected to that
characteristic, and taking steps to meet the needs of persons who share a relevant
protected characteristic that are different from the needs of persons who do not share it.
Decision-makers should ensure that they give real consideration to these aims and think
about the impact of policies with rigour and with an open mind, in such a way that might
influence the final decision. They should do this before and during policy formation and
when a decision is taken. Addressing equality in this way should be considered business as
usual, not an exceptional activity. Case law has established that what is important is not the
preparation of a particular document, but that officials give proper, informed consideration
to equality issues at the right time and that they keep a record of that consideration.
Equality analyses/equality impact assessments are just one of many ways of demonstrating
compliance with the PSED, and a refreshed equality impact assessment process was
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established during the year and a training programme developed and introduced to support
the effective delivery use of equality impact assessments. Decision makers were given
training on how to show Due Regard.
It is important that any conclusions arising from the equality analyses are able to influence
policies and practices.
For Patients
West Essex Clinical Commissioning Group is responsible for ensuring everyone in West Essex
has access to a choice of high-quality health services. We provide funding for Healthcare
Services, including community services, hospitals and mental health provision.
Our responsibilities are:
• Assessing the health needs of local people.
• Commissioning the right services.
• Improving the overall health of the local communities.
• Ensuring that services can be accessed by everyone.
• Listening to patients' views on services and acting on them.
For Staff
• Recruitment and selection processes are transparent and include equality impact
assessment.
• Policies to support staff in the workplace (e.g. Dignity at Work, Flexible Working)
have a focus on promoting equality.
The annual staff survey has equality themes and can be analysed by protected
characteristic. Each year, the staff survey is analysed and an action plan developed to
address issues.
Commissioned Services
• We assess the health needs of the population of West Essex and ensure that health
inequalities information about the people of West Essex is available to
commissioners via the Joint Strategy Needs Assessment (JSNA).
• Every service that is commissioned will include an equality impact assessment and it
is a requirement for our providers to produce their own equality impact assessment.
• Contract monitoring includes equality indicators for all commissioned services.
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The NHS Equality Delivery System (EDS2)
The CCG began work on assessment against the requirements of EDS2. A new equality
steering group was established, this group took on a wider role looking at equality and
diversity in all the aspects of the CCG’s work. The completion of EDS2 will support the CCG,
along with the findings of the employment and equality reports, to deliver a new equality
action plan, one of the requirements of the public sector equality duty. During the year we
began to look at EDS2 across the three CCGs in the ICS. The pandemic has meant a change in
approach and we are looking at how evidence from the response to the pandemic will
support both or EDS2 assessment and provide lessons in how effectively the needs of the
equality groups were met. Over the next year, we expect there to be closer working
between the 3 CCGs on EDS2 as we become more aligned.

WORKFORCE DATA
Sickness Absence Data
Sickness absence data relating to the 2020/21 FY extracted from ESR, utilising data available
as at 31 March 2021
•
• Total days lost: 323.98 days (source: ESR)
•

Average absence per FTE 2.35 days

•

Long-term absence episodes: 9 (taken from ESR)

•

Long-term days total: 200 days (taken from ESR; included in total days lost)

Gender Pay Gap 2020
Workforce Gender Split
Gender

Male

Female

2020

24.6%

75.4%

Mean*

Median*

36.2%

39.8%

Gender Pay Gap at West Essex CCG

2020
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*A minus figure indicates that female staff have a higher median pay rate than male
staff.
Gender Profile by Pay Quartile
2020
Quartile

Female %

Male %

Lower

88.10

11.90

Lower middle

87.80

12.20

Upper middle

74.42

25.58

Upper

53.49

46.51

On the snapshot date there had been an increase in female staff in the lower quartile and a
reduction in the upper two quartiles. There had been an increase in male staff in the upper
two quartiles and a reduction in the lowest quartile.
The table below shows the number of staff by quartile on 31 March 2020, the snapshot
date for gender pay gap reporting.

2019
Quartile
Female
Lower 36

2020
Male

5

37

5

Lower middle 36

5

36

5

Upper middle 34

8

32

11

19

23

20

Upper 24

More than half the men employed by the CCG are in the two upper quartiles. More than
half of the women employed by the CCG are in the lower two quartiles.
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Organisational Profile
Workforce Overview (as at 31 October 2020)

Characteristi
c
Gender
Male
Female
Disability
Status
Yes
No
Undeclared
Ethnicity
White
BME
Undeclared
Age Band
20 to 39
40 to 49
50 to 65
65+
Religion
Atheism
Christianity
Hinduism
Islam
Other
Undeclared
Sexual
Orientation
LGBTQ
Heterosexual
Undeclared
Marital
Status
Married /
Civil
Partnership
Single
Separated
Divorced
Widowed
Undeclared

2020
Workforce
Data (%)

Local
Demographi
c (%)

2019
Workforce
Data (%)

19.51
80.49

48.59
51.41

23.20
76.80

2.44
63.41
31.15

7.1
92.9
--

2.76
58.56
38.67

71.95
21.95
6.10

85.4
14.6
-

71.27
19.34
9.39

25.00
26.83
46.34
1.83

23.76
13.51
21.00
17.35

29.28
22.65
44.20
3.87

9.15
36.59
4.88
2.44
6.08
40.86

26.37
60.72
0.89
1.57
10.2
-

6.63
34.25
4.97
2.76
3.31
48.07

2.44
60.43
34.15

-

2.21
57.46
40.33

65.85

47.4

65.19

21.34
9.15
1.22
1.22

26.25
2.3
7.28
5.97
-

23.76
0.00
6.63
1.10
3.31
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Local Demographic - Unless otherwise indicated numbers are derived from 2011 Census data
Gender - Local Demographic ONS mid-2018
Age Band - Local Demographic ONS mid-2018
Sexual Orientation - No national or local statistics available. Stonewall suggest LGBTQ
population is 5% - 7% of the population
Marital Status - No data available for Uttlesford – statistics derived from Epping Forest and
Harlow only.
Recruitment & Selection Overview: Part-time Working and Maternity and Adoption Leave
Overall likelihood of being appointed 10.98% (47 appointed from 428 people shortlisted)
Applications Shortlisted

Appointed
2020

2020
Likelihood of
being
appointed
from
shortlisting
(%) – average
33.33%

Gender
Male

68

19

4

21.05

Female

203

74

27

36.48

I do not wish to disclose

2

-

-

-

Disability
Yes

15

3

-

-

No

236

71

17

23.94

Unstated/I do not wish to disclose

22

19

14

73.68

Ethnicity
White

135

49

17

34.69

BME

126

41

14

34.14

Unstated/ I do not wish to disclose

12

3

-

-
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Age
Under 20

1

-

-

-

20-29 years

70

13

5

38.46

30-39 years

71

22

5

22.72

40-49 years

60

27

8

29.62

50-59 years

56

25

11

44.00

60-64 years

14

6

2

33.33

65+ years

1

-

-

-

By comparing equality group likelihood to the average we can see that men were less likely
to be appointed. The figures for White and BAME staff show that both were above average
likelihood for appointment. This is an anomaly caused by the 3 people shortlisted who did not
declare their ethnicity. That no disabled people were appointed means that the average
figures can’t be compared.
Maternity and Adoption Leave
6 members of staff were on maternity or adoption leave during the year and 3 returned to
work.
Gender - percentage of pay band (Male employees are 19.51% of all employees, down
from 23.20% in 2019)
If there were parity male employees would make up 19.51% and women 80.49% of each
grade. Analysis of the data shows where male employees are over or under represented in
each pay band.

2020
Pay Band
Band 2
Band 3
Band 4
Band 5
Band 6
Band 7
Band 8a

Male
(%)
12.50
15.00
15.00
20.83

Female
(%)
100.00
100.00
87.50
85.00
85.00
79.17

2019
Male (%)

Female (%)

33.33
16.67
9.52
23.08

100.00
66.67
100.00
83.33
100.00
90.48
76.92
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Band 8b
Band 8c
Band 8d
Band 9
Non-AfC
VSM

15.00
85.00
11.11
33.33
66.67
33.33
20.00
80.00
16.67
100.00
40.00
25.00
75.00
51.51
39.29
60.71
62.50
Table 1 – Gender Pay Comparison

88.89
66.67
83.33
60.00
48.48
37.50

Ethnicity - percentage of pay band (BME staff are 21.95% of all employees, up from
19.34% in 2019)
If there were parity BME employees would make up 21.95% of each grade. Analysis of the
data shows where BME employees are over or under represented in each pay band.

Pay Band

2020
BME %

White %

Not Known/
Undisclosed
Band 2
Band 3
25.00
75.00
Band 4
9.09
90.91
Band 5
6.25
93.75
Band 6
30.00
60.00
10.00
Band 7
40.00
50.00
10.00
Band 8a
29.17
70.83
Band 8b
15.00
85.00
Band 8c
11.11
88.89
Band 8d
20.00
60.00
20.00
Band 9
33.33
33.33
33.33
Non-AfC
50.00
25.00
25.00
VSM
14.29
75.00
10.71
Table 2 – Ethnicity Pay Comparison

Gender Breakdown (as at 31 March 2021)
Governing Body Members (covers VSM pay framework grades)
Male
Headcount
11

Female
%
52.38

Headcount
10

%
47.62
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Senior Managers – Band 8a and above with STP
Male

Female

Headcount
12

%
17.39

Headcount
57

%
82.61

All other bands (Band 7 and below) with STP
Male

Female

Headcount
7

%
9.21

Headcount
69

%
90.79

Non-AFC
Male

Female

Headcount
5

%
33.33

Headcount
10

%
66.67

Staff Numbers and Costs
As at 31 March 2021, West Essex CCG employed a total of 181 staff (147.18 full time
equivalents).
Employee Category
Full Time
Part Time
Grand Total

%
74.74
25.26

FTE
110
37.18
147.18

Staff Composition

Pay Band
Male (%)
Band 2
Band 3
Band 4
Band 5
Band 6
Band 7
Band 8a
Band 8b
Band 8c
Band 8d

12.50
15.00
15.00
20.83
15.00
33.33
20.00

Female
(%)
100.00
100.00
87.50
85.00
85.00
79.17
85.00
66.67
80.00
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Band 9
100.00
Non-AfC
25.00
75.00
VSM
39.29
60.71
Table 1 – Gender Pay Comparison
Staff turnover

Sickness Absence Data (subject to audit)
Sickness absence data relating to the 2020/21 FY extracted from ESR, utilising data available
as at 31 March 2021
•

Total days lost: 323.98 days (source: ESR)

•

Average absence per FTE 2.35 days

•

Long-term absence episodes: 9 (taken from ESR)

•

Long-term days total: 200 days (taken from ESR; included in total days lost)

Staff Policies
The HR Shared Service has developed a policy forum that spans across three CCGs. The policy
forum has HR, management and staff representatives from each CCG and works together to
adopt best practice in people management policy across the organisations. Through this
group, 25 policies were reviewed, amended and maintained, with supporting guidance
continuing to be developed and updated:
•
•
•
•
•
•
•
•

Agency and Interim Use Policy
Agile Working Policy
Alcohol, Drug and Substance Misuse Policy
Annual Leave Policy
Appraisal and Performance Review Policy
Apprenticeship Policy
Attendance and Wellbeing Policy
Bullying and Harassment Policy
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•
•
•
•
•
•
•
•
•
•
•
•
•
•
•
•
•
•
•

Capability Policy
Disciplinary Policy
Domestic abuse Policy
Education, Training and Development Policy
Employment Break Policy
Equality and Diversity Policy
Flexible Working Policy
Grievance Policy
Homeworking Policy
Maternity, Maternity Support (Paternity), Adoption/Fostering Parental Leave Policy
Organisational Change Policy
Overtime, On-Call and Working Time Policy
Probation and Induction Policy
Raising Concerns (Whistleblowing) Policy
Recruitment and Selection Policy
Secondment Policy
Special Leave Policy
Verification of Professional Registration Policy
Volunteer Policy

Whistleblowing
The CCG has in place a ‘Raising Concerns at Work – Whistleblowing’ policy which provides
staff with information and reassurance regarding their rights and responsibilities in reporting
concerns. It sets out clearly how staff can report in confidence, good faith and without fear of
retribution. As part of this policy, the CCG has nominated a lay member, Stephen King, to
oversee the effectiveness of this process. During 2019/20, the CCG introduced speak up
inclusion champions to help keep the CCG safe and supportive for staff, during 20/21
champions continued to be trained.
Health and Safety
The CCG is fully committed to protecting the health, safety and welfare of all staff, providing
a secure and healthy environment in which to work.
The CCG recognises its legal obligations under the Health and Safety at Work etc. Act
(HASAWA) 1974, to ensure the health, safety and welfare of its staff, so far as is reasonably
practicable. The CCG also accepts such responsibility for other persons who may be affected
by its activities.

Training
Following the introduction of a new mandatory programme in 2018, including three
additional courses (Conflict of Interest, Stamping Out Bullying in the CCG and Prevent
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Awareness), the overall compliance with mandatory training for 2019/20 currently sits at
90%.
During 2020/21 a wide range of optional learning and development opportunities were
offered to staff via the MindTools web portal and virtually through the HR ODL shared service.
West Essex CCG’s overall level of compliance with mandatory training at the snapshot date
was 83.69%.

Age
Not 100% Compliant
100% Compliant

21-40
17
15

41-50
22
18

51-65
28
61

65+
4
7

Apprenticeship Levy
The Apprenticeship Levy was introduced nationwide in April 2017 to help deliver new
apprenticeships and to support quality training by putting employers at the heart of the
system. As part of the program, the government is committed to developing vocational
skills, and to increasing the quantity and quality of apprenticeships.
Employers with annual pay bills in excess of £3 million are required to pay 0.5 % of their
pay-bill into the scheme. The scheme started to gain momentum in 2020 with two staff now
taking part in the Apprenticeship programme. The CCG will continue to encourage staff to
take up further opportunities.

EMPLOYEE CONSULTATION AND COMMUNICATIONS

NHS Workforce Race Equality Standard (WRES)
The Workforce Race Equality Standard (WRES) has been developed by the NHS as a tool to
measure improvements in the workforce with respect to Black & Minority Ethnic (BME)
staff. Implementing the Workforce Race Equality Standard (WRES) is a requirement for NHS
commissioners and NHS healthcare providers. The challenge to ensure BME staff are treated
fairly and their talents valued and developed is one that all NHS organisations need to meet.
The current WRES report is available on line at:
https://westessexccg.nhs.uk/internal-comm5-doc5/documents/3717-west-essex-ccgworkforce-race-equality-standard-2020/file
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2020 NHS Staff Survey
We had an excellent response rate from the staff survey from staff of 81%, which is higher
than the national average.
You can see the results in full for West Essex CCG and other NHS organisations here:
http://www.nhsstaffsurveyresults.com/homepage/benchmark-directorate-reports-2020/
Overall, our results were very close to the national average, with some areas where we have
performed particularly well and others where we need to make some improvements.

Staff Partnership Group (SPG)
The Staff Partnership Group was established in 2019 and has continued to meet and
conduct work throughout 2020/21 to ensure the wellbeing, motivation and engagement of
our workforce.
It’s membership consists of voluntary representatives from across the CCG.
The SPG provides a forum for staff to air their views on key issues affecting staff and
wellbeing and makes recommendations to the Executive Team. They also act as a sounding
board for new initiatives across the business.
Support for Staff Health and Well-being

The impact of the COVID-19 pandemic has meant CCG staff have been working remotely
throughout 2020. The Executive team has been working to mitigate the adverse impacts on
staff health and wellbeing by making it a key priority. To this end all CCG staff have had
personal risk assessments. Staff have access to enhanced health and wellbeing support
which includes access to the National and Local NHS health, wellbeing and mental health
support offers. During 2020 HR launched a new Employee Assistance Programme (EAP), it
offers enhanced support to staff and managers and is integrated with the local NHS
psychological support offer.
Additionally HR introduced dedicated health and wellbeing resources through its intranet
site, regularly promoting resources to staff at all- staff briefing sessions and through weekly
newsletters. The site provides a central point where individuals and managers can find
information and advice specific to managing their personal needs or the needs of their
team. During the year the CCG signed the Time to Change Pledge demonstrating its
commitment to promoting a positive culture for mental health. The CCG has 6 qualified
Mental Health First- aiders.
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All staff were been provided with information about the working time regulations. Staff
have been actively encouraged not to work excessive hours and to take annual leave to
avoid burnout. Time off in lieu arrangements are in place and used where appropriate.
Working patterns are closely monitored to ensure adequate time for rest and recuperation.
Line managers are encouraged to maintain regular contact with teams and individuals to
ensure that staff feel involved and understand flexible options for working.
Managers are encouraged to monitor team resilience, practice compassionate leadership
and have health and wellbeing conversations to support the culture for health and
wellbeing.
In line with the NHS staff COVID-19 vaccination programme, all staff were invited to take up
flu vaccinations. At the time of writing this report records show that 79% of staff received
their first vaccine.
Equality of opportunity for staff
In July, we shared with CCG staff across our ICS area, our organisation’s commitment to
challenging inequalities in the workplace and improving opportunities for all of our staff.
Staff are encouraged to discuss equality issues within team meetings and bring forward
comments and suggestions. The CCG’s holds national status as a Disability Confident
employer.
The first meeting of our new BAME Network took place in October, which aimed to
empower staff from Black, Asian or minority ethnic backgrounds to engage with the
organisation in a meaningful way and to discuss ways in which the experience and
opportunities within the CCG can be improved.

EXPENDITURE ON CONSULTANCY (SUBJECT TO AUDIT)
The expenditure on consultancy is shown in the tables below.

Expenditure on Consultancy

2020-21
Total
£'000
430

2020-21
Admin
£'000
35

2020-21
Programme
£'000
395

2019-20
Total
£'000
1232

2019-20
Admin
£'000
7

2019-20
Programme
£'000
1225

Prior Year

Expenditure on Consultancy
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OFF-PAYROLL ENGAGEMENTS
Table 1: Off-payroll engagements longer than 6 months
For all off-payroll engagements as at 31 March 2021, for more than £245 per day and that
last longer than six months:
Number
Number of existing engagements as of 31 March 2021

1

Of which, the number that have existed:
for less than one year at the time of reporting

0

for between one and two years at the time of reporting

1

for between 2 and 3 years at the time of reporting

0

for between 3 and 4 years at the time of reporting

0

for 4 or more years at the time of reporting

0

All existing off-payroll engagements have been subject to a risk based assessment as to
whether assurance is required that the individual is paying the right amount of tax and,
where necessary, that assurance has been sought.
Table 2: For all new off-payroll engagements
For all new off-payroll engagements between 1 April 2020 and 31 March 2021, for more
than £245 per day and that last longer than six months:
Number
Number of new engagements, or those that reached six months in
duration, between 1 April 2020 and 31 March 2021

0

Of which:
Number assessed as caught by IR35

0
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Number assessed as not caught by IR35

0

Number engaged directly (via PSC contracted to the entity) and are on
the entity’s payroll
Number of engagements reassessed for consistency / assurance
purposes during the year.

0
0

Number of engagements that saw a change to IR35 status following
the consistency review

0

Table 3: Off-payroll board member/senior official engagements (not subject to audit)
For any off-payroll engagements of board members, and/or senior officials with significant
financial responsibility, between 1 April 2020 and 31 March 2021.
Number of off-payroll engagements of board members, and/or
senior officers with significant financial responsibility, during the

0

financial year
Total no. of individuals on payroll and off-payroll that have been
deemed “board members, and/or, senior officials with significant
financial responsibility”, during the financial year. This figure should

0

include both on payroll and off-payroll engagements.

EXIT PACKAGES, INCLUDING SPECIAL (NON-CONTRACTUAL) PAYMENTS
There was one compulsory redundancy costing £22,756 in the financial year 2020/21 (one in
2019-20 costing £6,415).
Redundancy and other departure costs have been paid in accordance with the provisions of
Agenda for Change.
Exit costs are accounted for in accordance with relevant accounting standards and at the
latest in full in the year of departure.
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…………………………………………..
Dr Jane Halpin
Accountable Officer
Date signed: 11th June 2021
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PARLIAMENTARY ACCOUNTABILITY AND AUDIT
REPORT
West Essex CCG is not required to produce a Parliamentary Accountability and Audit Report.
Disclosures on remote contingent liabilities, losses and special payments, gifts, and fees and
charges are included as notes in the Financial Statements of this report in pages 141 to 172.
An audit certificate and report is also included in this Annual Report.
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ANNUAL ACCOUNTS

Entity name:

NHS West Essex CCG

This year

2020-21

Last year

2019-20

This year ended

31-March-2021

Last year ended

31-March-2020

This year commencing:

01-April-2020

Last year commencing:

01-April-2019
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……………………………………………….
Dr Jane Halpin
Accountable Officer
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Date signed: 11th June 2021
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NHS West Essex CCG - Annual Accounts 2020-21
Statement of Cash Flows for the year ended
31 March 2021
Note
Cash Flows from Operating Activities
Net operating expenditure for the financial year
Depreciation and amortisation
decrease in trade & other receivables
Increase in trade & other payables
Provisions utilised
Increase in provisions
Net Cash Inflow (Outflow) from Operating Activities

5
9
11
12
12

2020-21
£'000

2019-20
£'000

(622,450)
78
436
15,949
(56)
476
(605,567)

(478,580)
99
2,394
3,406
(1,330)
(47)
(474,058)

Cash Flows from Investing Activities
(Payments) for property, plant and equipment

0

(37)

Net Cash Inflow (Outflow) from Investing Activities

0

(37)

Net Cash Outflow before Financing

(605,567)

(474,095)

Cash Flows from Financing Activities
Grant in Aid Funding Received

606,003

474,672

Net Cash Inflow from Financing Activities

606,003

474,672

436

577

Net Decrease in Cash & Cash Equivalents

10

Cash & Cash Equivalents at the Beginning of the Financial Year

(650)

(1,227)

Cash & Cash Equivalents (including bank overdrafts) at the End of the Financial Year

(214)

(650)

The notes on page 145 to 155 form part of this statement
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Notes to the financial statements
1 Accounting Policies
NHS England has directed that the financial statements of clinical commissioning groups shall meet
the accounting requirements of the Group Accounting Manual issued by the Department of Health
and Social Care. Consequently, the following financial statements have been prepared in accordance
with the Group Accounting Manual 2020-21 issued by the Department of Health and Social Care. The
accounting policies contained in the Group Accounting Manual follow International Financial
Reporting Standards to the extent that they are meaningful and appropriate to clinical
commissioning groups, as determined by HM Treasury, which is advised by the Financial Reporting
Advisory Board. Where the Group Accounting Manual permits a choice of accounting policy, the
accounting policy which is judged to be most appropriate to the particular circumstances of the
clinical commissioning group for the purpose of giving a true and fair view has been selected. The
particular policies adopted by the clinical commissioning group are described below. They have been
applied consistently in dealing with items considered material in relation to the accounts.
1.2 Going Concern
These accounts have been prepared on a going concern basis Public sector bodies are assumed to be
going concerns where the continuation of the provision of a service in the future is anticipated, as
evidenced by inclusion of financial provision for that service in published documents. Where a
clinical commissioning group ceases to exist, it considers whether or not its services will continue to
be provided (using the same assets, by another public sector entity) in determining whether to use
the concept of going concern for the final set of financial statements. If services will continue to be
provided the financial statements are prepared on the going concern basis.
With publication of the White paper “Integration and innovation: working together to improve
health and social care for all”, the Government has signalled an intention to create Integrated Care
Systems (ICS) as statutory organisations; repurposing CCGs and replacing them from 1 April 2022.
Whilst ICS boundaries are not yet confirmed, West Essex CCG will be repurposed and replaced, along
with one or more other Clinical Commissioning Groups, to create an ICS. In light of this, the services
that this CCG currently provides will continue to be provided, using the same assets, by another
public sector entity. These accounts can therefore be prepared on a going concern basis.
1.3 Accounting Convention
These accounts have been prepared under the historical cost convention modified to account for the
revaluation of property, plant and equipment, intangible assets, inventories and certain financial
assets and financial liabilities.
1.4 Operating Segments Income and expenditure are analysed in the Operating Segments note and
are reported in line with management information used within the clinical commissioning group.
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1.5 Revenue
In the application of IFRS 15 a number of practical expedients offered in the Standard have been
employed. These are as follows:
• As per paragraph 121 of the Standard the clinical commissioning group will not disclose
information regarding performance obligations part of a contract that has an original expected
duration of one year or less,
• The clinical commissioning group is to similarly not disclose information where revenue is
recognised in line with the practical expedient offered in paragraph B16 of the Standard where the
right to consideration corresponds directly with value of the performance completed to date.
• The FReM has mandated the exercise of the practical expedient offered in C7(a) of the Standard
that requires the clinical commissioning group to reflect the aggregate effect of all contracts
modified before the date of initial application.
The main source of funding for the Clinical Commissioning Group is from NHS England. This is drawn
down and credited to the general fund. Funding is recognised in the period in which it is received.
Revenue in respect of services provided is recognised when (or as) performance obligations are
satisfied by transferring promised services to the customer, and is measured at the amount of the
transaction price allocated to that performance obligation. Where income is received for a specific
performance obligation that is to be satisfied in the following year, that income is deferred.
Payment terms are standard reflecting cross government principles.
The value of the benefit received when the clinical commissioning group accesses funds from the
Government’s apprenticeship service are recognised as income in accordance with IAS 20,
Accounting for Government Grants. Where these funds are paid directly to an accredited training
provider, non-cash income and a corresponding non-cash training expense are recognised, both
equal to the cost of the training funded.

1.60 Employee Benefits
1.6.1 Short-term Employee Benefits
Salaries, wages and employment-related payments, including payments arising from the
apprenticeship levy, are recognised in the period in which the service is received from
employees, including bonuses earned but not yet taken. The cost of leave earned but not
taken by employees at the end of the period is recognised in the financial statements to the
extent that employees are permitted to carry forward leave into the following period.
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Notes to the financial statements cont
1.6.2 Retirement Benefit Costs
Past and present employees are covered by the provisions of the NHS Pensions Schemes.
These schemes are unfunded, defined benefit schemes that cover NHS employers, General
Practices and other bodies allowed under the direction of the Secretary of State in England
and Wales. The schemes are not designed to be run in a way that would enable NHS bodies
to identify their share of the underlying scheme assets and liabilities. Therefore, the
schemes are accounted for as if they were a defined contribution scheme; the cost
recognised in these accounts represents the contributions payable for the year. Details of
the benefits payable under these provisions can be found on the NHS Pensions website at
www.nhsbsa.nhs.uk/pensions.
For early retirements other than those due to ill health the additional pension liabilities are
not funded by the scheme. The full amount of the liability for the additional costs is charged
to expenditure at the time the clinical commissioning group commits itself to the
retirement, regardless of the method of payment.
The schemes are subject to a full actuarial valuation every four years and an accounting
valuation every year.
1.7 Other Expenses
Other operating expenses are recognised when, and to the extent that, the goods or
services have been received. They are measured at the fair value of the consideration
payable.
1.8 Property, Plant & Equipment
1.8.1 Recognition
Property, plant and equipment is capitalised if:
· It is held for use in delivering services or for administrative purposes;
· It is probable that future economic benefits will flow to, or service potential will be
supplied to the clinical commissioning group; · It is expected to be used for more
than one financial year;
· The cost of the item can be measured reliably; and, · The item has a cost of at least
£5,000; or,
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· Collectively, a number of items have a cost of at least £5,000 and individually have a
cost of more than £250, where the assets are functionally interdependent, they had
broadly simultaneous purchase dates, are anticipated to have simultaneous disposal
dates and are under single managerial control; or,
· Items form part of the initial equipping and setting-up cost of a new building, ward
or unit, irrespective of their individual or collective
- Annual Accounts 2020-21
Where a large asset, for example a building, includes a number of components with
significantly different asset lives, the components are treated as separate assets and
depreciated over their own useful economic lives.
1.8.2 Measurement
All property, plant and equipment is measured initially at cost, representing the cost directly
attributable to acquiring or constructing the asset and bringing it to the location and
condition necessary for it to be capable of operating in the manner intended by
management. Assets that are held for their service potential and are in use are measured
subsequently at their current value in existing use. Assets that were most recently held for
their service potential but are surplus are measured at fair value where there are no
restrictions preventing access to the market at the reporting date
Revaluations are performed with sufficient regularity to ensure that carrying amounts are
not materially different from those that would be determined at the end of the reporting
period. Current values in existing use are determined as follows:
· Land and non-specialised buildings – market value for existing use; and,
· Specialised buildings – depreciated replacement cost.
Properties in the course of construction for service or administration purposes are carried at
cost, less any impairment loss. Cost includes professional fees but not borrowing costs,
which are recognised as expenses immediately, as allowed by IAS 23 for assets held at fair
value. Assets are re-valued and depreciation commences when they are brought into use.
IT equipment, transport equipment, furniture and fittings, and plant and machinery that are
held for operational use are valued at depreciated historic cost where these assets have
short useful economic lives or low values or both, as this is not considered to be materially
different from current value in existing use.
An increase arising on revaluation is taken to the revaluation reserve except when it
reverses an impairment for the same asset previously recognised in expenditure, in which
case it is credited to expenditure to the extent of the decrease previously charged there. A
revaluation decrease that does not result from a loss of economic value or service potential
is recognised as an impairment charged to the revaluation reserve to the extent that there is
a balance on the reserve for the asset and, thereafter, to expenditure. Impairment losses
that arise from a clear consumption of economic benefit are taken to expenditure. Gains
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and losses recognised in the revaluation reserve are reported as other comprehensive
income in the Statement of Comprehensive Net Expenditure.
1.8.3 Subsequent Expenditure
Where subsequent expenditure enhances an asset beyond its original specification, the
directly attributable cost is capitalised. Where subsequent expenditure restores the asset to
its original specification, the expenditure is capitalised and any existing carrying value of the
item replaced is written-out and charged to operating expenses.
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1.9 Depreciation, Amortisation & Impairments
Freehold land, properties under construction, and assets held for sale are not depreciated.
Otherwise, depreciation and amortisation are charged to write off the costs or valuation of
property, plant and equipment and intangible non-current assets, less any residual value,
over their estimated useful lives, in a manner that reflects the consumption of economic
benefits or service potential of the assets. The estimated useful life of an asset is the period
over which the clinical commissioning group expects to obtain economic benefits or service
potential from the asset. This is specific to the clinical commissioning group and may be
shorter than the physical life of the asset itself. Estimated useful lives and residual values
are reviewed each year end, with the effect of any changes recognised on a prospective
basis. Assets held under finance leases are depreciated over the shorter of the lease term
and the estimated useful life.
At each reporting period end, the clinical commissioning group checks whether there is any
indication that any of its property, plant and equipment assets or intangible non-current
assets have suffered an impairment loss. If there is indication of an impairment loss, the
recoverable amount of the asset is estimated to determine whether there has been a loss
and, if so, its amount. Intangible assets not yet available for use are tested for impairment
annually.
A revaluation decrease that does not result from a loss of economic value or service
potential is recognised as an impairment charged to the revaluation reserve to the extent
that there is a balance on the reserve for the asset and, thereafter, to expenditure.
Impairment losses that arise from a clear consumption of economic benefit are taken to
expenditure. Where an impairment loss subsequently reverses, the carrying amount of the
asset is increased to the revised estimate of the recoverable amount but capped at the
amount that would have been determined had there been no initial impairment loss. The
reversal of the impairment loss is credited to expenditure to the extent of the decrease
previously charged there and thereafter to the revaluation reserve.
1.10 Government grant funded assets
Government grant funded assets are capitalised at current value in existing use, if they will
be held for their service potential, or otherwise at fair value on receipt, with a matching
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credit to income. Deferred income is recognised only where conditions attached to the
grant preclude immediate recognition of the gain.
1.11 Leases
Leases are classified as finance leases when substantially all the risks and rewards of
ownership are transferred to the lessee. All other leases are classified as operating leases.
1.12 Cash & Cash Equivalents
Cash is cash in hand and deposits with any financial institution repayable without penalty on
notice of not more than 24 hours. Cash equivalents are investments that mature in 3
months or less from the date of acquisition and that are readily convertible to known
amounts of cash with insignificant risk of change in value.
In the Statement of Cash Flows, cash and cash equivalents are shown net of bank overdrafts
that are repayable on demand and that form an integral part of the clinical commissioning
group’s cash management.
1.13 Provisions
Provisions Provisions are recognised when the clinical commissioning group has a present
legal or constructive obligation as a result of a past event, it is probable that the clinical
commissioning group will be required to settle the obligation, and a reliable estimate can be
made of the amount of the obligation. The amount recognised as a provision is the best
estimate of the expenditure required to settle the obligation at the end of the reporting
period, taking into account the risks and uncertainties. Where a provision is measured using
the cash flows estimated to settle the obligation, its carrying amount is the present value of
those cash flows using HM Treasury’s discount rate as follows:
All general provisions are subject to four separate discount rates according to the expected
timing of cashflows from the Statement of Financial Position date:
• A nominal short-term rate of 0.02% (2019-20: 0.51%) for inflation adjusted expected cash
flows up to and including 5 years from Statement of Financial Position date.
• A nominal medium-term rate of 0.18% (2019-20: 0.55%) for inflation adjusted expected
cash flows over 5 years up to and including 10 years from the Statement of Financial
Position date.
• A nominal long-term rate of 1.99% (2019-20: 1.99%) for inflation adjusted expected cash
flows over 10 years and up to and including 40 years from the Statement of Financial
Position date.
• A nominal very long-term rate of 1.99% (2019-20: 1.99%) for inflation adjusted expected
cash flows exceeding 40 years from the Statement of Financial Position date. When some or
all of the economic benefits required to settle a provision are expected to be recovered
from a third party, the receivable is recognised as an asset if it is virtually certain that
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reimbursements will be received and the amount of the receivable can be measured
reliably.
A restructuring provision is recognised when the clinical commissioning group has
developed a detailed formal plan for the restructuring and has raised a valid expectation in
those affected that it will carry out the restructuring by starting to implement the plan or
announcing its main features to those affected by it. The measurement of a restructuring
provision includes only the direct expenditures arising from the restructuring, which are
those amounts that are both necessarily entailed by the restructuring and not associated
with on-going activities of the entity.
1.14 Clinical Negligence Costs
NHS Resolution operates a risk pooling scheme under which the clinical commissioning
group pays an annual contribution to NHS Resolution, which in return settles all clinical
negligence claims. The contribution is charged to expenditure. Although NHS Resolution is
administratively responsible for all clinical negligence cases, the legal liability remains with
clinical commissioning group.
- Annual Accounts 2020-21
Notes to the financial statements
1.15 Non-clinical Risk Pooling
The clinical commissioning group participates in the Property Expenses Scheme and the
Liabilities to Third Parties Scheme. Both are risk pooling schemes under which the clinical
commissioning group pays an annual contribution to the NHS Resolution and, in return,
receives assistance with the costs of claims arising. The annual membership contributions,
and any excesses payable in respect of particular claims are charged to operating expenses
as and when they become due.
1.16 Contingent liabilities and contingent assets
A contingent liability is a possible obligation that arises from past events and whose
existence will be confirmed only by the occurrence or non-occurrence of one or more
uncertain future events not wholly within the control of the clinical commissioning group, or
a present obligation that is not recognised because it is not probable that a payment will be
required to settle the obligation or the amount of the obligation cannot be measured
sufficiently reliably. A contingent liability is disclosed unless the possibility of a payment is
remote
A contingent asset is a possible asset that arises from past events and whose existence will
be confirmed by the occurrence or non-occurrence of one or more uncertain future events
not wholly within the control of the clinical commissioning group. A contingent asset is
disclosed where an inflow of economic benefits is probable.
Where the time value of money is material, contingent liabilities and contingent assets are
disclosed at their present value.
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1.17 Financial Assets
Financial assets are recognised when the clinical commissioning group becomes party to the
financial instrument contract or, in the case of trade receivables, when the goods or services
have been delivered. Financial assets are derecognised when the contractual rights have
expired or the asset has been transferred. Financial assets are classified into the following
categories:
· Financial assets at amortised cost;
· Financial assets at fair value through other comprehensive income and ;
· Financial assets at fair value through profit and loss.
The classification is determined by the cash flow and business model characteristics of the
financial assets, as set out in IFRS 9, and is determined at the time of initial recognition.
1.18 Impairment
For all financial assets measured at amortised cost or at fair value through other
comprehensive income (except equity instruments designated at fair value through other
comprehensive income), lease receivables and contract assets, the clinical commissioning
group recognises a loss allowance representing the expected credit losses on the financial
asset. The clinical commissioning group adopts the simplified approach to impairment in
accordance with IFRS 9, and measures the loss allowance for trade receivables, lease
receivables and contract assets at an amount equal to lifetime expected credit losses. For
other financial assets, the loss allowance is measured at an amount equal to lifetime
expected credit losses if the credit risk on the financial instrument has increased
significantly since initial recognition (stage 2) and otherwise at an amount equal to 12
month expected credit losses (stage 1).
HM Treasury has ruled that central government bodies may not recognise stage 1 or stage 2
impairments against other government departments, their executive agencies, the Bank of
England, Exchequer Funds and Exchequer Funds assets where repayment is ensured by
primary legislation. The clinical commissioning group therefore does not recognise loss
allowances for stage 1 or stage 2 impairments against these bodies. Additionally
Department of Health and Social Care provides a guarantee of last resort against the debts
of its arm's lengths bodies and NHS bodies and the clinical commissioning group does not
recognise allowances for stage 1 or stage 2 impairments against these bodies.
For financial assets that have become credit impaired since initial recognition (stage 3),
expected credit losses at the reporting date are measured as the difference between the
asset's gross carrying amount and the present value of the estimated future cash flows
discounted at the financial asset's original effective interest rate. Any adjustment is
recognised in profit or loss as an impairment gain or loss.
1.19 Financial Liabilities
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Financial liabilities are recognised on the statement of financial position when the clinical
commissioning group becomes party to the contractual provisions of the financial
instrument or, in the case of trade payables, when the goods or services have been
received. Financial liabilities are de-recognised when the liability has been discharged, that
is, the liability has been paid or has expired.
1.19.1 Other Financial Liabilities
After initial recognition, all other financial liabilities are measured at amortised cost using
the effective interest method, except for loans from Department of Health and Social Care,
which are carried at historic cost. The effective interest rate is the rate that exactly
discounts estimated future cash payments through the life of the asset, to the net carrying
amount of the financial liability. Interest is recognised using the effective interest method.
1.20 Value Added Tax
Most of the activities of the clinical commissioning group are outside the scope of VAT and,
in general, output tax does not apply and input tax on purchases is not recoverable.
Irrecoverable VAT is charged to the relevant expenditure category or included in the
capitalised purchase cost of fixed assets. Where output tax is charged or input VAT is
recoverable, the amounts are stated net of VAT.
1.21 Foreign Currencies
The clinical commissioning group’s functional currency and presentational currency is
pounds sterling and amounts are presented in thousands of pounds unless expressly stated
otherwise. Transactions denominated in a foreign currency are translated into sterling at
the exchange rate ruling on the dates of the transactions. At the end of the reporting
period, monetary items denominated in foreign currencies are retranslated at the spot
exchange rate on 31 March. Resulting exchange gains and losses for either of these are
recognised in the clinical commissioning group’s surplus/deficit in the period in which they
arise
1.22 Losses & Special Payments
Losses and special payments are items that Parliament would not have contemplated when
it agreed funds for the health service or passed legislation. By their nature they are items
that ideally should not arise. They are therefore subject to special control procedures
compared with the generality of payments. They are divided into different categories, which
govern the way that individual cases are handled.
Losses and special payments are charged to the relevant functional headings in expenditure
on an accruals basis, including losses which would have been made good through insurance
cover had the clinical commissioning group not been bearing its own risks (with insurance
premiums then being included as normal revenue expenditure).
1.23 Critical accounting judgements and key sources of estimation uncertainty
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In the application of the clinical commissioning group's accounting policies, management is
required to make various judgements, estimates and assumptions. These are regularly
reviewed.
1.23.1 Critical accounting judgements in applying accounting policies
The following are the judgements, apart from those involving estimations, that
management has made in the process of applying the clinical commissioning group's
accounting policies and that have the most significant effect on the amounts recognised in
the financial statements.
- Since 2015/16 the clinical commissioning group has operated a Better Care Fund (BCF)
together with Essex County Council under a section 75 agreement. This arrangement has
been reviewed and both parties have agreed that it does not constitute a pooled fund.
This conclusion has been reached as both parties retained the financial risks associated with
each of the schemes as existed before the fund was set up.
1.23.2 Sources of estimation uncertainty
The following are assumptions about the future and other major sources of estimation
uncertainty that have a significant risk of resulting in a material adjustment to the carrying
amounts of assets and liabilities within the next financial year.
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Notes to the financial statements
For the provision regarding Retrospective Continuing Healthcare claims (CHC) responsible
commissioner debtors. As these cases span a number of prior years the CCG has been
prudent in assuming there will be no recovery for these amounts.
Retrospective CHC, where a provision has been made based on the number of claims
received. The provision is based on the probability that a liability to the CCG will crystalise
during the next 12 Months for the 24 cases identified. The CCG has based this provision on
an expected value of the maximum liability.
The provision regarding GP Pensions is based on the probability that a liability to the CCG
will crystalise during the next 12 Months, the CCG has based this provision on an expected
value of the maximum liability.
1.24 Joint arrangements
Arrangements over which the clinical commissioning group has joint control with one or
more other entities are classified as joint arrangements. Joint control is the contractually
agreed sharing of control of an arrangement. A joint arrangement is either a joint operation
or a joint venture.
A joint operation exists where the parties that have joint control have rights to the assets
and obligations for the liabilities relating to the arrangement. Where the clinical
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commissioning group is a joint operator it recognises its share of, assets, liabilities, income
and expenses in its own accounts. Further information on Joint Arrangements is available in
note 15.
1.25 Accounting Standards That Have Been Issued But Have Not Yet Been Adopted
The Department of Health and Social Care GAM does not require the following IFRS
Standards and Interpretations to be applied in 2020-21. These Standards are still subject to
HM Treasury FReM adoption, with IFRS 16 being for implementation in 2022/23, and the
government implementation date for IFRS 17 still subject to HM Treasury consideration.
● IFRS 16 Leases – The Standard is effective 1 April 2022 as adapted and interpreted by the
FReM. The CCG has commenced the assessment of the application of IFRS 16 to its financial
statements. This commenced with work to identify leases which are currently operating
leases and should be reclassified as finance leases as well as a broader review of recurring
expenditure streams where right to use assets may be embedded in contracting
arrangements. The work has progressed to March 2020, when the CCG revised it
operational priorities and working patterns to deal with the COVID19 pandemic and
combined with the decision to defer the implementation of IFRS16 in the NHS to 1 April
2022 means that it has not been practical to complete this work or present it for audit. The
work to identify the impact of this standard is expected to recommence in Autumn 2021.”
● IFRS 17 Insurance Contracts – Application required for accounting periods beginning on or
after 1 January 2021, but not yet adopted by the FReM: early adoption is not therefore
permitted.
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4.5 Pension costs
Past and present employees are covered by the provisions of the two NHS Pension Schemes.
Details of the benefits payable and rules of the Schemes can be found on the NHS Pensions
website at www.nhsbsa.nhs.uk/pensions. Both are unfunded defined benefit schemes that
cover NHS employers, GP practices and other bodies, allowed under the direction of the
Secretary of State for Health and Social Care in England and Wales. They are not designed to
be run in a way that would enable NHS bodies to identify their share of the underlying
scheme assets and liabilities. Therefore, each scheme is accounted for as if it were a defined
contribution scheme: the cost to the NHS body of participating in each scheme is taken as
equal to the contributions payable to that scheme for the accounting period.
In order that the defined benefit obligations recognised in the financial statements do not
differ materially from those that would be determined at the reporting date by a formal
actuarial valuation, the FReM requires that “the period between formal valuations shall be
four years, with approximate assessments in intervening years”. An outline of these follows:
4.5.1 Accounting valuation
A valuation of scheme liability is carried out annually by the scheme actuary (currently the
Government Actuary’s Department) as at the end of the reporting period. This utilises an
actuarial assessment for the previous accounting period in conjunction with updated
membership and financial data for the current reporting period, and is accepted as
providing suitably robust figures for financial reporting purposes. The valuation of the
scheme liability as at 31 March 2021, is based on valuation data as 31 March 2020, updated
to 31 March 2021 with summary global member and accounting data. In undertaking this
actuarial assessment, the methodology prescribed in IAS 19, relevant FReM interpretations,
and the discount rate prescribed by HM Treasury have also been used.
The latest assessment of the liabilities of the scheme is contained in the report of the
scheme actuary, which forms part of the annual NHS Pension Scheme Accounts. These
accounts can be viewed on the NHS Pensions website and are published annually. Copies
can also be obtained from The Stationery Office.
4.5.2 Full actuarial (funding) valuation
The purpose of this valuation is to assess the level of liability in respect of the benefits due
under the schemes (taking into account recent demographic experience), and to
recommend contribution rates payable by employees and employers.
The latest actuarial valuation undertaken for the NHS Pension Scheme was completed as at
31 March 2016. The results of this valuation set the employer contribution rate payable
from April 2019 to 20.6% of pensionable pay. The 2016 funding valuation was also expected
to test the cost of the Scheme relative to the employer cost cap that was set following the
2012 valuation. In January 2019, the Government announced a pause to the cost control
element of the 2016 valuations, due to the uncertainty around member benefits caused by
the discrimination ruling relating to the McCloud case.
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The Government subsequently announced in July 2020 that the pause had been lifted, and
so the cost control element of the 2016 valuations could be completed. The Government
has set out that the costs of remedy of the discrimination will be included in this process.
HMT valuation directions will set out the technical detail of how the costs of remedy will be
included in the valuation process. The Government has also confirmed that the Government
Actuary is reviewing the cost control mechanism (as was originally announced in 2018). The
review will assess whether the cost control mechanism is working in line with original
government objectives and reported to Government in April 2021. The findings of this
review will not impact the 2016 valuations, with the aim for any changes to the cost cap
mechanism to be made in time for the completion of the 2020 actuarial valuations.
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13 Financial instruments
13.1 Financial risk management
Financial reporting standard IFRS 7 requires disclosure of the role that financial instruments
have had during the period in creating or changing the risks a body faces in undertaking its
activities.
Because NHS West Essex CCG is financed through parliamentary funding, it is not exposed to
the degree of financial risk faced by business entities. Also, financial instruments play a
much more limited role in creating or changing risk than would be typical of listed
companies, to which the financial reporting standards mainly apply. The CCG has limited
powers to borrow or invest surplus funds and financial assets and liabilities are generated by
day-to-day operational activities rather than being held to change the risks facing the clinical
commissioning group in undertaking its activities.
Treasury management operations are carried out by the finance department, within
parameters defined formally within the CCG standing financial instructions and policies
agreed by the Governing Body. Treasury activity is subject to review by the CCG and internal
auditors.
13.1.1 Currency risk
The CCG is principally a domestic organisation with the great majority of transactions, assets
and liabilities being in the UK and sterling based. The CCG has no overseas operations and
therefore has low exposure to currency rate fluctuations.
13.1.2 Credit risk
Because the majority of the CCG and revenue comes from parliamentary funding, the CCG
has low exposure to credit risk. The maximum exposures as at the end of the financial year
are in receivables from customers, as disclosed in the trade and other receivables note.
13.1.3 Liquidity risk
The CCG is required to operate within revenue and capital resource limits, which are
financed from resources voted annually by Parliament. The CCG draws down cash to cover
expenditure, as the need arises and is not, therefore, exposed to significant liquidity risks
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GLOSSARY
There is a financial terms table below this one
Non-Financial Terms
Term

Definition

A&E

Accident and Emergency Department

Care Pathway

The route that a patient will take from their first point of
contact with an NHS or Social Services member of staff
(usually their GP), through referral, to the completion of
their treatment.

Clinical Commissioning
Group (CCG)

Formally established on 1 April 2013, Clinical Commissioning
Groups (CCGs) are statutory bodies responsible for
commissioning most healthcare – planning, buying and
monitoring services to meet the needs of their local
communities.

Civil Contingencies Act
2004

Provides a single framework for UK civil protection against
any challenges to society – it focuses on local arrangements
and emergency powers.

Commissioning

The review, planning and purchasing of health and social
services.

Community Services

Health or social care and services provided outside of
hospital. They can be provided in a variety of settings
including clinics and in people's homes. Community services
include a wide range of services such as district nursing,
health visiting services and specialist nursing services.

Commissioning Support
Unit (CSU)

Commissioning Support Units will provide capacity to
clinical commissioners as an extension of their local team to
ensure that commissioning decisions are informed and
processes structured. This approach will help achieve
economies of scale and allow Clinical Commissioning Groups
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to focus on direct commissioning of services for their
patients.
Enhanced Services

Enhanced services are:
i)
ii)

essential or additional services delivered to a higher
specified standard, for example, extended minor surgery
services not provided through essential or additional
services

They are services provided by GPs, over and above the core
(essential and additional) services to their patients.
Equality Delivery System
(EDS)

The EDS has been designed nationally as an optional tool
launched in 2011 to support NHS commissioners and
providers to deliver better outcomes for patients and
communities and better working environments for staff,
which are personal, fair and diverse. The EDS is all about
making positive differences to healthy living and working
lives.

Equality Impact
Assessment (EIA)

An equality impact assessment involves assessing the likely
or actual effects of policies or services on people in respect
of disability, gender and racial equality. It helps us to make
sure the needs of people are taken into account when we
develop and implement a new policy or service or when we
make a change to a current policy or service.

Information Management
and Technology (IM&T)

NHS North East London CSU IM&T provides West Essex with
IM&T solutions including IT services, project management,
training, and information management.

Integrated care systems
(ICSs)

Integrated care systems (ICSs) are new partnerships
between the organisations that meet health and care needs
across an area, to coordinate services and to plan in a way
that improves population health and reduces inequalities
between different groups.

NHS 111

NHS 111 is a new service introduced to make it easier for
people to access local NHS healthcare services. People can
call 111 when they need medical help fast but it’s not a 999
emergency. NHS 111 is available 24 hours a day, 365 days a
year. Calls are free from landlines and mobile phones.
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Palliative Care

The total care of patients whose disease is incurable.
Control of pain, of other symptoms, and of psychological,
social and spiritual problems is paramount. The goal of
palliative care is achievement of the best quality of life for
patients and their families.

Primary Care Trust (PCT)

Primary Care Trusts were abolished on 31 March 2013. Prior
to that they were responsible for the planning and securing
of health services and improving the health of the local
population.

Referral To Treatment
(RTT)

Under the NHS Constitution, patients ‘have the right to
access services within maximum waiting times, or for the
NHS to take all reasonable steps to offer a range of
alternative providers if this is not possible’. Data is
monitored against the standards set out in the NHS
Operating Framework.
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Glossary of Financial Terms
Term

Definition

Accounting Policies

The Accounting Policies are the accounting rules that the
CCG has followed in preparing its accounts. These policies
are based on International Financial Reporting Standards
and the Treasury’s Financial Reporting Manual. The
Department of Health’s Manual for Accounts and Capital
Accounting Manual detail how these rules should apply to
CCGs. One of the main policies is that income and
expenditure is recognised on an accruals basis, meaning it is
recorded in the period in which services are provided even
though cash may or may not have been received or paid
out.

Budget

A Budget usually refers to a list of all planned and expected
future expenses and revenues. A budget is set at the
beginning of the financial year.

Capital Expenditure

Capital Expenditure is money spent on buying non-current
assets (fixed assets) or to add to the value of an existing
fixed asset with a useful life that extends beyond a year.

Capital Resource Limit

The Capital Resource Limit (CRL) is the amount allocated
each year to the CCG for capital expenditure. The CCG must
not spend more than the CRL on capital items.

Cash Limit

The Cash Limit (CL) is a limit set by the Government on the
amount of cash which a CCG may spend during a given
financial year. The CCG must ensure that the net amount of
cash flowing out of the CCG over the financial accounting
period is not more than the CL.

Revenue Resource Limit

The Revenue Resource Limit (RRL) is the total amount that
the CCG may spend on the services that it commissions. This
limit is set for the CCG at the start of the financial year by
the Department of Health and may change on a monthly
basis depending on changes to allocations to the CCG from
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the Strategic Health Authority for either commissioning or
provider functions. Each CCG has a statutory duty not to
spend more than its RRL. The RRL takes into account all
accrued income and expenditure irrespective of whether
income has been received or bills paid.
Depreciation

Depreciation refers to the fact that assets with finite lives
lose value over time. Depreciation involves allocating the
cost of the fixed asset (less any residual value) over its
useful life to the Statement of Comprehensive Net
Expenditure (SCNE). This will cause an expense to be
recognised on the SCNE while the net value of the asset will
decrease on the Statement of Financial Position.

Impairments

Impairments are the losses in the values of non-current
assets compared to those values recorded on the Statement
of Financial Position. A CCG is required to undertake routine
revaluation reviews of its fixed assets or undertake an
impairment review when there is a decline in an asset’s
value. The impairment (loss) is treated in the same way as
depreciation, as a cost in the Statement of Comprehensive
Net Expenditure (SCNE), if the change in the value of the
asset is permanent.

Intangible Assets [formerly
Intangible Fixed Assets]

Intangible Assets are invisible or ‘soft’ assets of an
organisation that, nevertheless, have a real current market
value and contribute to the (future) operation/income
generation of the organisation and may include software
licences, trademarks and research development
expenditure.

International Financial
Reporting Standards

International Financial Reporting Standards (IFRS) are the
international accounting standards that the Department of
Health require CCGs to follow when they prepare their
accounts. 2009-10 was the first year in which CCGs were
required to prepare IFRS compliant accounts, having
previously used UK reporting standards.

Losses and Special
Payments

Losses and Special Payments are payments that Parliament
would not have foreseen healthcare funds being spent on,
for example fraudulent payments, personal injury payments
or payments for legal compensation.
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NHS Payables (formerly
known as NHS Creditors)

An NHS Payable is an amount owed to an NHS organisation
for services rendered or goods supplied to the CCG or to
patients of the CCG.

Statement of
Comprehensive Net
Expenditure (formerly
known as Operating Cost
Statement)

The Statement of Comprehensive Net Expenditure (SCNE)
records the costs incurred by the CCG during the year, net
of miscellaneous income (which is income other than the
CCG’s main funding from the Department of Health which is
credited to the general fund on the Statement of Financial
Position and not treated as income on the SCNE). It includes
non-cash expenses such as depreciation.

Under government accounting rules the SCNE shows the net
resources used by the CCG in commissioning and providing
healthcare rather than the surplus or deficit for the year as
shown in the income and expenditure account by NHS
trusts. The comprehensive net expenditure is debited to the
general fund on the Statement of Changes in Taxpayers’
Equity.
Over Spend

Over Spend occurs when more money is spent than was
allowed within the cash limit, revenue resource limit or
capital limit, or that was planned in the budget.

Pooled budget

A Pooled Budget is a joint arrangement with other bodies,
such as local authorities and other CCGs, to pool funds for a
specific purpose. Each body has to account for its own
contribution to the pool within their accounts. Contributions
would generally include the resources normally used for the
identified services, together with partnership and other
grants specific to the services. The host partner will manage
the financial affairs of the pooled fund. The pooled budget
manager is responsible for managing the pooled fund on
behalf of the host authority, and for providing information
to enable the partners to monitor the effectiveness of the
pooled fund arrangements.

Procurement

Procurement is the acquisition of goods and/or services,
generally through a contract, at the best possible total cost,
in the right quantity and quality, at the right time and in the
right place for the direct benefit of the CCG and its patients.
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Property, Plant and
Equipment (formerly
Tangible Fixed Assets)

Property, plant and equipment are assets that individually
(or with integrally linked other items) cost more than £5,000
and are held for longer than one year and include: land,
buildings, transport equipment, IT and furniture and fittings.

Provisions

A Provision is a liability arising from a past event where it is
probable the CCG will have to settle and a reliable estimate
can be made of the amount to be paid.

Statement of Cash Flows

The Statement of Cash Flows (SCF) shows the effect of the
CCG’s operating activities on its cash position.

Statement of Changes in
Taxpayers’ Equity
(formerly Statement of
Recognised Gains and
Losses)

The purpose of the Statement of Changes in Taxpayers’
Equity is to highlight financial transactions that may not be
reflected in the Statement of Comprehensive Net
Expenditure, but which affect the CCG’s reserves as shown
in the “Financed by” section on the Statement of Financial
Position. For example, “(Reduction)/Additions in the
General Fund due to the transfer of assets to/from NHS
bodies and the Department of Health”.

Statement of Financial
Position (formerly Balance
Sheet)

The Statement of Financial Position provides a view of the
CCG’s financial position at a specific moment in time –
usually the end of the financial year. It shows assets
(everything the CCG owns that has monetary value),
liabilities (money owed to external parties) and taxpayers’
equity (public funds invested in the CCG).

Tendering

Tendering is the process by which one can seek prices and
terms for a particular service/project to be carried out
under a contract.

Trade and Other Payables
(NonNHS) (formerly known
as NonNHS Creditors)

Trade and other payables creditors are non-NHS
organisations owed money by the CCG for goods and
services provided to the CCG, e.g. for utilities, equipment,
etc.

Trade and Other
Receivables (formerly
Debtors)

Trade and other receivables represent money owed to the
CCG at the Statement of Financial Position date for services
rendered or goods supplied by the CCG to the receiver.
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Under Spend

Under Spend occurs when less money is spent than was
allowed within the cash limit or that was planned in the
budget.
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